
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
16 September 2022 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 26 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on Monday, 26th September, 2022 at 
6.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE218QR  

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

D.   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

F.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

Public Document Pack



G.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   Review of the Members Allowance Scheme (Pages 9 - 20) 
 

 (Report by the Independent Remuneration Panel)  
 

2   Audit & Governance Committee Minutes (Pages 21 - 26) 
 

 (To receive the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit & Governance 
Committee held on 28 March 2022)  
 

3   Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policies (Pages 27 - 166) 
 

 (Report by the Senior Licensing Officer)  
 

4   Partnership Performance (Pages 167 - 176) 
 

 (Report by Assistant Director – Corporate)  
 

5   Outturn 2021/22 (Pages 177 - 200) 
 

 (Report by Chief Finance Officer (PSPS))  
 

6   To consider resolving that under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Order.  
 

7   Dispensation for Non-Attendance (Pages 201 - 204) 
 

 (Report by the Monitoring Officer) 
 

 

PART III - MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  
5 p.m. on Wednesday 21 September 2022.  
 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227.  
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held at the Council Chamber, Municipal 
Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR, on Monday, 25th July, 2022 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anne Dorrian), in the Chair 
Councillors Brian Rush, Frank Pickett, Tom Ashton, Tracey Abbott, Alison Austin, 
Richard Austin BEM, Peter Bedford, David Brown, Katie Chalmers, Michael Cooper, 
Viven Edge, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, 
Jonathan Noble, Aaron Spencer, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judy Welbourn, 
Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  Deputy Chief Executive – Growth, and Democratic Services Delivery 
Manager 
 
 
21   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 27 June 2022 were taken as read and 
signed by the Mayor as a correct record.  
 
22   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Alan Bell, George Cornah, Anton 
Dani, Martin Howard, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner and Chelcei Trafford and the Chief 
Executive. 
 
23   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive reported that the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership had been successful at the Local Government Chronicle Awards held on 20 
July 2022, being announced as the winner of the Public / Public Partnership category.   

 
Judges commented that despite it being a relatively new partnership, they were 
impressed by the ability to demonstrate tangible improvements to local communities with 
a clearly articulated ambition for the future.   The significant work that had gone into 
getting the partnership to this stage was also acknowledged. 
 
24   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive reported there were no deputations or petitions. 
 
25   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive reported there was one question from Councillor Peter 
Bedford and three questions from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



 
 
Question asked by Councillor Peter Bedford pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Could the finance portfolio holder please answer a question which has been banded 
around on Facebook about Boston Borough Council giving discounted business rates to 
European Shops Trading in Boston.  
 
Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble 
 
Whilst being unable to comment on the Facebook posts as copies haven’t been 
provided, this response provides general information on the rate relief available to retail 
businesses. 
 
The Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Relief scheme, which is administered by local 
authorities on behalf of central government, provides up to 50% relief for eligible 
businesses, up to a cash limit of £110,000 per business.  This is a temporary scheme, 
and as such the government has not changed legislation but funds local authorities to 
use their discretionary powers to administer a local scheme in line with guidance.  In the 
Boston Borough Council area, 278 businesses are currently in receipt of this relief. 
 
Small Business Rate Relief (SBRR) of up to 100% is also available where the 
businesses property and ratepayer meet qualifying criteria.  Eligible businesses can get 
the retail discount alongside SBRR where they get less than 100% SBRR. 
 Rate relief schemes are open to all eligible businesses that meet scheme criteria. 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Bedford pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
The answer doesn’t get to the bottom of the problem.  The article on Facebook raised 
concerns and made Members and the Council look pathetic, to which I took exception 
and promised to raise the question at Council.  Do you agree the matter needs an 
urgent scrutiny meeting to ask questions in depth and receive evidence that nobody is 
getting preferential treatment.  
 
Response by Councillor Noble 
 
The key point is in the last sentence of my response, the scheme is open to all, there is 
no differential between EU and UK businesses.  I will raise your request with the Leader.  
 
 
Questions asked by Councillor Stephen Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
1. With reference to the properties owned by Boston Borough Council, when 

agreeing a tenancy does the Borough include a clause in the agreement that no 

sub-letting may occur without the prior agreement of the Borough Council? 

 

Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble: 

 

Page 2



Full Council 
25 July 2022 

 

 
 

I thank Councillor Woodliffe for notification of his question. 

 

When agreeing any lease, licence or other form of property letting, ‘sub-letting’ is a 

normal clause that is included; limits on sub-letting are case specific; where the concept 

of sub-letting is acceptable in the negotiation phase, it would be normal to caveat the 

resulting clause with ‘subject to written consent from the landlord’; in other cases, for 

example where a Tenancy at Will were an appropriate form of agreement, sub-letting 

may be explicitly prohibited.  

 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Thank you for your response.  Does the tenancy agreement clause invoke a rent review 

if sub-letting occurs? 

 

Response by Councillor Noble  

 

I will provide a written response to the supplementary question.  

 

 

2. With reference to the properties owned by Boston Borough Council and rented 

out, are you satisfied that each of the rents for those tenancies represents a fair 

return for the Council Taxpayer? 

 

Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble: 

 

I thank Councillor Woodliffe for notification of his question. 

 

I am satisfied that the rents associated with the Council’s portfolio are set appropriately 

and that the Council is a good landlord that will always negotiate firmly but fairly with the 

interests of the taxpayer and wider community always being integral to such negotiation 

and agreement.   

 

For assurance, where an agreement allows for a rent review, they are carried out in 

accordance with the review terms set out within the contractual agreement in place; for 

example, through the application of RPI at certain points.   

 

Where an agreement allows a review of the ‘market rent’, the Council would appoint a 

suitably qualified Chartered Surveyor to assess that market rent, as would happen in 

respect of any lease renewal.  Specialist legal advice is always sought for the 

preparation of leases with any other technical input required to inform any specific 

clauses taken as necessary. 

 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Page 3



Thank you for your response.  Some Councillors are of the opinion that some rents are 

not providing a reasonable return for the Council.  What steps have been taken to 

ensure the Council and tax payers are not being ripped off? 

 

Response by Councillor Noble  

 

A review process is available and each tenancy is looked at on a case by case basis.  

 

3. It is clear that organic farm products sell at premium prices, so would you agree 

with me that it would be a failure of management if a farm rent were to be lowered 

to a tenant intending to grow organic products? 

Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble: 

 
I thank Councillor Woodliffe for notification of his question. 
 
Firstly I can confirm that the Council does own a farm, Corporation Farm at Midville.  
The Principal Lease for the farm was entered into on 2 February 1945 with a protected 
tenancy under the Agricultural Holdings Act of 1986 remaining in place today.  The rent 
payable under the tenancy is currently subject to a Demand for Rent Arbitration that is 
due for determination by 6 April 2023; that Notice of Demand having been served on 20 
January 2022. 
 
The process of rent review for the farm is prescribed in law and set out at Schedule 2 of 
the Act; the Council has appointed a specialist agricultural surveyor to lead the rent 
negotiation on its behalf in accordance with the law and to propose, and hopefully agree, 
in consultation with the Council, a new rent.  If a new rent cannot be agreed by both 
parties then there will be a need for arbitration or referral to a third party to determine the 
rent payable.   
 
Demands for Rent Arbitration under the Act can be served by a landlord or by a tenant; 
a landlord would normally serve Notice if they felt that there was scope to secure a rent 
increase, and a tenant if they thought they could secure a rent decrease; the Council is 
confident that there is scope to increase the rent from 6 April 2023, however, until due 
process has been followed and agreement reached or arbitration or referral to a third 
party concluded, it is not possible to suggest what that increase may be. 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Thank you for your response.  Has such an occurrence occurred and if so when did it 

occur and which portfolio holder was responsible? 

 

Response by Councillor Noble 

 
Not to the best of my knowledge, I will provide a written response.  
 
26   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 

Page 4



Full Council 
25 July 2022 

 

 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive reported there was a question from Mr. Darron Abbott.  
However, as Mr. Abbott was not present at the meeting the question would not be 
asked.  A copy of the question and response had been circulated to Members for 
information.  
 
27   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
None. 
 
28   UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND 

 
Councillor Nigel Welton introduced a report by the Deputy Chief Executive – Growth 
setting out the UK Shared Prosperity Fund draft submission, the background on the 
consultation process, and seeking views of Full Council prior to decision by Cabinet on 
27 July 2022.  
 
The report stated that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) had opened to provide 
funding for economic development across the whole of the UK.  The focus of the fund 
was in part the replacement for the previous European Social Fund, with an emphasis 
on skills based training and development, but was wider and more flexible than its EU 
forerunners.  
 
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) had been allocated £9.3 
million over the next three years.  The fund was a key part in the government’s ‘Levelling 
Up’ agenda, providing money for councils to invest in: 
 

• Local communities and places 

• Support for local businesses 

• People and skills 
 
Full details of the theme objectives were set out in the UKSPF Prospectus document 
and replicated in the report.  
 
The breakdown of funding between the SELCP was:- 
 

• Boston Borough Council – £2.2 million 

• East Lindsey District Council - £4.4 million 

• South Holland District Council - £2.7 million 
 
It was noted that the funding element for the people and skills theme would not 
commence until 2023.  The funding may be spent on activities or buildings and 
equipment, but was predominantly for revenue projects and there was a suggested split 
between revenue and capital each year.   
 
The Investment Plan, appended to the report, was a strategy document that detailed 
how the allocation of the funding would deliver outcomes for people under the three 
themes set out above.  
 
In considering which projects would be selected to be funded through UKSPF, the 
Prospectus had been clear that there must have been significant public consultation to 

Page 5



ensure the investment plan met the needs of the community and stakeholders to fully 
maximise the benefits of the fund. 
 
Consultation was held in June and July 2022 and numerous stakeholders were identified 
and encouraged to submit ideas and share further.  There had also been many 
engagement events held with the public and Councillors.   
The Corporate and Community Committee had considered the UKSPF at its meeting on 
14 July and were supportive of the plan.  The report to Council was for consultation 
purposes and comments from the meeting would be reported to Cabinet on 27 July 
2022. 
 
It was noted there had been a very positive response to the consultation which had been 
used to form the basis of the investment strategy. 
 
The Draft Investment Plan, attached as an appendix to the report, set out:- 
 

• Local Challenges for each theme 

• Local Opportunities for each theme 

• What outcomes were to be delivered for each theme 

• Approach to delivery and governance 

• Examples of some ideas from the consultation responses (for indicative purposes 
only) 

• Examples of collaboration 

• Capacity and capability 
 
It was proposed that 6-8 lead bodies would be identified through a competitive process 
to manage the projects.  This would commence once the Investment Plan had been 
submitted to enable allocation of funding, thereby allowing the lead delivery partners to 
be in place once the Investment Plan was confirmed.  
 
The lead bodies would be responsible for a theme within the delivery arrangements for 
the UKSPF and report to the local authority and a governance board.  
 
The strategy for managing the UKSPF was to link the approach across the three 
authority areas in the SELCP.  Each Shared Prosperity Fund area had to have an 
independent governance group, and for Boston this was proposed to be the Town Fund 
Board.   The role of the governance group was to overview and advise on the evolution 
and subsequent implementation of the UKSPF strategy. 
 
The Investment Plan would be submitted to Government by 1 August 2022.  The 
competitive exercise would commence thereafter, with a final proposition being 
presented to Full Council once notification of the Investment Plan being approved had 
been received.  
 
There was a consensus expressed by Members that although the UKSPF Investment 
Plan was welcomed, the amount being offered was insufficient for the needs of the 
Borough area.  More pressure should be put on central Government to increase 
investment for east coast communities which had been ignored by successive 
Governments for many years.  
 

Page 6



Full Council 
25 July 2022 

 

 
 

In summing up Councillor Welton addressed the points raised during debate and agreed 
that the funding available did not meet the current requirements. However, it was an 
opportunity to show Government what could be achieved and build on that success 
when future funding opportunities became available.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Nigel Welton, seconded by Councillor Martin Griggs 
and unanimously 
 

 
RESOLVED 
 
1. That the draft UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan be noted. 

2. That the draft UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan be 

recommended to Cabinet for approval to enable the document to be 

submitted to the Department of Levelling Up, Communities and Housing by 

1st August 2022. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.40 pm) 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 26 SEPTEMBER 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

REVIEW OF MEMBERS ALLOWANCE SCHEME 

 

To consider the recommendations of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel following a review of the Members Allowance 

Scheme.  

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

LORRAINE BUSH, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES DELIVERY MANAGER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: NONE 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, the 
Council must establish and maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) to make 
recommendations to the authority about the allowances paid to Councillors. 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel has met to review the level of allowances currently paid 

under the Member’s Allowance Scheme, and Council is invited to consider the recommendations. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the following recommendations of the Panel be accepted:- 

1. That the basic allowance be retained at its current level of £4,692. 

2. That the special responsibility allowances be retained at current levels as set out in 

Appendix A. 

3. That the wording for the Special Responsibility Allowance for Licensing Hearing Panels be 

amended to Hearing Panels to include attendance at Standards Hearings. 

4. That a Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the position of Chairman of the 

Boston Town Area Committee in the sum of £1280, backdated to 1 April 2022. 

5. That the Dependant Carers’ Allowance be retained at current levels. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



6. That the travel and subsistence rates be retained at current levels.  

7. That the basic allowance and special responsibility allowances be linked to staff pay 

awards for a four year period from 1 April 2022. 

8. That the published Members Allowance Scheme be updated to include Mayoral travel 

costs as an approved duty for the Mayor and Deputy Mayor within Schedule 2 of the 

Scheme.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure allowances are sufficient to not financially disadvantage an average working person 

from standing for Council and taking on positions which attract additional responsibility. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not to accept the recommendations and make alternative proposals. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 
Councils have a duty to consider the findings of an Independent Remuneration Panel before 
determining any councillors’ allowances scheme. 

 
1.2 The Regulations place a statutory obligation on the Council to establish and maintain an 

Independent Remuneration Panel to consider councillors’ allowances and report its views to 
the Council.  Council has a statutory duty to have regard to the Panel’s recommendations 
before making or amending any councillors’ allowances scheme. 

 
1.2 The Panel makes recommendations about the level of the basic allowance, special 

responsibility allowances, dependant carers’ allowances, travel and subsistence allowances 
and co-optees allowances. 

 
1.3 The recognised principles for the Independent Remuneration Panel when considering a 

scheme of remuneration are that it should be: - 
 

• justifiable and defendable, based on logical construction; 

• transparent and simple to understand and administer; 

• should not discourage or encourage candidates for financial considerations; 
 
1.4 Any scheme should minimise financial barriers as much as possible, without setting a level 

that would attract people to stand for Council solely for the allowances.  Published guidance 
suggests that the basic allowance should be set at a level which would allow an average 
person to take a day off work per week for Council duties, without being out of pocket. 

 
1.5 The Independent Remuneration Panel has a responsibility to make recommendations to the 

Council on the Members’ Allowances Scheme, having regard to the published guidance and 
legislation. 

 

Page 10



1.6 However, the Panel has no legislative provision to make any recommendations based on an 

attendance allowance scheme, whereby members only receive an allowance for the 

meetings they attend other than ad hoc meetings such as licensing hearings, or any form of 

performance related payment, or for allowances to be linked to the Member Code of 

Conduct as a form of sanction.  

2. REPORT 

2.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel met on 8 July 2022 to commence a review on the 

Members Allowances for 2022-23.  It was noted that in 2018 the Panel undertook a 

comprehensive review with the aim of establishing a remuneration framework that would 

hold good for at least four years.   

2.2 Having considered the current benchmarking information with other Lincolnshire 

authorities and those in the CIPFA ‘family group’ for Boston Borough Council, the Panel felt 

that it had largely achieved its aims and that a light touch review was all that was required 

for the financial year 2022/23.  

2.3 The Panel invited Members to submit comments on the current scheme of allowances 

which were also taken into account during the Panel’s deliberations.  

2.4 The Panel has prepared its report, a copy of which is attached at Appendix A of the report.   

In summary the Panel’s recommendations are:-  

o That the basic allowance be retained at its current level of £4,692. 
 

o That the special responsibility allowances be retained at current levels as set out 
in Appendix A. 

 
o That the wording for the Special Responsibility Allowance for Licensing Hearing 

Panels be amended to Hearing Panels to include attendance at Standards 
Hearings. 

 
o That a Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the position of 

Chairman of the Boston Town Area Committee in the sum of £1280, backdated 
to 1 April 2022. 

 
o That the Dependant Carers’ Allowance be retained at current levels 

 
o That the travel and subsistence rates be retained at current levels.  

 
o That the basic allowance and special responsibility allowances be linked to staff 

pay awards for a four year period from 1 April 2022.  
 

o That the published Members Allowance Scheme be updated to include Mayoral 
travel costs as an approved duty for the Mayor and Deputy Mayor within 
Schedule 2 of the Scheme. 
 

2.5 Council must have regard to the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration 

Panel, but there is no specific requirement to approve the Panel’s recommendations.  If the 

Council wishes to make an alternative scheme of allowances, reasoning should be provided.  

 

Page 11



3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1 The key focus of the Independent Remuneration Panel when considering revisions to the 

scheme was to achieve allowances that would not deter an average working person from 

standing for Council, or result in Councillors being financially disadvantaged, if they had to 

take unpaid leave from their job to carry out Council duties.  

3.2 When considering the issues involved the panel took into account government guidance 

that some elements of the work of members should be voluntary – that some hours are not 

remunerated.  However, this must be balanced against the need to ensure that financial 

loss is not suffered by elected members and to further ensure that, despite the input 

required, people from all age groups and all sections of the community are encouraged to 

come forward as elected members and that their service to the community is retained.  

3.3 The Panel believes the proposed allowances achieve this balance and urges the Council to 

adopt its recommendations. 

3.4 Members are reminded that they do have the option of personally rescinding any increase 

in allowance, or any allowance in full, if they wish.  

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

None. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None. 

STAFFING 

None. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The review has been undertaken in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities 

(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 and taking account of equality principles.  

DATA PROTECTION 

None. 

FINANCIAL 

The introduction of a Special Responsibility Allowance for the Chairman of the Boston Town Area 

Committee would increase the Members Allowance budget by £1280. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

None. 

Page 12



STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

All Members of the Council were invited to submit comments on the current levels of allowances 

to the Independent Remuneration Panel. 

REPUTATION 

None. 

CONTRACTS 

None. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

Equality principles were taken into account as part of the review process. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

None. 

ACRONYMS 

IRP – Independent Remuneration Panel. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Benchmarking of allowance schemes for Lincolnshire 

authorities and those in the CIPFA family group.  

Democratic Services.  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

Page 13



REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Lorraine Bush  Lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Independent Remuneration Panel 

Approved for publication: N/A 

 

CHECKLIST - DELETE BEFORE SUBMISSION TO DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

S151 Officer consulted on financial implications: Yes  

Monitoring Officer consulted on legal and constitutional implications: Yes  

Portfolio Holder consulted: NA 

Ward Member consulted: NA 

 

 

Page 14

mailto:Lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk


1 

 

REPORT OF THE BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL  

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL  

FOR MEMBER ALLOWANCES FOR  

THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2022-23 

 
1. Introduction  
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel has a responsibility to make recommendations to 
the Council on the level of allowances to be paid to members of the Council.  This report 
has been prepared in accordance with current legislation and guidance. 
 
The recognised principles for the Independent Remuneration Panel when considering a 
scheme of remuneration are that it should be: - 
 

• justifiable and defendable, based on logical construction; 

• transparent and simple to understand and administer; 

• should neither discourage nor encourage candidates for financial considerations; 
 
A key consideration for the Panel was that the scheme should minimise financial barriers as 
much as possible, without setting a level that would attract people to stand for Council solely 
for the allowances, taking into account published guidance which suggests that the basic 
allowance should be set at a level such that: an average person who takes a day off work 
per week for Council duties, would not then be out of pocket. 
 
2. Review process 
 

The Independent Remuneration Panel met on 8 July 2022 to commence a review on the 
Members Allowances for 2022-23.   
 
It was noted that in 2018 the Panel undertook a comprehensive review with the aim of 
establishing a remuneration framework that would hold good for at least four years.   
 
Having considered the current benchmarking information with other Lincolnshire authorities 
and those in the CIPFA ‘family group’ for Boston Borough Council, the Panel felt that it had 
largely achieved its aims and that a light touch review was all that was required for the 
financial year 2022/23.  
 
 
3. Basic Allowance 
 
The Panel considered the level of basic allowance taking into account that this was not a 
wage or salary and the position of councillor carried with it an expectation of a voluntary 
element.  
 
The Panel noted that the current level of £4,692 per annum was at mid-point across the 
authorities in Lincolnshire, and third lowest within the CIPFA family group.  However, having 
taken into account the average basic allowance across the Lincolnshire authorities and the 
CIPFA family group, excluding the extremes, it was considered that the variance was within 
an acceptable tolerance and the basic allowance remained fit for purpose, fair and equitable.  

Page 15



2 

 

 
There were no comments received from Members specifically referencing the levels of basic 
allowance.  
 
However, the Panel was very conscious of comments relating to non-attendance by some 
members of the Council who were receiving their allowances and not contributing any time 
or representation, other than the minimum required to retain their position as a councillor.  
The Panel accepted there was no provision to base or withhold allowances in such 
circumstances.  
 
The Panel recommends that the level of basic allowance remains at £4,692 
 
4. Special Responsibility Allowances  
 
The main focus for the Independent Remuneration Panel, when considering the levels of 
special responsibility allowance, was to try and achieve a fair and equitable scheme, 
recognising the responsibilities and time commitment required for each position and being 
sufficient to compensate an average working person who may be required to take unpaid 
leave to carry out such duties. 
 
The guidance for SRAs states that the positions which receive special responsibility 
allowances should have significant responsibility attached to them. 
 
The Regulations provide that special responsibility allowances may be paid for special 
responsibilities within one or more of the following categories:- 
 

• Membership of the executive; 

• Acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group; 

• Presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the authority; 

• Representing the authority at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body; 

• Membership of a committee or sub-committee of the authority which meets with 
exceptional frequency or for exceptionally long periods; 

• Acting as a spokesperson of a political group on a committee or sub-committee 
of the authority; 

• Such other activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as 
require of the member an amount of time and effort equal to or greater than 
would be required of him by any one of the activities mentioned above whether 
or not that activity is specified in the scheme.  

 
Having studied the information provided and deliberated on the issues the Panel agreed 
that the posts which currently attracted SRA payments was comprehensive and the 
majority of the positions had sufficient responsibility and time commitment attached to 
them to warrant payment of a SRA.  
 
However, the Panel was conscious of the role and responsibility of the Chairman of the 
Boston Town Area Committee which did not currently receive a SRA.  Having considered 
the workload, the frequency of meetings and responsibility attached to the role the Panel 
agreed to recommend that a SRA of £1280 be introduced for the position, in line with that 
paid for a Chairman of a scrutiny committee.   
 
The Panel recognised that the Boston Town Area Committee could be compared with that 
of a Parish Council where the Chairman did not receive an allowance, but noted that 

Page 16



3 

 

BTAC was a standing committee of the Council exercising executive functions delegated 
by Cabinet, and as such should be treated in the same way as other committees.  
 
A comment had been raised regarding the wording of the Special Responsibility Allowance 
for attendance at Licensing Hearings.  The Council had recently adopted a new model Code 
of Conduct, which could result in Standards Hearings having to be convened that had the 
same level of responsibility as for Licensing Hearings.  Therefore, it was agreed to 
recommend that the wording of the SRA be amended to Hearings Panels to cover this 
eventuality.  
 
The Panel considered the responses provided from Members in respect of SRAs, the 
majority of which related to allowances being introduced for the position of Vice-Chairmen 
of Committees.  
 
Having reviewed the comparison information for SRAs across the Lincolnshire authorities 
and the CIPFA family group it was noted that only 3 authorities in the family group paid SRAs 
to Vice-Chairmen other than for the Planning Committee and Licensing Committee, and 
similarly only 4 of the 7 Lincolnshire authorities had these allowances in place.  
 
The position of vice-chairmen of committees, with the exception of the Planning Committee, 
was felt not to have significant responsibility attached to it.  Other than attending briefings 
the vice-chairman had no more responsibility than other members of the committee, unless 
being called upon to chair a meeting in the absence of the Chairman. 
 
Taking into account the information provided and comments from Members, the Panel 
agreed to keep SRAs for vice-chairmen under review and consider as part of the next 
comprehensive review of the allowances scheme. 
 
The Panel recommends that:-  
 

1. The Special Responsibility Allowances remain at current levels.  
 

2. The wording for the Special Responsibility Allowance for Licensing 
Hearings be amended to Hearing Panels to include attendance at Standards 
Hearings.  
 

3. A Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the Chairman of the 
Boston Town Area Committee of £1280, back dated to April 2022. 

 
5. Dependant Carers’ Allowance  

The Dependant Carers’ Allowance payable by the Council is currently reimbursement of 
actual expenditure subject to set conditions which compares well to other Lincolnshire 
authorities and the CIPFA Family Group. 
 
The Panel considered the current levels of allowance and agreed that they remained fit for 
purpose. During the review process the Panel received no representations suggesting that 
there was a need for the allowance to be amended.   
 
Accordingly, the Panel is not recommending any change at this time.  
 
  

Page 17



4 

 

6. Travel and Subsistence  

The mileage allowances were set at the current HMRC tax free levels, which the Panel 
recognised was being impacted by the current level of fuel prices.  However, it was agreed 
to recommend retaining the existing allowances and review if and when HMRC changed 
the tax free limits.  
 
The subsistence allowances were set at the same level as those for officers and it was felt 
there was no necessity to revise at the current time.  
 
Again, the Panel received no representation suggesting that there was a need for the 
current travel and subsistence levels to be reviewed.  
 
Accordingly, the Panel is not recommending any change at this time. 
 
7. Annual Adjustment of Allowance Levels   
 
In accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, a scheme of allowances may 
make provision for an annual adjustment of allowances to be ascertained by reference to 
an index which may be specified by the authority and contained in the scheme. 
 
The Panel considered various options for linkage to an annual adjustment, 
including the Retail Price Index and Consumer Price Index, and their preference was 
to continue to link with staff pay awards for a four year period from April 2023.  
 
8. Amendments to the Members Allowance Scheme 
 
It was noted that the current published Members Allowance Scheme did not make 
reference to the travel costs of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor being an approved duty 
under Schedule 2 of the scheme.  
 
Since 2019, the Mayor and Deputy Mayor had been expected to drive themselves to 
Mayoral engagements and claim travel costs via the Members Allowance Scheme.  
Therefore this should be reflected in the list of approved duties.  
 
The Panel recommends that the published Members Allowance Scheme be updated 
to include Mayoral travel costs as an approved duty within Schedule 2 of the 
Scheme. 
 
9.  Disparity of Allowances across the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership  
 
The Panel noted comment in the responses from Members regarding the disparity of 
allowances paid to Members across the authorities in the South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership.  
 
The allowances paid by those authorities had been included in the benchmarking 
information considered by the Panel, and disregarding the lowest and highest across the 
range the Panel was satisfied that the scheme for Boston Borough Council achieved parity 
within acceptable tolerances across Lincolnshire and the CIPFA family group.  
 

Page 18



5 

 

In accordance with the Regulations those Councils had their own Independent 
Remuneration Panels established which made recommendations to the Sovereign 
Councils.  As such this was not a matter within the remit or responsibilities of the Boston 
IRP.   
 
10. Conclusion 
 
The key focus of the Independent Remuneration Panel, when considering revisions to the 
scheme, was to achieve allowances that would not deter an average working person from 
standing for Council, or result in Councillors being financially disadvantaged, if they had to 
take unpaid leave from their job to carry out Council duties.  
 
The Panel was aware of the restrictions of the current economic climate and the Council’s 
understandable reluctance to accept significant increases in allowances.  
 
When considering the issues involved the Panel took into account government guidance 
that some elements of the work of members should be voluntary – that some hours are not 
remunerated.  However, this must be balanced against the need to ensure that significant 
financial loss is not suffered by elected members and to further ensure that, despite the 
input required, people from all age groups and all sections of the community are 
encouraged to come forward as elected members and that their service to the community 
is retained.  
 
The Panel believes the proposed allowances achieve this balance and urges the Council 
to adopt its recommendations in respect of the allowances scheme. 

Page 19



6 

 

Appendix A 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME 2022/23 

 
PROPOSED BASIC ALLOWANCE AND SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 

 

Allowance  Current Proposed 

Basic Allowance (Retain current level) £4692 £4692 

Leader of the Council (3x basic allowance) £14076 £14076 

Deputy Leader of the Council (50% of Leader) £7038 £7038 

Cabinet Members (1 ¼ times basic) £5865 £5865 

Scrutiny Chairmen- 

Environment & Performance 
Corporate & Community 

 

£1280 

 

£1280 

Chairman of Audit & Governance Committee £1280 £1280 

Chairman of Planning Committee (1 x basic) £4692 £4692 

Vice-Chairman of Planning Committee (50% of Chairman’s) £2346 £2346 

Member of the Planning Committee  

(excluding Chairman and Vice-Chairman) 

£640 £640 

Chairman of the Boston Town Area Committee Nil £1280 

Chairman of Licensing/Regulatory and Appeals Committee £1280 £1280 

Hearing Panels £53 per 

hearing / day 

£53 per  

hearing / day 

Mayor  £5865 £5865 

Deputy Mayor   £880 £880 

Opposition Group Leader’s Allowance  £107 per 
member 

excluding 
Leader of the 

Group 

£107 per member 
excluding Leader 

of the Group 

 
Eligible Members are permitted to claim a maximum of 2 SRAs, with the exception of the Leader 
and Deputy Leader who may not claim a Cabinet Members Allowance in addition to the Leader and 
Deputy Leader allowance. 
 
All allowances to be reviewed after 12 months.  
 
Allowances to be effective from 1 April 2022 and linked to staff pay awards for 4 year period. 

Page 20



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

26TH SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 
To receive the confirmed minutes  

of the meeting of the  
Audit and Governance Committee held on  

28th March 2022. 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

28 March 2022 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman), Councillor George Cornah (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, 
Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Assistant Director - Finance (Deputy S151 Officer), Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
(Corporate), Monitoring Officer and Matthew Waller 
 
27   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed by the Committee and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
28   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies of absence were received by Councillors; Katie Chalmers, Martin Howard and 
Frank Pickett. 
 
29   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
30   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
31   EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

 
Mark Surridge, Director – Public and Social Sector, Mazars, presented a report, which 
provided an update on progress in Mazars’ delivery of their responsibilities as the 
Council’s External Auditor.  
 
During the presentation, Mr Surridge informed the Committee that this had been a 
difficult audit and setbacks had occurred throughout the process, including; 

• As a result of the review of the accounting for Business rates within the Financial 
Statements, it was agreed that no adjustments would be made and Mazars were 
happy with the reasoning as to why there would be no adjustment.  

•  The Council had undertaken the incorrect accounting treatment to some aspects 
of Covid Grants, in assuming that the Council was to decide whether the 
applicant was eligible for the grants.  

• An error dating back several years regarding a capital accounting adjustment had 
been identified which took Officers a significant amount of time to amend, 
including the impact on prior years balances.  

 
In response to Members concerns the Assistant Director, Finance assured the 
Committee that an action Plan and Timetable had been drafted for future years to 
prevent this from happening again. 

Page 23



Audit & Governance Committee 
28 March 2022 
 

 
32   ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2021/22 

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) – PSPS Ltd presented the Accounting 
Policies 2021/22 to the Committee.  
 
The report explained that the Accounting Policies form Note 1 within the Financial 
Statements, and are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
applied by an authority in preparing and presenting Financial Statements.  
 
Application of these accounting policies provided information that was relevant to the 
decision making needs of the users of the Financial Statements, and reliance in 
presenting a true and fair view of the financial position of the authority. Some 
presentational changes had been made to ensure compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice, and a new accounting policy had been added in relation to joint operation. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Accounting Policies for 2021/22 set out at Appendix A be 
agreed. 
 
33   STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21 

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) – PSPS Ltd presented the audited 
Financial Statements 2020/21 to the Committee. The Financial Statements were 
required to be approved by the Committee and the Section 151 Officer prior to 
publishing on the Council’s website, as per the Accounts and Audit Regulations.  
 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer requested that the recommendations be changed to 
exclude the “non material” adjustments, as it had been confirmed that the adjustments 
required were material. The Committee agreed the changes.  
 
RESOLVED: It is recommended that Audit and Governance Committee:  

• Approve the Financial Statements 2020/21 and Annual Governance 
Statement for publication (Appendix A) be approved if no adjustments are 
required as a result of the ongoing audit by Mazars, and that the Chairman 
of the Committee and the Section 151 officer sign the letter of 
Representation (Appendix B).  

Approves that if adjustments to the Financial Statements 2020/21 are required as 
a result of the audit by Mazars then delegated authority be granted to the Section 
151 officer in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to sign the revised 
statements. 
 
34   TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 2021/22 

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer presented the Quarter 3 Treasury Management 
Update 2021/22 which was attached at Appendix A and included;  

• An economic update for the first three quarters of the 2021/22 financial year 

• The outlook for the remainder of the financial year together with interest rate 
forecasts  

• A review on the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy  

Page 24



Audit & Governance Committee 
28 March 2022 

 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22  

• Debt rescheduling  

• Compliance with Treasury and Prudential indicators 
 
It was noted that the report referred to a key element of the Council’s Governance 
Framework and therefore represented an important contribution to the evidence trail in 
support of the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22. 
 
Members were reassured by both, the portfolio holder – finance and the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer that the Council’s finances were secure following questions relating to 
the impact of inflation and the security of the financial institutions. 
 
35   INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2022/23 

 
The Committee considered a report, which set out the Proposed Internal Audit Plan for 
2022/23. The plan detailed the activities to be audited and the indicative scope for each 
audit. The draft plan gave Members the opportunity to comment on the plan and the 
priorities that had been established.  
 
Members were concerned that the ICT Systems Security Joint Boston Borough Council 
and East Lyndsey District Council was classed as a Red for the Internal Audit Risk and 
Amber for the Assurance Map RAG Rating.  
 
Members asked if more staff were required to support the service. The Internal Audit 
Team Manager assured the Committee that the reviews indicted there was sufficient 
capacity.   
 
36   MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 

 
The Monitoring Officer presented to the Committee the Local Government Association 
(LGA) Model Code of Conduct and associated guidance. The report stated that in 
accordance with section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011, every local authority was 
required to adopt a Code of Conduct, which would deal with ‘the conduct that was 
expected of members and co-opted members of the authority when acting in that 
capacity’. 
 
The current code of Conduct was adopted by the Council in July 2012. It was amended 
and re-affirmed in June 2013; and again in January 2019 following policies linked to the 
Code of Conduct, which made any breaches of those policies a breach of the Code of 
Conduct.  
 
A member of the Committee felt it was important that there was an addition to the Code 
which included readily available officer support for members who are being targeted 
through social media. The Monitoring officer recognised the importance of this issue to 
Members and assured the Committee that the Code of Conduct made reference to this 
as far as it was able to.  
 

Page 25



Audit & Governance Committee 
28 March 2022 
 

Following Member comments the Monitoring Officer assured members that; whilst the 
Code of Conduct would not apply to members of the public in attendance at meetings it 
did make reference to mutual respect.  
 
Members expressed their thanks to the LGA for developing the Model Code to provide 
the option of uniformity across all local authorities.  
 
RESOLVED:  
To recommend to Full Council that;  

1. That the Model Code of Conduct at Appendix A be adopted, without 
amendments, as this Council’s Code of Conduct (including those parts 
shown in square brackets and being relevant to the Cabinet model operated 
by this Council)  

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Monitoring Officer to make 
amendments to the Protocol on Member and Employee Relations as far as 
is necessary to ensure consistency with the Model Code of Conduct. 

That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to update the Council’s Constitution 
accordingly. 
 
37   MONITORING OFFICER UPDATE 

 
The Monitoring officer explained that his update was the Model Code of Conduct and 
that he had nothing further to add. 
 
38   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Members noted the work programme. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.06 pm 
 

Page 26



 

 

  

 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 

DATE: 26 SEPTEMBER 2022    

SUBJECT: 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  

REVIEW OF THE POLICY DOCUMENTS FOR PRIVATE HIRE AND 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES, PROPRIETORS, OPERATORS AND 
DRIVERS 
 
TO REQUEST THE ADOPTION OF THE AMENDED POLICIES AND 
GUIDANCE 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

SENIOR LICENSING OFFICER  

ANNA MCDOWELL 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

Under the terms of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 the Department for Transport has 

introduced minimum licensing standards for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers, 

operators and proprietors.  The standards were published in July 2020.  The Council has a legal 

duty to have regard to the minimum standards when undertaking its hackney carriage and 

private hire licensing functions.   

Following a Licensing Committee held on the 02 August 2022, Members determined that the 

amendments proposed in the draft Policy and Guidance documents be referred to Council to 

request their adoption. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that Council adopt and publish the policy and guidance documents. 

 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 3



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards set out a range of 

robust measures to protect taxi and private hire vehicle passengers, particularly those most 

vulnerable.  Government advice is that Licensing Authorities must work to ensure that, above all 

else, the taxi and private hire vehicle services provided to the public are safe.  The Government 

fully expects Licensing Authorities to implement the measures within the standards as soon as 

possible.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 
1.   REPORT 
 
1.1 On 21 July 2020, the Department for Transport published the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards and the standards became effective immediately. Licensing Authorities 
have a legal duty to have regard to the standards and must give clear reasons for any 
departure from them.  
 

1.2 In response to the publication of the Standards, the Licensing Section proposed amendments 
to their current policies and guidance in respect of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
licences.  
 

1.3 The proposed amendments were presented to two working groups of the Licensing 
Committee held on 10 December 2021 and 25 January 2022. Following these sub groups, 
each policy document was updated and the draft policies were referred to the Licensing 
Committee for consideration. 
 

1.4 On 15 March 2022 the Licensing Committee determined that the draft policies should be 
opened for consultation.  

 
1.5 The policy consultation period ran for 4 weeks, commencing on 01 April 2022 and ending on 

29 April 2022.  Following the closure of the consultation period the Senior Licensing Officer 
received confirmation from the Authority’s Consultation Officer that the exercise had not 
elicited any responses from the public or the trade. 

 
1.6 On 02 August 2022 a meeting of the Licensing Committee was held and it was reported that 

there were no comments of either a positive or a negative nature received regarding the 
draft policies. The Licensing Committee determined that the policies should be finalised and 
referred to Full Council for adoption. A copy of the finalised policies can be found at 
APPENDIX 1. 

 
1.7 The Licensing Committee also determined that the policies would be called in for review no 

later than five years from the date of adoption.  
 

2.  CONCLUSION 
 
2.1  The Statutory Standards set out a range of robust measures to protect taxi and private hire 

vehicle passengers, particularly those most vulnerable. Government advice is that Licensing 
Page 28



Authorities must work to ensure that, above all else, the taxi and private hire vehicle services 
the public use are safe.  

 
2.2  The Licensing Authority have a duty to ensure their policies promote the measures set out in 

the Department for Transport Statutory Standards and that their primary objective is ensure 
the safety of passengers using taxi and private hire services. 

 
2.3 Taking into consideration that no objections or comments were received relating to the 

proposed amendments, it is now requested that Council determine to adopt and publish the 
policies and guidance. 

 
EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

By working together as a partnership the three sovereign councils benefit from the learning and 

experience of each other and also the trade benefits from a consistency and uniformity of approach 

from the Licensing service across the sub-region. 

IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

Whilst the policies that Members are seeking to approve are Boston polices, Members can be 

assured that collaboration with other Council’s in the Partnership has taken place to ensure, as far as 

possible, that there is consistency in the policy proposals, whilst respecting the unique character of 

each locality, and best practice has been employed in the development of the policy proposals.  

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

This work contributes to two Priority areas in the Boston Borough Council Corporate Strategy 2020 

to 2024; Priority One. People Focussed: Make Boston as healthy and safe place to work. Priority 

Four. Delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support residents: Make 

better use of technology and data to reduce costs and improve performance and efficiency. 

STAFFING 

There are no direct implications in terms of staffing, however; the alignment and development of 

policy so that it is fit for purpose will help the Council to become more efficient in terms of 

processing Licences. 

DATA PROTECTION 

Consultation has taken place with the Data Protection Officer and there are no direct implications. 

FINANCIAL 

This policy review is being undertaken as part of the normal duties carried out by the Licensing Team 
with no additional costs involved. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

There is a theoretical risk of civil action against the Licensing Authority if it is found not to have 

exercised due diligence in licensing matters.  There is also the risk of judicial review if the Council’s 

licensing policy and procedures are found not to comply with the requirements of licensing 

legislation and the associated regulations and guidance. 

 
Page 29



STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Portfolio Holder – Councillor Paul Skinner  

Data Protection Officer – Richard Steele 

REPUTATION 

There is a risk that the Council’s reputation could be damaged if Licensing Policies are not up to date 

and consistent with national guidance and standards. This paper seeks to bring the Council’s policies 

into line with the latest national requirements. 

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Crime & Disorder Implications: The Department for Transport minimum licensing standards contain 

specific and detailed implications with respect to crime and disorder. The Council has a duty to 

provide the public with a safe and secure taxi and private hire vehicle service within the borough. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY / HUMAN RIGHTS / SAFEGUARDING 

Equality Implications: This report seeks to bring the Council’s policies and procedures up to date and 

into line with the latest equality and diversity standards. 

Human Rights: The licensing authority must ensure that its decisions and policies can withstand 

scrutiny by reference to the principle of proportionality, i.e. is the decision / action / policy 

proportionate to what it wishes to achieve, or, colloquially do the ends justify the means. 

Safeguarding Implications: The DfT minimum licensing standards contain specific and detailed 

safeguarding implications – which relate to both children and vulnerable adults. The Council has a 

duty to provide the public with a safe and secure taxi and private hire vehicle service within the 

Borough that is consistent with prevailing national guidance and standards. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The licensing and compliance role of the Council is important in improving the health, safety, security 

and welfare of the borough’s residents, visitors, and business community. Effective implementation 

of a fair, proportionate and consistent licensing regime should help to promote the local economy. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no specific policy adjustments that will impact either positively or negatively with our 

climate change and environmental implications. The work plan for this committee 2022/23 will 

propose policy changes that seek to improve the air quality in the local area by reducing harmful 

vehicle emissions. 

ACRONYMS 

None 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

Appendix 1 Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors Policy and 
Guidance 
Private Hire Drivers, Proprietors and Operators Policy and 
guidance 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Policy 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Licensing Committee  12 October 2021 

Licensing Working Group  10 December 2021 

Licensing Working Group  25 January 2022 

Licensing Committee 15 March 2022 

Licensing Committee  02 August 2022 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Department of Transport – Statutory 

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 

Standards – July 2020 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory

-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards  

Policing and Crime Act 2017 (Section 

177) 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/section/1

77  

 

Report author: Anna McDowell (Senior Licensing Officer ) 

Telephone:  01205 314235 

Email:  anna.mcdowell@boston.gov.uk 

Signed off by: James Gilbert (Assistant Director – Organisation & 

Corporate Services) 

Telephone:   01507 613315 

Email:  James.Gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

Approved for publication:  

 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/section/177
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/section/177


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVERS 

AND PROPRIETORS POLICY & 

GUIDANCE 

 

 
 

March 2022 v.5.0 
 

 

 

 

Page 33

McDowellA
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1

McDowellA_1
Typewritten Text



 

2 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

  

Page 34



 

 

3 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 CONTENTS 

 

1. Boston Hackney Carriage Association 
 

2. General Matters 
2.1 Introduction 

2.2 Correspondence 

2.3 Loss of licence 

2.4 Driver’s badge 

2.5 Lost or stolen driver’s badge 

2.6 Vehicles 

2.7 Lost or stolen or damaged vehicle plate 

2.8 Whistleblowing 

2.9 Multi-agency safeguarding hub 

2.10 Policy review 

 

3. Applications 
3.1 Fees and charges 

3.2 Forms of application etc. 

3.3 Licence renewal reminders 

3.4 Identity of applicants 

3.5 Production of UK driving licence (EU driving licences) 

3.6 Driver knowledge test and basic English test 

3.7 Medical examinations – hackney carriage drivers 

3.8 Convictions 

3.9 Code of Conduct 

3.10 Non-disclosure or misrepresentation 

3.11 Referrals to the Disclosure & Barring Service and the Police 

3.12 National Register of Refusals and Revocations (NR3) 

3.13 HMRC Tax Conditionality 

3.14 Appeals  

   

4. Instructions for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors 
4.1 Plying and standing for hire 

4.2 Drivers of licensed vehicles must be licensed 

4.3 Vehicle licensing – criminality checks for vehicle proprietors 

4.4 Driver’s badge 

4.5 Driver’s licence 

4.6 Production of licences 

4.7 Obstruction of officers 

4.8 Obstruction of other drivers 

4.9 Suspension and revocation of driver licences 

4.10 Suspension and revocation of driver licences – immigration offences 

4.11 Suspension and revocation of driver licences – new evidence 

4.12 Retention of driver licences 

4.13 Licensee self-reporting 

4.14 Procedure on taxi ranks 

4.15 Refusing to drive 

Page 35



 

 

4 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

4.16 Passengers 

4.17 Number of passengers 

4.18 Prolongation of journey 

4.19 Accident and damage to vehicles 

4.20 Identification plates on vehicles 

4.21 Taxi roof sign 

4.22 Seatbelts – hackney carriage drivers 

4.23 Standard of dress 

4.24 Hackney carriage byelaws 

4.25 Vehicle licences 

4.26 Type of vehicle 

4.27 Advertisements on vehicles 

4.28 Vehicle insurance 

4.29 Testing of vehicles 

4.30 Suspension and revocation of vehicle licences 

4.31 Vehicle fitness spot checks 

4.32 Transfer of ownership of vehicles 

4.33 Taximeter 

4.34 Rights of Appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

4.35 The carriage of guide, hearing and other assistance dogs in HC vehicles 

4.36 Medical exemptions from the duty to carry guide, hearing and other assistance dogs   

 

5. Fares 
5.1 Journeys which begin and end within the Boston Borough Council area 

5.2 Journeys which begin or end outside the Boston Borough Council area 

5.3 Hackney carriages used for private hire 

5.4 Charging separate fares 

 

6. Hackney Carriage Byelaws 
 

7. Regulatory and Appeals Committee  
 

8. Hackney Carriage Stands in the Borough of Boston 
 

9. Meeting the Needs of Disabled Passengers – Advice for Taxi Drivers 
 
APPENDIX A 
 

Dimensions and Ability of Vehicles to be licensed as Hackney Carriages  

 

APPENDIX B 
 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 

 

APPENDIX C 
 

Guidance for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors permitting authorised trailers 

 

Page 36



 

 

5 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

Hackney Carriage vehicle test arrangements 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

Hackney Carriage vehicle test arrangements in addition to the MOT test for Class IV vehicles 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

Disclosure & Barring Service (applicants for HC/PH vehicle driver licences) 

 
APPENDIX G 
 
Application Policy & Guidelines relating to the Relevance of Convictions for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire 

Drivers and Private Hire Operators 

 
APPENDIX H 
 
Driver Knowledge Test 

 
APPENDIX I 
 
Code of Conduct for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers 

  

APPENDIX J 
 

Hackney Carriage Driver Licence Conditions 

 

APPENDIX K 
 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence Conditions 

Page 37



 

 

6 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

 

Page 38



 

 

7 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

1. BOSTON HACKNEY CARRIAGE ASSOCIATION 

 

 The Council discusses matters relating to taxi ranks, licences and conditions from time to time 

 with the Association that represents most operators/drivers. While stressing that the issue of 

 licences is not conditional upon membership of the Association, the Council believes that an 

 active Hackney Carriage Association is of benefit to its members, the Council and to the general 

 public as a whole.  If you are not a member and are interested in joining please contact the 

 Licensing Section for details of the current Boston Hackney Carriage Association officers. 

 

2. GENERAL MATTERS 

 
2.1 Introduction 

This policy and guidance is intended to advise and assist applicants and licence holders on the law 

relating to the operation of hackney carriages and to the administrative procedures involved in the 

application for a licence.  The guide is not exhaustive and reference should also be made to the 

following legislation: - 

 

 Legislation       Abbreviation 

 Town Police Clauses Act, 1847     TPCA 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976  LG (MP) A 

 Transport Act, 1985      TA 

 

Where relevant, in the guide, the source of the law is given in the above abbreviated form. Copies of 

the conditions attached to licences are printed on the licences and in this  guide. 
 

2.2 Correspondence 

 All correspondence should be addressed to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings,  

 West Street, Boston PE21 8QR or by email: licensing@boston.gov.uk. 
 

2.3 Loss of Licence 

This should be reported immediately to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, 

Boston PE21 8QR.  Upon receipt of a fee, a duplicate licence will be issued. 
 

2.4 Driver’s Badge 

Photographs for a driver’s badge must be a true likeness, in colour, showing the full face, with no hat, 

helmet or sunglasses and be taken against a light background. 
 

2.5 Lost or Stolen Driver's Badge 

This should be reported immediately to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, 

Boston PE21 8QR.  Upon receipt of a fee and one passport-sized photograph, a duplicate badge will 

be issued. 
 

2.6 Vehicles 

You are strongly advised to contact the licensing section prior to purchasing the vehicle.  This will 

enable the licensing section to confirm whether or not the vehicle is suitable, thus avoiding purchase 

of an unsuitable vehicle which will not meet the criteria resulting in refusal of a licence. Dimensions of 

vehicles to be licensed as Hackney Carriages can be found at Appendix A. 
 

 

 

Page 39

mailto:licensing@boston.gov.uk


 

 

8 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

2.7 Lost, stolen or damaged vehicle plate 

This should be reported immediately to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, 

Boston PE21 8QR.  Upon receipt of the hire of plate charge and the replacement plate fee, a new 

plate will be issued. 
 
2.8 Whistleblowing 

This Council has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy and has internal procedures in place for licensing 

staff to raise concerns if they feel that licensing policies and requirements are not being correctly 

applied and implemented.  The Whistleblowing Policy applies to all employees and officers of the 

organisation.  Other individuals performing functions in relation to the organisation, such as 

secondees, external contractors and agency employees, whilst they are at the council, are also 

encouraged to use the policy. 

 

This Authority recognises that if a worker is aware of, and has access to, effective internal procedures 

for raising concerns then whistleblowing is unlikely to be needed. 

 

Copies of the Council’s whistleblowing procedure is available on request by emailing: 

licensing@boston.gov.uk 

 

2.9 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

This Council has a range of statutory duties to carry out in relation to safeguarding and promoting the 

wellbeing of individuals and communities. The Safeguarding Policy and Procedures has been written 

to support the Council in protecting those who need safeguarding by providing a reference point and 

guidance for staff, elected members, volunteers, key contractors, consultants and directly 

commissioned providers acting on behalf of the Council. It seeks to provide practical guidance to 

ensure that the Council plays its full part in safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of individuals 

and communities at all times. 

 

Copies of the Council’s Safeguarding policy and procedures are available on request by emailing: 

licensing@boston.gov.uk 

 
2.10 Policy Review 

This Policy will be reviewed every five years from the date of adoption.  However, following 

consultation, the Council may make revisions to it as deemed necessary. 

  

3. APPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 Fees and Charges 

All fees and charges are payable in advance.  Full details of all current fees and charges are available 

from the Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR or via the council’s website at 

www.mybostonuk.com.  Cheques and postal orders should be made payable to BOSTON BOROUGH 

COUNCIL and crossed.  Any licence issued on payment by a cheque, which is not honoured by the 

Bank, will be invalid. You are advised to obtain an official receipt for all monies paid.  
 

Where an applicant is refused a licence, the fee previously paid for the licence is refunded, unless the 

applicant appeals against refusal.  If any appeal succeeds the fee will be taken; if the appeal fails the 

fee will be refunded LESS any costs which have been awarded by the Court. Any fee paid in 

connection with a Medical Certificate or Criminal Record Disclosure is NOT refundable. 

Page 40

mailto:licensing@boston.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@boston.gov.uk
http://www.mybostonuk.com/


 

 

9 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

3.2 Forms of application, etc. 

 All forms, etc, are available from the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston. 
 

3.3 Licence renewal reminders 

Licence holders will normally be sent a reminder and the necessary forms of renewal approximately 

two months in advance of the expiry of a licence. 
 

Please note that the responsibility for renewal rests with the licence holder.  
Reminders are sent purely as a courtesy. 

 

When submitting an application for renewal of a Hackney Carriage Driver Licence, applicants should 

note that a new driver licence will not be issued until all the necessary checks have been completed. 

The Council, therefore, recommends that all applicants submit renewals in respect of driver licences 

at least 21 working days before the expiry of their current licence. 
 

3.4 Identity of applicants 

The Council will make every effort to confirm the identity of all applicants.  Verification of identity, date 

of birth, address and any change of name will be obtained. A right to work check will be undertaken at 

the time a licence is applied for or on renewal application for existing drivers who have not previously 

had a right to work check. A further right to work check will be undertaken during the currency of a 

licence where the licensee has a time limited right to work in the UK.  A copy of the identification used 

to verify the right to work check will be taken and retained for the period that you are a licensed driver 

and for 2 years afterwards.   
 

3.5 Production of UK/EU driving licences 

Applicants for a Hackney Carriage Driver Licence should note that a FULL UK or EU driving licence 

with a minimum of over one year before expiry, (if an EU Licence, the licence together with the paper 

part issued by DVLA), or legal equivalent should be produced. However, it is recognised that in some 

circumstances this may not be possible.  As the Council require written proof of the holding of a 

licence, applicants in these circumstances applicants should write or telephone DVLA at Swansea 

and request a letter confirming their licence details for production to the Council.  If an EU Driving 

Licence is produced applicants will have to make arrangements with the issuing authority that 

confirmation of their licence details is sent by the issuing authority directly to the Licensing Section, 

Boston Borough Council, Municipal Buildings, West Street, BOSTON, PE21 8QR, UK.  NB Any fee 
charged by the issuing authority is the responsibility of the applicant. 

 
3.6 Driver Knowledge Test and Basic English Test 

A Knowledge Test (requiring a fee) and Basic English and Mathematics Test must be undertaken by 

all applicants for a Hackney Carriage Driver Licence, other than applicants for renewal of a driver 

licence in force at the date of application. 
 

Both tests form part of the process of ensuring that the applicant is "a fit and proper person".  The 

knowledge test will be as outlined in Appendix H and will consist of: 
 

1. A number of written questions, which will test the applicant’s knowledge of the law as it 

relates to Hackney Carriages. 

 

 2. A number of written multiple-choice questions to test the applicant’s knowledge of the  

 area covered by Boston Borough Council. 

Page 41



 

 

10 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

Applicants should contact the Licensing Office to arrange an appointment for the tests.  If the 

Knowledge Test is failed at the first attempt then a further test can be taken at a later date.  The 

Knowledge Test has a fee involved. The Basic English and Mathematics Test must be passed before 

any driver licence will be issued. 
 

 
3.7 Medical Examinations - Hackney Carriage Drivers 

All applicants making their first application must lodge a certified medical certificate.    A medical 

certificate will then be required every six years thereafter, unless an applicant’s condition warrants 

examination on a more regular basis.   

 

 An applicant aged 65 years or over must undergo the medical examination every year. 

 

 As recommended by the Medical Commission on Accident Prevention the authority requires licence 

holders to attain DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard. 

 

 Any fee charged by the Doctor is payable by the applicant.   

 

A Medical Practitioner who has full knowledge of the applicant’s medical history must carry out the 

examination.   

 

Where the Medical Practitioner cannot carry out the eye test this part of the medical form must be 

completed and the form signed by an optician prior to the medical being carried out. 

 

 Medical certificate forms and further information can be obtained from the Licensing Section.   

 

Any applicant who does not meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard can expect to have 

their application refused. 

 

Licensed drivers who no longer meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard either 

temporarily or permanently must notify the Licensing Authority forthwith.  In such cases the driver can 

expect to have their licence either suspended or revoked.  Guidance on the DVLA Group 2 Vocational 

Licence Standards is available from the Licensing Authority. 

 
The Council will not normally accept certified medical certificates submitted with an 
application, which is received more than 6 weeks after the Doctor has signed the report. 

 
3.8 Conviction(s) 

When submitting an application for a licence to drive a licensed vehicle, applicants are required to 

declare any conviction(s) or caution(s) they may have, including any they previously regarded as 

"spent" under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act, 1974.  The information applicants give will be 

treated in confidence and will only be taken into account in relation to their application.  Applicants 

should be aware that the Borough Council will require applicants to apply for a Criminal Records 

Disclosure from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS).  The Disclosure will reveal the existence 

and content of any criminal record or relevant information held in the name of an applicant.  Checks 

will also be made with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA). Information received from the 

DBS will be kept in strict confidence while the licensing process takes its course and will be retained 

on manual and computer record(s) for no longer than is necessary.  Any information received may be 

Page 42



 

 

11 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

used in Court proceedings. 

 

DBS checks for licensed drivers will be completed every six months by the Licensing Authority.   This 

Authority recommends all licensed drivers to subscribe to the DBS Update Service and maintain the 

annual subscription.  Licensed drivers will need to retain their DBS Certificate once they have 

subscribed as the Certificate will be linked to the Update Service.     

 

  Drivers not signed up to the Update Service will be required to provide an Enhanced Disclosure at 

their own expense every six months. 

 

  Exceptionally, the Council may request an additional Disclosure if: 

 

  i in any case if serious allegations are made against a driver; or 

ii in any case where previously unrevealed information comes to light and the Licensing Officer 

is satisfied that the information cannot be verified in any other way. 

 

The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will not debar an applicant from gaining a 

licence unless the authority considers that the conviction(s) render them unsuitable. In making this 

decision the authority will consider the nature of the offence, how long ago and the age of the 

applicant when it was committed and any other factors which may be relevant. 

 

The Council has adopted guidelines relating to the relevance of conviction(s) and each case will be 

decided on its own merits.  The Council’s guidelines are set down in Appendix G.  

 

 Disclosures that are more than 1 calendar month old at the time of application will not be accepted. 

 

Applicants may contact the Licensing Section, in confidence, to discuss what effect a conviction(s) 

might have on their application. 

 
3.9 Code of Conduct 

 Applicants will be asked to sign a declaration to confirm that they understand the Driver Code of Conduct  

 which forms part of the Licensing Authority’s Policy. See Appendix I. 

 
3.10 Non Disclosure or Misrepresentation 

Every applicant must be honest when producing information in connection with a licence application. 

Any applicant who provides false information or fails to provide information may find their application 

refused, or if a licence is granted that licence may be revoked or suspended.  The applicant may also 

be prosecuted. 

 
3.11 Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service & the Police 

Any decision to refuse or revoke a licence where the individual is thought to present a risk of harm to 

a child or vulnerable adult will be referred by this Authority to the Disclosure and Barring Service 

(DBS) and the Data Protection Team of the Lincolnshire Police. 

 
3.12 National Register of Refusals and Revocations – NR3 

Licensing Authorities are required to satisfy themselves that those holding hackney carriage and 

Private Hire Vehicle driver licences are “fit and proper” to do so.  This is done firstly during the 

determination of an application for a licence and then at any time during the currency of a licence.  If 

drivers do not disclose information about a previous revocation or refusal of a licence, there is often 

Page 43



 

 

12 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

no way for the Licensing Authority to find this information out.  This means that vital intelligence about 

an applicant’s past behaviour is being missed and an individual might be able to get a licence in 

another area, despite having had their licence revoked or their application refused elsewhere.   

 

In response to this a national register of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle driver licence 

refusals and revocations which is called the “National Register of Refusals and Revocations” or NR3 

has been created and Boston Borough Council has signed up to use this register.  The register allows 

a Licensing Authority to record details where a hackney carriage or PHV driver’s licence has been 

refused, revoked or suspended and allows the Licensing Authority to check new applicants against 

the register. 

 
3.13 HMRC Tax Conditionality 

With effect from the 4 April 2022 licensing authorities within England and Wales will be required to 

ensure that hackney carriage/private hire drivers and private hire operators are registered for tax.  A 

licence renewal will not be able to proceed until the check has been validated by licensing officers.  If 

an application is for a new driver application then advice on how to register with HMRC to pay tax will 

be passed onto the applicant and the applicant will be required to confirm that they have read the 

advice.   
 
3.14 Appeals 

 Any applicant refused a driver and/or hackney carriage vehicle licence has a right of appeal to a 

 Magistrates' Court. 

 

4. INSTRUCTIONS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVERS AND PROPRIETORS 

 
4.1 Plying and standing for hire 

Licensed hackney carriages may ply for hire on any street within the Boston Borough Council area 

(Section 38, TPCA).  Hackney Carriage stands (taxi ranks) are appointed for the purpose of standing 

for hire.  When plying for hire in any street and not actually hired, the driver of a Hackney Carriage 

must proceed to the nearest available taxi rank.   

 

The Boston Borough Council area consists of: - Algarkirk, Amber Hill, Benington, Bicker, Boston, 

Brothertoft, Butterwick, Fishtoft, Fosdyke, Frampton, Freiston, Holland Fen, Kirton, Leverton, Old 

Leake, Sutterton, Swineshead, Wigtoft, Wrangle and Wyberton.  To ply for hire outside these 

boundaries is an offence (Section 45, TPCA). 
 

4.2 Drivers of licensed vehicles must be licensed 

Once a vehicle is licensed as a hackney carriage, every driver of that vehicle, whether it is used for 

business or pleasure, must possess a valid hackney carriage driver licence (Section 46, TPCA). 

 

 This provision does not apply to a person driving a licensed Hackney Carriage for the purpose of: - 

 

(a) Any test of the mechanical condition or fitness of the Hackney Carriage. 

 

(b) Any test of that persons' competence to drive a Hackney Carriage carried out for the 

purposes of any application made by them for a licence to drive a Hackney Carriage. It is an 

offence to employ an unlicensed driver (Section 47, TPCA). 
 

 

Page 44



 

 

13 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
4.3 Vehicle Licensing – Criminality Checks for Vehicle Proprietors 

 

Vehicle applications must also be accompanied by a Basic Disclosure Certificate, issued by the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) for each licence applicant.  

 

A certificate must be supplied in respect of the sole individual applicant, or each individual applicant 

where the application is made by multiple individuals, or each director of a limited company.  

Certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been issued no 

earlier than 1 month before the date on which the application was made. 

 

The requirement to provide a Basic Disclosure Certificate will not apply to any applicant (or director) 

who holds a current private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence issued by Boston Borough 

Council. 

 

These individuals have already been assessed for their fitness and propriety during their application 

for a driver licence, and as such no further checks of any criminal record history for that particular 

applicant will be considered necessary.  

 

Applicants who are applying simultaneously for a driver’s licence (and have made an application, not 

simply requested a driver licence application pack) will also be exempted from the Basic Disclosure 

requirement, as they will be obtaining a higher level of disclosure certificate as part of that application. 

The vehicle licence application will not be determined until any such disclosure certificates (including 

enhanced certificates as part of a simultaneous driver’s licence application) have been received. 

 

Annual DBS Check (Vehicle Proprietors) 
 

Following the issue of a vehicle licence the licence holder will be required to submit to this Authority 

an up to date result of a Basic DBS Check on an annual basis.  

 

This means that a check must be obtained and supplied in respect of a sole individual, or each 

individual where the licence is held by multiple individuals, or each director of a limited company 

licence holder. 

 

DBS certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been issued 

no earlier than 1 month before the date on which the certificate is submitted to this Authority. 

 

This requirement will not relate to any individual holding a current private hire or hackney carriage 

driver’s licence issued by Boston Borough Council and that person has: 

 

 signed up to the DBS Update Service; 

 completed this Authority’s ‘DBS Update Service Authorisation Form’; and 

 provided a six monthly DBS certificate as required under the hackney carriage driver’s   

licence regime. 
 

4.4 Driver's Badges 

All drivers must display the badge provided, when driving, or plying for hire in a taxi, in a position so 

as to be plainly visible.  The driver's badge remains the property of the Council and must be returned 

to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, Boston either at the termination of the licence or when 

Page 45



 

 

14 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

moving from the Borough and ceasing to be a Hackney Carriage Driver. 
 

4.5 Driver's Licence 

This authority will not grant a Hackney Carriage Driver's Licence unless it is satisfied that the 

applicant: 

 

 (a) Is a "fit and proper person". 

 (b) Is medically fit to drive a taxi (Sections 57 and 59 LG (MP)A). 
 

The law requires any applicant for a Hackney Carriage Driver's Licence to have held a full UK driving 

licence (or a legal equivalent) for at least 12 months (Section 51, LG(MP)A).  The Council will not 

normally regard the applicant to be sufficiently experienced unless they have held a full licence for at 

least two years. 
 

The licence issued must be deposited with the proprietor of the vehicle being driven (Section 48, 

TPCA). 
 

 Any change in the driver's address or employer must be notified to the Licensing Section. 
 

4.6 Production of Licences 

Licence holders must produce the licences to an authorised Officer or Police Constable if requested 

to do so (Sections 50 and 53, LG(MP)A). 
 

4.7 Obstruction of Officers 

 It is an offence to:- 

 

 (a) Wilfully obstruct an authorised Officer or Police Constable. 

 (b) Fail to comply with any reasonable requirement of an authorised Officer or Police Constable. 

 (c) Fail to give an authorised Officer or Police Constable any assistance or information he  

  may reasonably require (Section 73, LG(MP)A). 
 
4.8 Obstruction of Other Drivers 

It is an offence to wilfully obstruct the driver of another taxi in setting down or picking up passengers 

or prevent another driver from being hired (Section 64, TPCA). 
 

4.9 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences 

 The Council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence on the following grounds:- 

 

 (a) The conviction of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence. 

 (b) The conviction of an offence under LG(MP)A. 

 (c) Any other reasonable cause (Section 61, LG(MP)A). 
 
4.10 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences – Immigration Offences 

Where a licence holder has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an immigration 

offence, the licence will be revoked by this Authority. 

 

Similarly, any licence applicant who has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an 

immigration offence, is unlikely to be granted a licence by this Authority. 

 
4.11 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences – New Evidence 

Page 46



 

 

15 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

With regard to the suspension or revocation of driver licences - this Authority recognises that new 

evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the Court reaching a different 

decision to that reached by the Council. The Authority also recognises that an appeal may be settled 

by agreement between the Licensing Authority and the driver on terms which, in the light of new 

evidence, becomes the appropriate course of action. 

 

For example, if the allegations against a driver are subsequently, on the balance of probability, 

considered to be unfounded, a suspension can be lifted or, if the licence has been revoked, an 

expedited re-licensing process can be used. 

 

In each case, approval to use a driver expedited re-licensing process will be considered by Council 

Licensing Officers in conjunction with the Council’s Legal Department and the Regulatory & Appeals 

Sub-Committee. This expedited re-licensing system is to be used only in exceptional and compelling 

circumstances.  
 
4.12 Retention of Driver Licences 

A vehicle proprietor must retain in his possession the driver licences issued by the Council of all 

drivers driving his vehicle(s) (Section 48 TPCA). 

 
4.13 Licensee Self-reporting 

Licence holders are required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of an arrest and release, 

charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any 

motoring offence.  An arrest for any of the offences within this scope will result in a review by the 

issuing authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so.  This must not, however, 

be seen as a direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the licensing authority to consider 

what, if any, action in terms of the licence should be taken based on the balance of probabilities.  A 

failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently advised of 

might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder 

regardless of the outcome of the initial allegation. 
 

4.14 Procedure on taxi ranks 

The procedure for the taxi ranks is for drivers to take their proper turn, moving forward as the vehicle 

in front moves away. 

 

The first vehicle on the rank only is to display the "for hire" sign and roof light.  The roof light to be 

switched off when hired - no plying for hire except when on, or proceeding to, the taxi rank.  Proceed 

in turn to the front of the rank - do not stop for prospective fare hailing from the back of the rank. 
 

4.15 Refusing to drive 

It is an offence for a driver, whilst the taxi is standing on an appointed stand, to refuse, without 

reasonable excuse, to drive to any point within the Boston Borough Council area (Section 53, TPCA). 
 

4.16 Passengers 

The driver must not convey any other person other than with the consent of the hirer (Section 59, 

TPCA). 
 

4.17 Number of passengers 

A Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence and Plate are issued for a maximum number of passengers 

(regardless of age or size) and it is an offence to carry more than the number licensed for. 

 NB: One child regardless of age will count as one passenger. 

Page 47



 

 

16 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
4.18 Prolongation of journeys 

A driver must proceed by the shortest route subject to the instructions of the hirer (Section 69, 

LG(MP)A). 
 

4.19  Accident and damage to vehicles 

  Accidents causing damage to a licensed vehicle, which materially affect the safety, performance  or 

appearance of that vehicle, must be reported to the Council within 72 hours (Section 50,  LG(MP)A). 
 

4.20  Identification plates on vehicles 

  A licensed vehicle must display the plate issued by the Council at all times (Section 51 TPCA).  

  The plate must be attached to the satisfaction of the Council to the rear of the vehicle, below  

  window level in a vertical plane (as near as possible), with none of the plate concealed   

  whatsoever. The size of the plate must not be altered. 

 

  The display of Plate numbers must not be concealed (Section 52, TPCA). 
 

  On revocation, suspension or expiry of the vehicle licence, the plate must be returned to the Council 

within 7 days (Section 58 LG (MP) A). 
 

4.21  Taxi roof sign 

  All hackney carriage vehicles licensed with Boston Borough Council must display a roof sign, which is 

capable of being illuminated.  Such a sign must not illuminate when the taximeter is in the hired mode. 

The roof sign must prominently display the word “TAXI” or “HACKNEY CARRIAGE” to the front of the 

vehicle.  The aforementioned lettering must be at least 4 cm (approx 1½ “) in size and be of a neat 

and consistent standard.  The minimum size of lettering will not relate to those vehicles which meet 

the Metropolitan Conditions of Fitness (London style black cab). 
 

4.22  Seatbelts - hackney carriage drivers  

  When you do not have to wear a seatbelt - whilst all drivers are encouraged to wear seatbelts, a 

driver of a taxi can claim exemption from wearing a seatbelt whilst plying for hire, answering a call for 

hire or carrying passengers for hire.  However, this does not include driving to and from his home, 

office or base or at any time when he is not plying for hire.  Passengers must wear a seatbelt if 

available. 
 

4.23 Standard of dress 

 Drivers should be dressed in a clean, tidy and decent manner at all times whilst plying for hire or 

 conveying passengers; the wearing of shorts is not permitted. 
 

4.24 Hackney Carriage Byelaws 

Drivers and Proprietors must at all times comply with the Byelaws made by the Council under Section 

68 of the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847, and Section 171 of the Public Health Act, 1875, and on no 

occasion charge any fares in excess of those authorised by the Council.  The current fare scale 

is available for inspection at the Municipal Buildings, Boston, and must be displayed in every Hackney 

Carriage.  See Section 6. 
 

4.25 Vehicle licences 

Every vehicle used as a taxi must be licensed by the District Council (Section 46, LG (MP) A).  You 

are strongly advised to contact the licensing section prior to purchasing the vehicle.  This will enable 

Page 48



 

 

17 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

the licensing section to confirm whether or not the vehicle is suitable, thus avoiding purchase of an 

unsuitable vehicle which will not meet the criteria resulting in refusal of a licence. 
 

 A District Council cannot grant a licence unless it is satisfied the vehicle is:- 

 

 (a) suitable in type, size and design for such use. 

 (b) in a suitable mechanical condition. 

 (c) safe and comfortable. 

 (d) insured for public hire car use (Section 48, LG (MP) A). 

 

 A vehicle licence shall be valid for a period of twelve months. 
 

4.26 Type of vehicle 

All vehicles presented for a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence must meet the requirements set out in 

Appendix 'A' (Section 47 LG(MP)A). 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences will not be issued (other than by way of renewal) to vehicles 

being presented to be licensed to carry 5 or more passengers unless such vehicles are wheelchair 

accessible. 
 

4.27 Advertisements on vehicles 

The proprietor must not cause or permit any advertisements on the vehicle unless it meets the criteria 

of Condition 9 on the Hackney Carriage Conditions.  
 

4.28 Vehicle insurance 

Before a vehicle licence can be issued a current certificate or cover note for public hire use (original, 

not a photocopy) must be produced (Section 50 LG(MP)A).  A certificate or cover note must be 

produced on demand to an authorised Officer (Section 50 LG(MP)A). 
 

4.29 Testing of vehicles 

All vehicles (whatever their age) must be tested and inspected by a DVSA authorised MOT Testing 

Station based within the Boston Borough Council area before a licence can be issued to ensure that 

they are mechanically fit and of good appearance (Section 50 LG(MP)A).   
 

 Every Hackney Carriage licensed by Boston Borough Council must be inspected on at least two 

separate occasions in every 12 months.  An authorised Officer or Police Constable has power to 

inspect and test any licensed vehicle at any reasonable time (Section 68 LG(MP)A). 
 
4.30 Suspension and revocation of vehicle licences 

  The Council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence on the following grounds:- 

 

  (a) The vehicle is unfit. 

  (b) The conviction of an offence under the LG(MP)A or TPCA. 

  (c) Any other reasonable cause (Section 60 LG(MP)A). 
 

 A licence may be suspended by an authorised Officer or Police Constable if they consider the vehicle 

unfit (Section 68 LG(MP)A). 

 

 On suspension, revocation or expiry of the licence, the vehicle plate MUST be returned to the Council 

within 7 days (Section 58 LG(MP)A). 

Page 49



 

 

18 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

4.31 Vehicle fitness spot checks 

 From time to time a licensed vehicle may be subject to a 'spot check' to determine its roadworthiness. 

This check will be carried out by an authorised Officer of the Council or by an authorised tester in the 

presence of an authorised Officer or by a Police Constable, usually by the roadside. 
 

 (a) (i) If, as a result of a check, an immediate suspension notice is issued, then the vehicle must not 

be used under any circumstances as a licensed vehicle until it has been re-examined and the 

suspension lifted by an authorised Officer.  Re-examination is by a full test being carried out 

by the test garage.  This is booked in the normal way. 
 

       (ii) Your attention is drawn to the warnings at the foot of the suspension notice. 

 

 (b) (i) If the suspension notice gives you a set number of days in which to rectify the defects, then a 

vehicle may continue to be used until the date given on the notice. 

 

(i) If a vehicle has not been re-examined and the suspension notice lifted by an authorised 

Officer by the date given on the notice, then from that date, the licence is automatically 

suspended until such time as the vehicle is re-examined and the suspension lifted by an   

authorised Officer.  Re-examination is by a full test being carried out by the test garage. This 

is booked in the normal way. 

 

     (iii)  Your attention is drawn to the warnings at the foot of the suspension notice. 

 

 (c)   The roadside check carried out on a vehicle, because of practical difficulties, is unable to  

  cover all items normally examined at a full test.  The list of defects given to you only serves 

  as justification for the issue of a suspension notice. 

 

(d) When a vehicle is re-examined at the test garage, a full, normal test will be carried out  

   

(e) When a vehicle passes, the tester will issue an MOT certificate, this must be taken to the 

 Council Licensing Office before the suspension can be lifted. 
 

4.32 Transfer of ownership of vehicles 

  Where the ownership of a licensed vehicle is transferred, the Council must be informed by the person 

listed as owner by the Council of this within 14 days, stating the name and address of the new owner 

(Section 49 LG(MP)A). 
 
4.33 Taximeter 

  A Hackney Carriage Vehicle shall NOT be operated until:- 

 

(a) The taximeter has been set to display a fare not exceeding the maximum fare rate set by 

 Boston Borough Council; 
   

   and 
 

(b) The taximeter has been previously tested for accuracy and sealed by the test garage and  

 a meter inspection report lodged with the Council. 

 

  Any person who – 

Page 50



 

 

19 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

(a) Tampers with any seal on any taximeter: 
  

    or 
 

(b) Alters any taximeter with intent to mislead, shall be guilty of an offence. 
 

4.34 Rights of appeal to the Magistrates' Court 

There are rights of appeal against a Council's refusal to issue a licence and against conditions 

attached to the grant of a licence.  Rights of appeal also exist where a licence is suspended or 

revoked.  An appeal must be lodged at a Magistrates' Court within 21 days from the notice of refusal, 

revocation or suspension of a licence. 
 

4.35 The carriage of guide, hearing and other assistance dogs in hackney carriage vehicles 

Section 37 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 places a duty on hackney carriage drivers to carry 

guide, hearing and other prescribed assistance dogs accompanying  disabled people, and to do so 

without charge.  A hackney carriage driver who fails to comply  with the duty to carry guide, hearing or 

other prescribed assistance dogs will be guilty of an offence and liable to a fine not exceeding level 3 

(currently £1,000) on the standard scale of conviction(s). 
 

“Other prescribed assistance dog” is defined as a dog which is trained by specific charities (ie “Dogs 

for the Disabled”, “Support Dogs” or “Canine Partners for Independence”) to assist a disabled person 

with a physical impairment and which at the time that its owner hires a hackney carriage is wearing a 

jacket inscribed with the name of one of those charities. 

 
4.36 Medical Exemptions from the Duty to Carry Guide, Hearing and other Assistance Dogs 

To enable drivers with medical conditions that would be aggravated by carrying dogs to continue to 

drive hackney carriage vehicles the Council may grant exemptions and issue drivers with Exemption 

Certificates. 
 

  A driver who has been issued a certificate of exemption, must exhibit a notice in the hackney carriage 

vehicle.  Any person who with intent to deceive, forges, alters or lends an exemption document to any 

other person is guilty of an offence.  Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s refusal to issue an 

exemption certificate has a right of appeal against the decision to a Magistrate’s court within 28 days 

of the date of refusal. 
 

 Further information regarding medical exemptions is available from the Council’s Licensing Section. 
 

5. FARES 

 
5.1 Journeys which begin and end within the Boston Borough Council area 

 For every such journey the taxi meter must be engaged at the commencement of the journey 

 and no more than is displayed on the meter at the end of the journey be charged, other than 

 permitted additions where the meter is not capable of taking these into account. 
 

5.2 Journeys which begin or end outside the Boston Borough Council area 

 For these journeys the fare is negotiable with the hirer, provided that if no negotiation is entered 

 into, no fare greater than that displayed on the meter can be charged.  The meter must be used 

 (Section 66, LG(MP)A). 
 

Page 51



 

 

20 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

5.3 Hackney Carriages used for Private Hire 

Hackney Carriages when used for Private Hire within the Boston Borough Council area must 

 charge from the point of pick up, to the point of drop, and use the meter.  The fare charged must  not 

be greater than the Hackney Carriage fare rate set.  (Section 67, LG(MP)A) 
 

NB: What must be noted is that for whatever type of journey, the taximeter must be in  operation 

during the hiring even if the fare has been negotiated. 
 

5.4 Charging separate fares 

 The practice of 'doubling up' of passengers and charging separately is legal only in the following 

 circumstances:- 
 

(a) The driver, proprietor or any other person must not organise people to share a vehicle whilst  

the vehicle is plying for hire on the streets or standing for hire at a rank.  Only prospective 

passengers may agree amongst themselves to share and then approach the driver or 

proprietor with the request, and:- 

 

(i) If the journey begins and ends in the Boston Borough Council area - the taxi meter must be 

used to determine the fare and the fare charged in total must not exceed that finally 

displayed on the meter; or 

 

(ii)  If the journey begins or ends outside the Boston Borough Council area – the charge is 

negotiable.  If no negotiations take place then the meter must be used and no more than 

that recorded on it must be charged in total. 

 

(iii) The amount of each separate fare must not in total exceed that which would  normally 

be charged for the total journey if it had been one fare.  The driver is not  in a position to 

decide what to charge each passenger.  The passengers  themselves must apportion the fare 

between themselves; or 
 

 (b) (i) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journey in advance; and 

 (ii) Each of them consented, when booking this journey to sharing the use on that occasion with 

others on the basis that a separate fare would be payable by each passenger for  their own    

journey on that occasion (Section 11, TA 1985). 

 

6. HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS 

 
1. Throughout these Byelaws "the Council" means the Council of the Borough of Boston and "the 

district" means the Borough of Boston aforesaid. 
 
Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage, corresponding with 
the number of its licence, shall be displayed 

 

2. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence granted to them  

in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or marked on the outside and inside of the 

carriage, or on plates affixed thereto; 
 

 (b) A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall - 

  (i) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed from 

Page 52



 

 

21 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

public view while the carriage is standing or plying for hire; 

  (ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting,            

                              marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 
 

Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided 

 

3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall - 

  

 (a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with the 

driver; 

 (b) cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 

 (c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than one 

window on each side; 

 (d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 

 (e) cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 

 (f) cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and 

in every way fit for public service; 

 (g) provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage; 

             (h) provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be              

                readily available for use; 

 (i) provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a separate 

means of ingress and egress for the driver. 
 

4.(1) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause it to be provided with a taxi meter so constructed, 

attached and maintained as to comply with the following requirements - 
 

(a) If the taximeter is fitted with a flag or other device bearing the words "FOR HIRE":- 

 

  (i) The words "FOR HIRE" shall be exhibited on each side of the flag or other device in 

plain letters at least 4cm in height and the flag or other device shall be capable of 

being locked in a position in which the words are horizontal and legible; 

  (ii) When the flag or other device is so locked the machinery of the taxi meter shall not 

be in action and the means of bringing it into action shall be by moving the flag or 

other device so that the words are not conveniently legible; 

  (iii) When the flag or other device is so locked that the aforesaid words are horizontal and 

legible no fare shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter. 
 

 (b) If the taximeter is not fitted with a flag or other device bearing the words "FOR HIRE":- 

  (i) The taxi meter shall be fitted with a key or other device the turning of which will bring 

the machinery of the taxi meter into action and cause the word "HIRED" to appear on 

the face of the taximeter. 

  (ii) Such key or device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 

machinery of the taximeter is not in action and no fare is recorded on the face of the 

taximeter. 
 

 (c) When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the 

taximeter in figures clearly legible and free from ambiguity a fare not exceeding the rate or 

fare which the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take in pursuance of the byelaw 

in that behalf for the hire of the carriage by distance. 
 

Page 53



 

 

22 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

             (d)          The word "FARE" shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to 

apply to the fare recorded thereon. 
 

             (e) The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof may be at all 

times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose the 

letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring. 
 

               (f) The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals  

  or other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them              

            except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliance. 
 

(2) The proprietor of a hackney carriage provided with a taxi meter not fitted with a flag or other device 

bearing the words "FOR HIRE" shall cause the carriage to be provided with a sign so constructed as 

to comply with the following requirements, that is to say:- 
 

 (a) The sign shall bear the words "FOR HIRE" in plain letters at least 4cm in height; 

 (b) The sign shall be capable of being so operated that it indicates clearly and conveniently to 

persons outside the carriage whether or not the carriage is for hire. 
 

5. The driver of a hackney carriage shall - 

 (a) If the taximeter is fitted with a flag or other device bearing the words "FOR HIRE":- 

  (i) When standing or plying for hire keep such flag or other device locked in the position 

in which the words are horizontal and legible; 

  (ii) As soon as the carriage is hired by distance, and before commencing the journey, 

bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the flag or other device so 

that the words are not conveniently legible and keep the machinery of the taximeter 

in action until the termination of the hiring. 
 

 (b) If the taximeter is not fitted with a flag or other device bearing the words "FOR HIRE":- 

  (i) When standing or plying for hire keep the taximeter locked in the position in which no 

fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter and operate the sign provided in 

pursuance of these byelaws so that the words "FOR HIRE" are clearly and 

conveniently legible by persons outside the carriage; 

  (ii) As soon as the carriage is hired whether by distance or by time, operate the said sign 

so that the words "FOR HIRE" are not conveniently legible by persons outside the 

carriage; 

  (iii) As soon as the carriage is hired by distance, and before commencing the journey, 

bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the key or other device 

fitted for the purpose so that the word "HIRED" is legible on the face of the taximeter 

and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring. 
 

 (c) Cause the dial of the taxi meter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring 

which is during the hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the *Road Transport 

Lighting Act, 1957, and also at any other time at the request of the hirer.  (*Now defined by 

the Road Traffic Act, 1972) 
 

  6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to                     

tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with              

the seals affixed thereto. 
 

Page 54



 

 

23 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

  7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually hired - 

 (a) proceed with reasonable speed to the stand fixed by the byelaw in that behalf and unless, at 

the time of his arrival, the stand is already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised 

to occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the stand 

and so as to face in the same direction; 

 (b) from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved forward 

cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by the 

carriage driven off or moved forward; 

 (c) Whilst at a stand not take a fare prior to the carriage or carriages in front having left the stand. 
 

8. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall not, by calling out 

or otherwise, importune any person to hire such carriage and shall not make use of the services of 

any other person for the purpose. 
 

9. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take all 

reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the 

vehicle. 
 

10. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance 

with the carriage at an appointed time and place, shall, unless delayed or prevented by some 

sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place. 
 

11. The driver of a hackney carriage when hired to drive to any particular destination shall, subject to any 

directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the shortest available route. 
 

12. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such carriage 

any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the plate affixed to the 

outside of the carriage. 
 

13. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney carriage he 

shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in such position and manner 

as to be plainly visible. 
 

14. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested by any 

person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage - 

 (a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 

 (b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; 

 (c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building, station or 

place at which he may take up or set down such person. 
 

Provisions fixing the stands of hackney carriages 

 

15.  Hackney Carriage Stands are now appointed under Section 63 of the Local Government 

 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. 
 

Provisions fixing the rates or fares as well as for time and distance to be paid for hackney carriages 
within the district, and securing the due publication of such fares 

 

16. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the 

carriage the rate or fare prescribed; such fare to be inclusive of value added tax. 
 

Page 55



 

 

24 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

Provided always that the proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not be entitled to demand and 

take a fare greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter, save for any extra charges 

authorised which it may not be possible to record on the face of the taxi meter. 
 

N.B. Table of Fares - Hackney Carriage Fares are now fixed under Section 65 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. 
 

Fares for Distance 

 

17. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by the byelaw 

in that behalf to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 

(b) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in accordance with 

this byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the letters or figures in the 

statement to be concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or 

being used for hire. 
 

Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in hackney 
carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 

 

18. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or 

as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any property which may have been 

accidentally left therein. 
 

19. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any 

person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or handed to them - 
 

(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on 

behalf of its owner, to the office of the Council, and leave it in the custody of the officer in 

charge of the office on their giving a receipt for it; 

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be redelivered an amount 

equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value (or the fare for the distance from the 

place of finding to the office of the Council, whichever be the greater) but not more than five 

pounds. 

             (c)         OR carry it as soon as possible to a Police Station and deposit the property with                      

    the Police 

 

7. REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 
 

The Authorised Officer is delegated by the Council to grant hackney carriage and private hire licences where 

the applicant fulfils the basic qualifications. However, should in their opinion, there be any doubt as to whether 

the applicant is a “fit and proper person”, an application will not be granted under delegated powers. That 

application may then be pursued to the a Sub Committee of the Regulatory and Appeals Committee. 

Generally speaking the Authorised Officer will not grant an application which contains a declaration of a 

conviction(s) involving dishonesty, indecency, violence or a disqualification from driving and which is not 

clearly covered by the Council’s guidelines relating to the relevance of conviction(s). 
 

The general procedure for applications which are pursued to the committee is as follows: 

 

a) A Sub-Committee (consisting of elected members of the Council) will consider the application. The 

applicant or a representative of his choice may address the Sub-Committee in support of the 

Page 56



 

 

25 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

application. Applicants should attend as the members of the Sub-Committee may wish to ask 

questions. 

 

b) A written report will be put before the Sub-Committee setting out the details of the application. The 

applicant will have an opportunity to read this before the interview. 

 

c) If the Sub-Committee decide to grant a licence then this can be done immediately. 

 

d) Should the Committee decide to refuse to grant the application, then the applicant will be notified in 

writing setting out his rights in the matter. On receipt of such notification the applicant may appeal to 

the Magistrates’ Court (within 21 days) against the decision of the Council. 

 
Because the Committee does not meet on a regular basis, there may necessarily be a delay between 
application and grant or refusal in such a case. 
 

8. TAXI STANDS IN THE BOROUGH OF BOSTON 

 

 LOCATION OF TAXI STAND   NO. OF VEHICLE    

        SPACES 
  

 Bond Street, Boston      3 

 (Near to the Bus Station) 

 

 Market Place, Boston      13 

 

 Station Approach, Boston     5 

 (Adjacent to the Railway Station) 

 

 Wide Bargate, Boston      5 

 (Opposite to the junction of Park Gate) 
 

 

 The above list shows the location and number of taxi stands. You should note that both the 

 location and number of spaces may be subject to review and revision at a later date. 

 

9.  MEETING THE NEEDS OF DISABLED PASSENGERS – ADVICE FOR 

TAXI DRIVERS 
 

Hackney carriage are an invaluable means of door-to-door transport for many people.  For a large and 

growing number of elderly and disabled people, they are quite literally a lifeline.  Often hackney 

carriage provide the only means of accessible local transport, or the only accessible link to long 

distance transport, for example, by rail or air.  In fact, they are the most flexible form of public 

transport there is. 
 

You may have a vehicle which has been designed to make travelling easier for many elderly and 

disabled people, including those who use wheelchairs.  But the vehicle design is only part of the 

answer.  Your attitude and understanding are vital.  If you are not sure how to help or if you are not 

willing to help elderly or disabled passengers you may lose a significant potential market and they will 

have lost an invaluable source of independent mobility.  Here is some basic advice to help you give 

Page 57



 

 

26 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

the best service to your passenger and get the best from your vehicle.  Disability comes in many 

forms – some visible, some invisible.  Never make assumptions.  Always ask what help (if any) a 

passenger may need from you.  Make sure you are familiar with any access and safety equipment in 

your vehicle.  It is a condition of a multi-seater hackney carriage vehicle licence that at all times the 

vehicle be capable of carrying a disabled passenger whilst seated in their wheelchair.  Ramps must 

therefore be carried at all times.  You have a responsibility to know how to use them safely and 

correctly.  If the passenger is a wheelchair user and you drive a wheelchair accessible vehicle you 

should always:- 

 

 Pull up as close as possible to the kerb; 

 Ask if they would like to use the ramps; 

 If necessary, tip up the back seat (in a London style cab) to give more space to manoeuvre the 

wheelchair; 

 Insist that the passenger travels in the correct position as recommended by the vehicle manufacturer, 

or conversion team.  In the case of a London style cab this position will be facing to the rear of the 

vehicle.  In the case of wheelchair accessible vehicles which have been specially converted for the 

purpose of conveying wheelchairs, you should follow the converter’s recommendations.  Any other 

travelling position is unsafe; 

 Always make sure that the brakes of the wheelchair are on; 

 Be polite and ask before touching or moving your customer; 

 Secure the wheelchair and suggest that the passenger also uses the seat belt provided (they may 

need your help with this); 

 If it has been raised, lower the back seat in a London style cab, if the passenger would prefer it; 

 Avoid sudden braking or acceleration; 

 Bring the wheelchair out of the vehicle backwards down the ramp and ask if the passenger would like 

the brakes on once it is unloaded; 

 Leave the passenger in a safe and convenient place which enables them to move away 

independently. 
 

If you drive a saloon car, you may still be able to take wheelchair users provided that the passenger is 

able to transfer.  In those circumstances, you should ask the passenger what help they require, listen 

to their response, and act only as advised.  Take care when loading the wheelchair into the boot.  

Wheelchairs can be expensive to repair or replace and without it the passenger may be totally 

immobile.  Remember, many disabled people who have mobility difficulties will not use a stick or 

crutches.  People, with arthritis in particular, may be unable to walk using a stick or crutches due to 

painful upper limbs.  If the passenger appears to have walking difficulties, or is frail or elderly, always:- 

 

 Offer to fit the additional step if there is one – this reduces the first step and makes it easier to get into 

the vehicles.  Ask whether pulling up as close as possible to the kerb would be helpful.  For saloon 

cars this may not be useful because it increases the height the passenger has to drop down to the 

seat and may make it more difficult for them to get out of the seat at the end of the journey; 

 Offer the use of the swivel seat (if you have one); 

 Be ready to help but do not insist in helping.  If you are asked to help, listen carefully to the 

information given, or ask what is the best way to assist; 

 If you have used the swivel seat, make sure it is locked back in position once inside the vehicle. 

 If the passenger is blind or partially sighted, ask what assistance they require and always look out for 

the “TAXI” sign which is held out by some blind or partially sighted people in order to hail a cab; 

Page 58



 

 

27 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 If you are collecting a blind or partially sighted passenger from a pre-booked location, knock at the 

door on arrival – do not remain in the cab and hoot your horn; 

 Tell your passenger whether they are entering a saloon car or purpose built cab; 

 Demonstrate which way the doors open; 

 If possible, place the blind person’s hand on the open door and indicate the position of the roof; 

 Make sure they know which way the vehicle is facing; 

 Make sure they are seated and have secured the seat belt (where applicable) before you move off.  

They may like help with the belt; 

 Advise them if there is a hold-up or diversion; 

 Tell them the fare and count out the change; 

 Set them down in a safe place and make sure they know where they are going.  If they would like to 

be accompanied to the entrance of a building, offer them your arm; gripping just above your elbow will 

enable them to be guided more easily; 

 Remember assistance dogs are trained to remain on the floor of a vehicle and will not abuse your 

vehicle.  Refusal to carry a assistance dog, will be in contravention of the Disability Discrimination Act  

(unless the driver holds the relevant certificate of exemption).  In saloon cars, there is more room for 

the dog on the floor in the front of the vehicle; 
 

 If the passenger is deaf or hard of hearing, always;- 

 Look at them when you are speaking.  Speak clearly – but don’t shout; 

 Always have a pad of paper and pen handy as it is sometimes easier to communicate in writing; 

 Make sure that they are aware that you have understood their instructions and that you know 

where you are going. 
 

Maintenance of Vehicles: 
 

 Keep door handles, locks and hinges well oiled.  This reduces the amount of physical (often painful) 

effort required to operate them. 
 

If you drive a purpose built vehicle, make sure you know how to use the equipment.  For example, you 

should know the correct way to secure and load a wheelchair and to operate the swivel seat for 

vehicles such as the London style Fairway or Metrocab models.  In the case of vehicles specifically 

converted for the conveyance of wheelchairs, methods vary according to the conversion, therefore, 

you should consult your conversion specialists. 
 

This guidance is based upon the leaflet “Advice for Taxi Drivers – Meeting the Needs of Disabled 

Passengers” produced by the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee (DPTAC).  The 

guidance includes details regarding vehicles which meet the Metropolitan Conditions of Fitness 

(London style cabs) and the use of swivel seats.  At the time of writing both were not prevalent within 

the Boston hackney carriage fleet.  Given the provisions contained within the Disability Discrimination 

Act, however, it was considered prudent to include the details for possible future reference. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

 

28 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX A 

  

DIMENSIONS AND ABILITY OF VEHICLES TO BE LICENSED AS 

HACKNEY CARRIAGES AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 
Steering 

The steering wheel should be on the offside. 
 

Doors      

All doors must be capable of being opened from the inside.  Saloon cars must have four doors, being 

two on each side of the vehicle, a rear hatch/door not being accepted as one of the four doors.  

Minibuses/People Carriers/Converted van type vehicles without a nearside door are not acceptable. 

Furthermore multi-seater vehicles must have at least four doors; if the rear door is to be used for access and 

egress then access to this must be direct and not be blocked by a line of seats.  Doors should open to an 

angle of at least 80% to the body of the vehicle; except in the case of sliding doors. 
 

Engine Size     

The acceleration and braking capabilities should match the engine and carrying capacity of the vehicle. 
 

Seat Width     

The size requirement is 40cm (approx. 16”) per person.  The distance should be measured in a straight  

line lengthwise at the widest point of the front half of each seat.  The distance for 3 persons of 120cm  

(approx. 48”) should be taken between the armrests as these can in some cases significantly reduce  

the width.  Further to this a height of 85cm (approx. 34”) between seat and roof and 18cm (approx. 7”)  

from back of front seat to front of rear seat (when front seat is fully pushed back), is to be  

recommended for passenger comfort. 
 

Seating Arrangements    

The maximum number of passenger seats allowed is 8 and all should have direct access to a door  

without the need to climb over the rear of any seat.  Tip-up seats or seats which require the back to be  

lowered will only be permitted when giving access to the side doors of multi-seater vehicles (seats of  

this type giving access within saloon and estate vehicles will not be permitted).  Bench type seating will  

not be permitted. Seats must not be sideways to the direction of travel and all should comply with  

current seat belt regulations.  The minimum number of passengers that a vehicle should be capable of  

carrying whilst complying with the above seat width provision is 4. 
 

Luggage     

The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage (safe from inclement weather).   

Luggage should be stored securely and not in such a way as to hinder access to a door. 
 

Vehicle Licence Requirements   

Where there are standard conditions annexed to vehicle licences relating to the condition and fitness or  

appearance of a licensed vehicle the vehicle must comply with these conditions. 
 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

 

29 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX B 
 

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES 
 

 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences will not be issued to vehicles being presented to be licensed to 
carry 5 or more passengers unless such vehicles are immediately wheelchair accessible (i.e. the 
vehicle must be capable of accommodating a disabled passenger whilst seated in their wheelchair).  
The requirement to remove seats in order to accommodate a wheelchair will not be accepted; seats 
which fold to allow a wheelchair to be accommodated will be accepted. 
 

This Authority's minimum requirements with regard to a wheelchair accessible vehicle are:- 

 

(a) That it can accommodate a disabled passenger whilst seated in their wheelchair (there must be 

adequate headroom for the passenger).  For this purpose a “wheelchair” is a reference wheelchair as 

defined in The Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000. 

 

 The dimensions for a reference wheelchair are defined as having 

 

total length of 1200mm, including extra-long footplates 

total width of 700mm 

sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm 

height of footrest above floor of 150mm 

 

(b) That the rear/side door used for wheelchair access must be capable of opening as wide as the 

aperture. A single rear door must be open to a minimum of 90 degrees and for twin rear doors both 

must open to a minimum of 90 degrees. 

 

(c) The doorway should provide a minimum of 1220mm in its central third measured from the upper 

centre of the aperture to a point directly below on either the upper face of the fully raised lift platform 

or the upper face of the ramp fully deployed on ground level .  The door aperture must be wide 

enough to accommodate a reference wheelchair and have a minimum width of 740mm of 

unobstructed space. 

 

(d)  There should be sufficient space within the vehicle to accommodate a reference wheelchair. The floor 

area required for the wheelchair should be at least 750mm x 1250mm with minimum headroom over 

the area of 1350mm.  There must be sufficient space, where applicable, to turn the wheelchair. 

 

(e)  All wheelchair tracking must be fit for purpose and structurally sound. 

 

(f)  A 3 point system for securing the occupant in the wheel chair and a system for effective anchoring of 

wheelchairs shall be provided within the vehicle in all spaces designated as wheelchair space.  

Wheelchair anchorage systems and devices must conform to European Directive 76/115 EEC (as 

amended). Additional hand-holds and a step should be provided 

 

(g)  Either a purpose designed wheelchair access ramp or a purpose designed wheelchair lift must be 

provided. 

 

(h)  Any purpose designed wheelchair access ramp that is carried must be lightweight and easy to deploy. 

Page 61



 

 

30 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 The ramp shall have visible reference to a safe working load of at least 250kgs.  Ramps must be 

capable of being securely fitted when in use and securely installed in the designated storage area at 

all other times. Ramps must be free from damage, deformity and sharp edges etc.  Ramps must be 

provided with an anti-slip covering. Ramps shall be indelibly marked with the vehicle registration 

number*. 

 

(i) Any purpose designed wheelchair lift shall conform to the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 

Regulations 1998 (LOLER).  A report, confirming that the lifting equipment is safe to use shall be 

presented at the time the annual and 6 monthly vehicle inspection certificate is provided to the 

council.  Vehicles will require a certificate that is valid for a period of 6 months from the date of issue. 

The lift must be capable of being secured in a suitable and satisfactory position when the vehicle is in 

motion. 

 

(j) Vehicles shall comply in all respects, and at all times, with current road traffic legislation. 

 

(k) Vehicles shall comply with the European Community M1 type approval for passenger carrying 

vehicles.  The definition of category M1 type approval is any motor vehicle with at least 4 wheels 

designed and constructed for the carriage of passengers. 

 

(l) Vehicles that have been originally classified as complying with M1 type approval but have undergone 

modifications or conversions since original manufacture will be considered suitable provided they are 

presented with the relevant National Small Series Type Approval (NSSTA) or Individual Vehicle 

Approval (IVA)) certificate or equivalent issued by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA). 

 

(m) Any wheelchair accessible vehicle originally given European Community N type approval will be 

considered unfit for the purpose and will not be considered suitable to be licensed.  The definition of a 

category N type approval is any motor vehicles with at least four wheels designed and constructed for 

the carriage of goods. 

 

Grandfather rights will apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles already licensed by the date on which this 

policy comes into effect.  They will be allowed to continue until the end of their useful life, subject to their 

compliance with all relevant test and inspection requirements. 

 

Once a vehicle licence has expired then Grandfather rights will no longer apply.  Applicants wishing to re-

licence that vehicle in the future will be required to adhere to the Wheelchair Accessible Policy requirements. 

 

Vehicles which have been licensed for private hire and not identified as wheelchair accessible must adhere to 

the above Wheelchair Accessible Policy if they wish to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage Vehicle. 

*Grandfather rights do not apply with respect to requirement that ramps are indelibly marked with the vehicle 

registration number. 
 

(adopted 26 September 2017). 

 
 

Page 62



 

 

31 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX C 
 

GUIDANCE FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE / PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS AND PROPRIETORS 
PERMITTING AUTHORISED TRAILERS 

 

No trailer of any description shall be attached to the licensed vehicle, except in accordance with a written 

authorisation issued by the Council.  Any trailer shall be provided and used in accordance with the Council’s 

Guidance for Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors. 
 

1) Each trailer will be authorised for use with one nominated licensed vehicle only.  Any trailer must be 

presented for inspection by a certified MOT garage within the Borough of Boston prior to its first use 

and again at each inspection of the vehicle with which the trailer is authorised to be used. The trailer 

must be presented with the vehicle for which its use is authorised.  This will ensure that the vehicle, 

trailer and its attaching mechanism are fit, safe and suitable for use. 
  
2) The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to be carried and not 

for general use. This condition is to prevent proprietors/drivers using the  trailer unnecessarily and 

causing greater congestion on the roads.  Licensed vehicles with  trailers are not permitted on the 

Hackney Carriage Rank at any time. 
 

3)    The trailer must be of a suitable size to carry excess baggage for the number of people the vehicle is 

authorised to carry and no larger. 
 

4) The trailer must comply with all aspects of current legislation and be of a type recommended by the 

vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the intended towing vehicle. This is to ensure that the 

vehicle with trailer remain fit, safe and suitable for purpose. 
 

5) The vehicle must be suitable for towing the intended trailer. This will ensure that the vehicle has an 

engine large enough to tow the trailer, the brakes are powerful enough to stop the vehicle and trailer 

safely and that the Gross Trailer Weight (GTW) does not exceed the Towing Capacity of the towing 

vehicle. 
 

6) The trailer must have affixed to it a manufacturer’s plate specifying the manufacturer’s name and 

address, the chassis and serial number, the number of axles, maximum weight per axle, nose weight 

of the coupling, maximum gross weight and the date of manufacture. From 1 January 1997 the Road 

Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, Regulation 71A, states that trailers with a 

maximum design weight not exceeding 750Kgs must be fitted with a plate displaying their year of 

manufacture in a clearly visible position.  
 

7) Unbraked trailers must not exceed 750kgs gross trailer weight or half the towing vehicle’s kerb 

 weight.  This is to comply with the law in relation to vehicle, trailers and their weights. 
 

8) Unbraked trailers (manufactured from 1 January 1997) must have a secondary coupling that will 

provide some residual steering in the event of an unplanned uncoupling. This device should also 

prevent the ball coupling hitting the ground in similar circumstances. It must be connected to the 

towing vehicle when the trailer is being towed. This is to prevent any unnecessary accidents. 
 

9) Braked trailers must be fitted with a parking brake that operates on at least two road wheels on the 

same axle. At all times it must be capable of being maintained in operation by direct mechanical 

Page 63



 

 

32 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

action without use of hydraulics, electric or pneumatic systems ie  push rod or cable action.  The 

efficiency of the handbrake must comply with EEC Directive 71/320/EEC.  
 

10) An emergency breakaway cable must be fitted to the parking brake linkage and the other end clipped 

or fixed round a fixture on the towing vehicle so that, in the event of the trailer becoming detached 

from the towing vehicle, the cable applies the parking brake automatically before snapping itself.  
 

11) All tow bars fitted must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and fitted by an 

approved agent. This is to ensure that untested tow bars are not fitted to vehicles.  
 

12) Trailers must have on the rear, two red sidelights, two red stop lamps, an illuminated number plate 

and two triangular red reflectors plus indicators designed to flash between 60 and 120 times per 

minute.  All lights must be kept in working order.   If more than 1.3metres  wide, they must also have 

at least one red fog lamp. This is to comply with the requirements of the Road Vehicle Lighting 

Regulations 1989.   
 

13) All trailers built after 30 September 1990 require front reflectors.  
 

14) No advertising will be permitted on any part of a trailer. This is to comply with current standards and 

conditions applicable to private hire and hackney carriage vehicle licensing. 
 

15) The trailer must be fitted with securely fastening covers, which can be hardtop or canvas  tarpaulin 

type. This is for safety reasons and drivers should ensure that any luggage is securely fastened so as 

not to present any danger to other road users, passengers or damage to the luggage. 
 

16) When the trailer is used with the licensed vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council,  specifically 

for that trailer, shall be clearly displayed on the trailer. The details provided on this plate refer to the 

vehicle it is to be used with and not the trailer itself.  This is so that the vehicle can be identified from 

the rear and also to comply with legislation. The cost of the plate will be the same as that for vehicle 

plates. 
 

17) A spare wheel for the trailer must be carried whilst the trailer is in use so that in the event of a 

puncture the journey would not be delayed any longer than necessary.  Space saver type  spare 

wheels are not permitted. 
  

18) The vehicle must be insured to tow the trailer. 
  
19) A charge will be made payable for the inspection of the trailer which will be recouped from  the 

 proprietor of the vehicle.  
 

20) A licensed driver will be permitted to tow a trailer whilst driving a licensed vehicle provided  that: 
 

i) the driver holds the appropriate category on his DVLA licence; 

ii) it is the proprietor’s/vehicle licensee’s responsibility to ensure that the trailer towed by his vehicle 

complies with the legislation and the Licensing Conditions; 

iii) it is the proprietor’s/vehicle licensee’s responsibility to ensure that the driver towing the trailer 

holds the appropriate category DVLA licence. 
       
This policy is to ensure the driver and vehicle owner complies with the law and other legal requirements. 

Page 64



 

 

33 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

                                                                                          

APPENDIX D 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE TEST ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle and Meter Tests 
All vehicle/trailer MOT tests can be carried out at any approved MOT testing station provided it is within the 
Borough of Boston. 
 

Condition of Vehicle 
The vehicle must be presented for testing in a thoroughly clean condition inside and out. 
 
ALL vehicles for all tests must be:- 
 
(a) Fitted with an approved fire extinguisher securely fixed in such a position as to readily available           
     for use. 
(b) Fitted with an approved taxi meter set to a fare not exceeding the maximum fare rate, which will be 

tested for accuracy over a measured distance. 
(c) Fitted with an approved “FOR HIRE” sign or flag which meets the requirements set down in Boston 

Borough Council’s Hackney Carriage Byelaws. 
(d) Fitted with a taxi roof sign which can be illuminated and meets the requirements set by the Council. 
 

In the case of RENEWAL of a licence or a SIX MONTH TEST they must also:- 
 
Be fitted with the identification plate, issued by the Council, in the correct place, and display the 
Council’s fare card.    
 

The tester may refuse to test a vehicle, which in his opinion is unsafe, or dangerous. 
 

Driver of Vehicle 

The driver must remain on the tester’s premises whilst the test is being carried out and answer any 
questions. The driver is not allowed in the test bay without the express consent of the tester. 
 
 

Vehicle Fails the Test 
The driver will be informed of the reasons for failure. 
 

A re-test will have to be subsequently carried out on the vehicle, this must be arranged through the Testing 
Centre. 
 

Page 65



 

 

34 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 APPENDIX E 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE TEST - REQUIREMENTS IN ADDITION 

TO THE MOT TEST FOR CLASS IV VEHICLES 
 
All vehicles, which apply for Hackney Carriage Vehicle status in the Borough of Boston, must adhere strictly to 

the following specification, which is required in addition to the vehicle passing the twice-yearly inspection to 

Department of Transport (MOT Test standards). 
 

BODYWORK (Exterior) 

 
General Condition     

All bodywork must be in good condition and have no visual signs of surface rust showing.  All bodywork 

panels must be free from dents and surface damage.  
 
Paintwork Condition  

All paintwork must be in good condition and where there is a requirement to replace doors, boot, bonnet or 

any body panels these must be returned to the original colour of the vehicle before fitting prior to any 

inspection. 
 

Registration Plates  

Registration plates must be complete, clean and free from any damage. 
 

Mirrors, Windows, Glass, etc  

All lights, windscreens, windows, direction indicator lenses, reflectors and mirrors must be complete,  

serviceable, clean and free from any damage.  All windscreens and windows must comply with 

regulations concerning visual transmission of light and free from obstruction to vision and are to be 

kept clean.  Windscreen wipers and washers must be maintained in effective working order at all times. 
 

BODYWORK (interior) 
Seats and Upholstery  

All vehicle interiors, including seats and upholstery, must be in good condition, free from damage, well sprung 

and be smart in appearance. 
 

Floor Condition  

The floor must be sound and covered by adequate carpets or mats. The floor covering should not be so badly 

worn as would be likely to cause danger to passengers. 
 

Seat Belts  

All seat belts, anchorages, fastenings and adjusting devices must be maintained free from obvious defects 

and kept in good working order. 
 

Panel and Interior Lights  

The speedometer should be in working order and be correctly illuminated.  All interior and passenger lights, 

where fitted, should be operative. 
 

Doors and Locks 

All doors should open and close easily both from the inside and outside.  All doors when shut must be secure. 

The boot should open easily from the outside. 

 

Page 66



 

 

35 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

Window Openings  

All windows should open and close by the use of winders or otherwise where fitted. 
 

Tyres  

All road wheels and tyres must be the same size except where different sized front and rear wheels and/or 

tyres are fitted to the vehicle by the manufacturer as standard. (This does not apply when using a space-saver 

wheel in the circumstances detailed below). 

 

The use, in emergencies only, due to puncture, wheel damage or similar, of a space-saver wheel, run flat 

tyre(s) (when punctured) or puncture repair kits is permitted for vehicles that are manufactured and delivered 

with such tyres or kits as standard. 

 

In the event of a space-saver tyre, run flat tyre(s) (when punctured) or puncture repair kit being used, it is only 

to complete a fare and precise compliance with the manufacturer’s recommendations is required.  Any such 

space-saver tyre, run flat tyre (when punctured) or tyre that has been subject to use of a puncture repair kit 

must be replaced prior to taking another fare. 

 

In cases where a rear loading wheelchair accessible conversion or an LPG conversion where the tank 

occupies the usual site of the spare wheel is considered suitable to be licensed, the vehicle will be considered 

exempt from the requirement to carry a spare wheel matching those fitted to the vehicle.  This would be 

subject to the vehicle meeting the luggage criteria and being approved by specialist converters.  In these 

instances a space-saver tyre or puncture repair kit must be carried in the vehicle for use in the event of the 

above mentioned emergencies only and must be used precisely with the manufacturer’s recommendations. 

 

All other licensed vehicles must carry a spare wheel matching those fitted to the vehicle.  

 

Space-saver tyres and full size spare wheels must have a legal tread depth, be kept inflated to the correct 

pressure and be free from cuts, bulges and any defects.  An appropriate means of changing the wheel must 

also be carried. 
 

Exhaust System  

The exhaust system must be complete, efficient and not produce any excess noise and smoke. 
 

Fire Extinguisher  

The vehicle must be fitted with a fire extinguisher (in proper working order) securely fixed in such a position as 

to be readily available for use. 
 

Taxi meter  

The taxi meter must be capable of being illuminated during hours of darkness and be firmly secured.  It must 

be set to the correct fare rate. 
 

“For Hire” Sign or Flag  

The vehicle must be fitted with a “FOR HIRE” sign or flag which meets the requirements set down in the 

Council’s Hackney Carriage Byelaws. 
 

Roof Sign  

The vehicle must be fitted with a taxi roof sign, which can be illuminated.  The roof sign must prominently 

display the word "TAXI” or “HACKNEY CARRIAGE” to the front of the vehicle and the lettering must be at  

least 4 cm in size and be of a neat and consistent standard. Such a sign together with the “For Hire” sign must 

not illuminate when the taxi meter is in the HIRED mode. 

Page 67



 

 

36 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

 

Fare Card                                       

The Council’s fare card must be displayed in such a position as to be easily seen by all passengers. 
 

Exterior Council Plate                     

The vehicle must be fitted with the identification plate issued by the Council. The plate should be attached to 

the rear of the vehicle, below window level in a vertical plane (as near as possible) facing to the rear, with 

none of the plate concealed whatsoever. The size of the plate must not be altered. 
 

Council Plate Number in Interior 

The plate number must be displayed inside the vehicle. 
 

Fire Extinguisher  

The fire extinguisher must be indelibly and clearly marked with the Council vehicle plate number  

(issued in respect of the vehicle). 

 

 

Page 68



 

 

37 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX F 

 

DISCLOSURE(S) FROM THE DISCLOSURE & BARRING SERVICE 

 

APPLICANTS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE 

DRIVERS’ LICENCES 

 
Full details are available on request. The following is a précis - 

 
As Boston Borough Council meets the requirements in respect of exempted 
questions under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, all applicants for a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle driver licence will be subject to a criminal 
record disclosure from the Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) before a licence is 
granted.  This will include details of cautions, reprimands or final warnings, as well 
as conviction(s) 
 

SCOPE 

1. The legislation provides that local authorities with responsibilities under the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 may require applicants for a hackney carriage or private hire 

vehicle (PHV) driver licence to apply for a Criminal Records Disclosure. 
 

DISCLOSURE & BARRING (DBS) DISCLOSURE 

1.2 In all cases the DBS Disclosure will be made against Government Records and the national collection 

of criminal records maintained on the Police National Computer (PNC).  A fee (for each individual 

enquiry) is payable to the DBS at the time the request for a Disclosure is made. 
 

LEAD COUNTER SIGNATORY 

2. An officer in the Council will take responsibility for use of the Disclosure Service. They will be 

responsible for overseeing the operation of the disclosure procedure within the authority and act as 

the principal point of contact with the DBS. 
 

ROLES OF THE COUNTER SIGNATORY 

3. All counter signatories will be required to: 

 

 Countersign applications and receive the Disclosures. 

 Control the use of, access to, and security of disclosures. 

 Confirm the details of the documentary evidence requested by the DBS and to establish the  

identity of the applicant applying for the Disclosure: 

 Ensure the compliance with the Code of Practice; and 

 Ensure the position is covered by the exceptions Order to the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 

1974 and the Disclosure requested is at the appropriate level. 
 

PROCEDURE 

4. DBS Disclosures form an integral and important part of the licensing procedures.  Other checks, 

however, to establish a person’s integrity and fitness to hold a licence to drive a hackney carriage or 

PHV will be carried out, and attempts may be made to account satisfactorily for any unexplained gaps 

in residential addresses. 

 

Page 69



 

 

38 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

4.2 In considering applications from potential licence holders the Council are aware that applicants have 

to reveal offences which are spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, and these may be 

included in any record provided by the DBS.  The Council reserves the right to act as a judicial 

authority in the case of spent conviction(s) involving serious offences (i.e. death by dangerous driving, 

drugs, violence, sexual offences or offences of a habitual nature). This means that, the Council may 

take these into account when they come to light. 
 

5. An applicant will be required to undertake a DBS Disclosure.  They will be informed in writing 

 when a Disclosure is required. 

 

 The Boston Borough Council area is predominately a rural area with limited public transport options. 

Vulnerable adults and persons under 18 regularly use hackney carriage and PHVs as a means of 

transport. The logistics of the area are such that these journeys will often be in the early hours of the 

morning or late at night and be unsupervised. Licensed vehicles are regularly used by parents, 

guardians, schools and welfare organisations as a means of transporting persons under 18. 

Furthermore, legislation is such that when waiting on a taxi rank a hackney carriage driver is unable, 

without reasonable cause, to refuse a hiring from a person under 18.  When plying for hire hackney 

carriage drivers are therefore not in a position to decline a hiring from young persons. The majority of 

hackney carriage and private hire hiring’s will be unsupervised, placing the driver in a position of trust. 

When entrusting young persons to the care of licensed drivers, the public expect those drivers to have 

been through rigorous checking procedures.  They expect the licensing system to ensure a high level 

of protection. For these reasons the Council are of the opinion that a DBS Disclosure is required. 
 

6. The Council will make every effort to confirm the identity of the applicant before the DBS are asked to 

process a Disclosure. Verification of identity, date of birth, address and any change of name will be 

obtained. Incomplete or incorrect identification details may invalidate the DBS Disclosure.   

 

Where an applicant claims to have changed their name by deed poll or any other mechanism (e.g. 

marriage, adoption, statutory declaration) they must produce documentary evidence of such a 

change. 

 

Photocopies of any of the above documentation will not be acceptable. Original documents must be 

produced.  The Council may take copies of photographic evidence and any birth certificates 

 presented, but will not normally make photocopies of any address-related evidence. With regard to 

address-related evidence applicants will be assured that it is only the address section of the evidence 

that will be scrutinised by Officers. 
 

7. When a DBS Disclosure is required, the Council using the official Disclosure Request Form will 

 send the request to the DBS.  However, the costs are the responsibility of the applicant. 

 

10. The DBS will reply to the applicant either indicating that there is no trace on DBS records of a record 

which matches the details provided, or that those details appear identical with the person whose 

record will be attached. The record will contain details of all convictions recorded nationally against 

that person. 
 

11. It should be noted that the DBS record will not include details of motoring conviction(s). Such 

information under separate arrangements will be obtained from the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 

Agency. This will be provided on receipt of a written request, which must include the subject’s driver 

number. The information given will include endorsement/disqualification details. 
 

Page 70



 

 

39 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

12. Where the information provided by the DBS differs from that provided by the applicant, and is of 

significance, the nominated counter-signatory will discuss the discrepancy with the applicant before 

reaching any final decision in which the nature of the information received is a factor. 
 

13. It is noted that applicants themselves may reveal certain minor convictions or cautions which are not 

recorded in the national collection of criminal records and, therefore, not included in the convictions 

provided by the DBS. In general, corroboration of such convictions or cautions will not be sought from 

the DBS. 
 

14. A person who believes the information provided by the DBS is incorrect and who wishes to make 

representations to the Council regarding the matter, may do so. Applicants should approach the DBS 

if they think a mistake has been made on a disclosure. 

 

15. Information as to how your personal information is handled can be found via the DBS Code of 

Practice at: 

  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

 file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf.   

 

 Hard copies can be provided on request from Taxi Licensing. 

 
CHECKS ON PERSONS ALREADY IN POSSESSION OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE / PHV DRIVERS’ 
LICENCES 
 

16. Checks will not normally be made on persons other than in connection with the Policy requirements. 

If, however, serious allegations are made against a driver, or previously un-revealed information 

comes to light and the Council is satisfied that the information cannot be verified in any other way, the 

licence holder may be asked to produce a current Disclosure. The Council will undertake to pay the 

cost of the Disclosure. The Disclosure cannot be undertaken without the knowledge of the individual 

concerned who will be given an opportunity to discuss the outcome of the same. 

 

 The Council will not cover the cost of Disclosures in respect of first time and subsequent DBS checks 

in line with the Policy requirements for a licence.  Should a licence holder refuse to co-operate with a 

request to produce a Disclosure, then the Council will take action accordingly, which could lead to the 

revocation or suspension of a licence. 
 

USE OF INFORMATION 

17. The fact that a person has a criminal record or is known to the police does not necessarily mean that 

they are unfit to hold a driver’s licence. The Council will make a balanced judgement about a person’s 

suitability taking into account only those offences, which are considered relevant to the person’s 

suitability to hold a licence. A person’s suitability will be looked at as a whole in the light of all the 

information available. 
 

18. In deciding the relevance of conviction(s), the Council will bear in mind that offences, which took place 

many years in the past, may often have less relevance than recent offences. Similarly, a series of 

offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated minor 

conviction(s). In any event the importance of rehabilitation will be weighed against the need to protect 

the public. 
 

 

 

Page 71

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf


 

 

40 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

19. In order to ensure consistent and fair treatment when determining whether or not criminal convictions 

render an applicant unsuitable to hold a licence, the Council have drawn up detailed policy guidelines 

containing general criteria against which applications may be considered. 
 

20. Where it is discovered that a driver, licensed prior to implementation of the Criminal Records Bureau 

(now DBS), had failed to disclose past conviction(s), the Council will consider carefully whether they 

should now refuse to re-grant the driver licence. In most cases, if those convictions are such that they 

would now lead to the refusal of a licence, refusal will be considered. If, however, previously 

unrevealed convictions are discovered which would not now disqualify the individual from holding a 

license, consideration may be given to granting it. 
 

APPEALS 

21. Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s decision to refuse a driver’s licence may appeal to a 

Magistrates’ Court. 
 

STORAGE AND DESTRUCTION OF RECORDS 

22. Any information the DBS supply will be of a sensitive and personal nature. It will be used only in 

connection with the application, which gave rise to the request for a Disclosure to be made. The Lead 

Counter Signatory must ensure it is kept securely while the licensing process takes its course and that 

the information is not kept for longer than is necessary. An indication made on the Council’s own 

record that a DBS disclosure has been carried out may be made but this will not refer to specific 

offences. 
 

CHECKS ON APPLICANTS FROM OVERSEAS 

23. The council will expect persons who have lived overseas for more than 3 months to provide a 

certificate of conduct or equivalent from the country of residence. 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PHV DRIVERS UNDERTAKING CONTRACT HIRE WORK 

24. Applicants who intend to undertake Contract Hire work may be required to undertake a further  

DBS Disclosure by the hirer. Lincolnshire County Council, for example, require hackney carriage and 

PHV drivers to undertake a Disclosure before undertaking contract work involving the transport of 

school children or vulnerable adults. 

 
MONITORING 

25. Where possible the Council will collate the following information in respect of DBS Disclosures: 

 Number of DBS disclosures requested in respect of taxi applicants; 

 Time taken to receive disclosures, and 

 Any apparent difficulties with these arrangements, including the resource implications; 

 

 
 

                                        

Page 72



 

 

41 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX G 

 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

APPLICATION POLICY AND GUIDELINES RELATING TO THE RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS AND PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS 

 
1. Introduction 

 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance on the criteria which are taken into account by the 

council (Licensing Authority) when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing licence 

holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private hire driver licence.  The 

policy also relates to applicants for a private hire vehicle operator licence and holders of a current 

private hire operator licence. 

 

1.2 In drafting and adopting these guidelines, the Licensing Authority took into consideration the 

Department for Transport’s Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued in July 2020. 

 

1.3 The purpose of setting guidelines and standards is to protect children and vulnerable adults, and by 

extension the wider public, when using hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

 

1.4 The overriding aim of the licensing authority is to protect the safety of the public. The licensing 

authority is concerned to ensure: 

 

 That a person is a fit and proper person. 

 That the person does not pose a threat to the public. 

 That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons. 

 The safeguarding of children, young persons and vulnerable adults. 

 That the policy ensures fair access, eliminates unlawful discrimination and promotes equality 

in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the 'protected characteristics' - age, disability, 

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 

and belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

1.5 This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in public and private hire licensing. In 

particular, but not exclusively: 

 

 Applicants for driver and operator licences 

 Existing licensed drivers and operators whose licences are being reviewed or renewed. 

 Licensing officers 

 Members of the Regulatory & Appeals Committee 

 Magistrates hearing appeals against local authority decisions 

 

1.6 Where licensing officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will utilise these guidelines 

when making a decision whether or not to grant a licence. Should there be any doubt, in the Officer’s 

opinion, as to whether the applicant is a “fit and proper” person, then the application will not be 

granted under delegated power.  Such applications will be referred to the Council’s Regulatory & 

Appeals Committee, or a sub-committee of that committee. The Regulatory & Appeals Committee is 

made up of elected members (councillors).  Whilst officers and the committee will have regard to the 

guidelines contained in the policy, each case will be considered on its individual merits but it will take 

Page 73



 

 

42 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

a particularly cautious view of any offences against individuals with special needs, children and other 

vulnerable groups, particularly those involving violence, those of a sexual nature and those linked to 

organised crime.  Where the circumstances warrant, the committee or officer may depart from the 

guidelines.  The reasons for departing from the guidelines must be recorded in the decision. 

 
2. General Policy 
 

2.1 There may be occasions where it is appropriate to depart from the guidelines, for example, where the 

offence is a one-off occasion or there are mitigating circumstances or alternatively where there are 

many or continuous offences which may show a pattern of offending and unfitness.  However, the 

overriding consideration should always be the protection of the public. 

 

2.2 A person with a relevant conviction need not be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, but 

would be expected to show adequate evidence that they are a fit and proper person to hold a licence 

(the onus is on the applicant to produce such evidence).  Simply remaining free of conviction may not 

generally be regarded as adequate evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

 

2.3 A series of offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated, 

minor conviction.  A serious view will be taken when an applicant shows a pattern of offending and/or 

unfitness. 

 

2.4 Where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority cannot review the 

merits of the conviction [Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed Farooq (1998)] or determine that the 

applicant should never have been convicted. 

 

2.5 A person with a conviction(s) for sexual offences or connected with illegal sexual activity or any other 

serious crime will not normally be issued with a licence. 

 

2.6 The Council generally considers that, on some occasions, offence(s) committed by a licensed 

hackney carriage/private hire driver may need to be considered more seriously than an offence(s) 

committed by individuals who are not.  This is because current licensees have previously been judged 

as fit and proper and are aware of the standards required of them and are expected to maintain those 

high standards of personal conduct. 

 

2.7 Cautions – Adult cautions are not regarded as convictions, but being admissions of guilt, may be 

taken into consideration by the Licensing Authority. 

 

2.8 Private Hire Operators – In view of the significant responsibility held by private hire vehicle operators 

in terms of setting standards of their company, recruiting drivers and dealing with members of the 

public, the operator must be a fit and proper person and an example to those whom they employ.  

Therefore the view of the Licensing Authority is that applicants for a private hire operator’s licence 

(and the holders of a private hire operator’s licence) must at least fulfil the same requirements as 

applicants for private hire driver licences in terms of being free from serious convictions or a pattern of 

unlawful behaviour. 
 
3. Pre-requisites to making an application 

 

3.1 It is the policy of the licensing authority that every application for a licence, including applications from 

existing licence holders, to drive a Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire Vehicle and be accompanied 

Page 74



 

 

43 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

by satisfactory evidence of the following matters (and that applications that are incomplete will not be 

deemed to have been made until such time as they are completed) -    

 

 That the applicant has the right to live and work in the country.  (All applicants). 

 

 An up-to-date Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Services criminal record check and evidence 

that they are not on a child and/or vulnerable adult barring list. Applicants who have lived 

overseas for 3 (three) continuous months or more refer to paragraphs 3.2 & 3.3. (All 

applicants).   

 

 A certificate of their current medical fitness to DVLA Group 2 standard. (See paragraph 3.4)  

 

 A  FULL UK or EU driving licence or legal equivalent (if an EU Licence a paper counterpart 

issued by DVLA must be obtained and produced with the application). (All applicants) 

 

 That the applicant is authorised to drive a vehicle of the same classification as that which the 

licence will allow them to drive. (All applicants) 

 

 That the applicant has a minimum of two year’s post qualification driving experience.  (Not 

required for licence renewals) 

 

 The applicant must have satisfactorily completed the Licensing Authority’s comprehension 

test.  (Not required for licence renewals) 

 

 In the case of applications for hackney carriage drivers, they have passed the Licensing 

Authority’s knowledge test. (Not required for licence renewals). 

 

 That the applicant has completed the Licensing Authority’s safeguarding awareness training. 

(New applicants and existing applicants prior to their next renewal). 

 

 The applicant has signed a declaration to confirm that they understand the Driver Code of 

Conduct forms part of the Licensing Authority’s Policy. (All applicants) 

 

3.2 It is the policy of the Licensing Authority that every applicant for a licence to drive a hackney carriage 

and/or private hire vehicle must produce evidence of a current and up to date Enhanced Disclosure 

and Barring Service (DBS) Check and evidence that they are not on a child and/or vulnerable adult 

barring list.  Applicants for a private hire vehicle operator licence, who do not hold a hackney 

carriage/private hire driver licence with this authority, will be required to present, at their expense, the 

result of a current and up to date Basic Disclosure & Barring Service Check.  Any enhanced or basic 

disclosure that is more than 1 month old will not be accepted (except for enhanced disclosures when 

used in conjunction with the update service and the disclosure was less than 1 month old when first 

presented for the purpose of obtaining a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence). 

 

3.3 Before an application can be made, if an applicant has spent three continuous months or more 

overseas the licensing authority will expect to see evidence of a criminal record check, certificate of 

good conduct or equivalent, obtained for the purpose of applying for a Hackney Carriage or Private 

Hire Vehicle Driver or Operator Licence with this council, from the country/countries covering the 

relevant period.   

Page 75



 

 

44 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

 Such criminal record checks/certificates of good conduct must be provided in accordance with the 

Home Office Document “Application processes for Foreign National Criminality Information”.  Any 

criminal record check must be translated into English by a recognised translation service provider that 

has been agreed by the Licensing Authority. 

 

3.4 All applicants making their first application must lodge a certified medical certificate.    A medical 

certificate will then be required every six years thereafter, unless an applicant’s condition warrants 

examination on a more regular basis.   

 

 An applicant aged 65 years or over must undergo the medical examination every year. 

 

 As recommended by the Medical Commission on Accident Prevention the authority requires licence 

holders to attain DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard. 

 

 Any fee charged by the Doctor is payable by the applicant.   

 

 A Medical Practitioner who has full knowledge of the applicant’s medical history must carry out the 

examination.   

 

Where the Medical Practitioner cannot carry out the eye test this part of the medical form must be 

completed and the form signed by an optician prior to the medical being carried out. 

 

 Medical certificate forms and further information can be obtained from the Licensing Section.   

 

 Any applicant who does not meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard can expect to have 

their application refused. 

 

 Licensed drivers who no longer meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard, either 

temporarily or permanently, must notify the Licensing Authority forthwith.  In such cases the driver can 

expect to have their licence either suspended or revoked.  Guidance on the DVLA Group 2 Vocational 

Licence Standards is available from the Licensing Authority. 

  

The Council will not normally accept a certified medical certificate submitted with an application, which 

is received more than 6 weeks after the Doctor has signed the report. 

 

3.5 Licensee self-reporting – Licence holders are required by this Authority to notify the Licensing Team 

within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 

involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence.  An arrest for any of the offences within 

this scope (with the exception of one-off minor traffic offences) will result in a review by this Authority 

as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to hold a licence.  This will not, however, be seen as 

a direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the Licensing Authority to consider what, if any, 

action in terms of the licence should be taken based on the balance of probabilities. 

 
4. Appeals 

 

4.1 Any applicant refused a driver’s licence has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days 

of the notice of refusal [Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976, s 77 (1)].  

 

Page 76



 

 

45 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

4.2 Any applicant refused an operator licence on the grounds that the licensing authority is not satisfied 

they are a fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the notice of refusal. 

 

4.3 Any licensee whose licence is suspended or revoked has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the notice of suspension or revocation.  Where suspension or revocation is 

immediate, on the grounds of public safety, the driver cannot continue to drive a hackney carriage or 

private hire vehicle during the period of appeal. 

 
5. Powers – Suspension, Revocation or Refusal to Renew a Licence. 

 

5.1 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the Licensing 

Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a hackney carriage /private hire driver licence if the 

applicant/licence holder has been convicted of: 

 

 An offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; or 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847; or 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

The Licensing Authority may also suspend, revoke or refuse to renew on the grounds of any other 

reasonable cause 

 

Where it is in the interests of public safety to suspend or revoke a licence that suspension or 

revocation can be with immediate effect provided that there are justifiable grounds to do so.  The 

driver will be given a notice of the suspension or revocation which will include a statement that the 

determination takes immediate effect along with an explanation as to why that is the case. 

 

5.2 Section 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the Licensing 

Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licence if the 

applicant/licence holder had been convicted of failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  The Licensing Authority may also act on any 

of the following grounds: 

 

 Conduct which appears to render them unfit to hold a licence;  

 Any material change in the circumstances of the operator; or 

 Any other reasonable cause. 

 

5.3 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, allows the licensing 

authority to take into account all convictions recorded against an applicant or the holder of a hackney 

carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence, whether spent or not. Therefore the licensing authority may 

have regard to all relevant convictions (as defined in this policy), particularly where there is a long 

history of offending or a pattern of repeat offending. However, before having regard to such a spent 

conviction the Licensing Authority will first consider whether the conviction is relevant to the licence 

application. 

 

5.4 In this policy the term “disqualification” refers to the period served, to take account of the fact that a 

period of disqualification from driving may be reduced upon the successful completion of a relevant 

Page 77



 

 

46 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

driver rehabilitation course.  An applicant must provide the Licensing Authority with sufficient evidence 

to prove that the period of disqualifications was so reduced. 

 
6. Consideration of disclosed criminal history 

 

6.1 Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

1976, the licensing authority is required to ensure that an applicant for the grant or renewal of a 

licence to drive a hackney carriage and/or a private hire vehicle and/or a private hire vehicle 

operator’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold such a licence. The Authority must not grant a 

licence unless it is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold it. 

 

 All conviction(s), criminal findings of guilt (including fixed penalty ticket(s)), caution(s) and warning(s), 

whether for motoring or other offences and County Court Judgment(s)/Order(s) (where the judgment 

or order relates to a debt or charge to another Hackney Carriage/Private Hire driver, owner or 

operator) may potentially be taken into account when deciding whether to grant a licence or on a 

review after the issue of a licence.  During the currency of a licence the licensee must immediately 

after the date of arrest, convictions, criminal findings of guilt (including fixed penalty notice(s)), 

caution(s) and/or warnings, advise the Licensing Authority of this information in writing. 

 

 The Licensing Authority will consider: 

  

 How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for (or licence being reviewed). 

 The seriousness of the offence(s). 

 When the offence(s) were committed. 

 The date of conviction. 

 Circumstances of the individual concerned 

 Sentence imposed by the court. 

 The applicant’s age at the time of conviction. 

 Whether they form part of a pattern of offending. 

 Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references). 

 Any other factors that might be relevant. 

 

6.2 Applicants for a first time licence can discuss what effect a caution/conviction or other sanction may 

have on any licence application by contacting the licensing office in confidence for advice. 

 

6.3 The licensing authority requires enhanced disclosures from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

from any applicant for a driver licence. The licensing authority follows the DBS’s Code of Practice on 

the fair use of disclosure information and abides by the DBS’s Policy on the secure storage, handling, 

use, retention and disposal of disclosure information. Both of these documents are available on 

request. 

 

6.4 Applicants applying for the grant or a renewal of a drivers’ licence and/or operator licence will be 

required to obtain an enhanced disclosure at their own expense.   

 

6.5 The licensing authority recommends applicants and licence holders to register for the DBS’s update 

service and to nominate the licensing authority to receive updates. All licensed drivers will be required 

to evidence continuous registration with the DBS update service to enable the Licensing Authority to 

Page 78



 

 

47 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

routinely check for new information every six months.  Drivers that do not subscribe to the Update 

Service will be subject to a DBS check every six months at their own expense. 

 

6.6 DBS certificates obtained for a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver Licence cannot be used for the 

purpose of obtaining a Lincolnshire County Council School Transport Badge (“Green Badge”) and 

vice versa.  DBS certificates obtained for any other purpose, including a Hackney Carriage/Private 

Hire Driver Licence with another Licensing Authority, cannot be used for the purpose of obtaining a 

licence with this Licensing Authority. A separate check is required for each authorisation.  However, 

applicants can register both/all checks with the DBS update service for a single fee.   

 

6.7 The licensing authority is also entitled to use other records and information that may be available to it 

in determining applications or an entitlement to continue holding a licence.  This may include 

information held by the licensing authority or other licensing authorities, and information disclosed by 

the police.   

 

6.8 It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false declaration or to deliberately 

omit any relevant material in submitting information required by the application for a licence. Where 

an applicant has made a false statement or a false declaration on their application for the grant or 

renewal of a licence, the licence may be refused or revoked. 

 

6.9 In the interests of public safety this Authority will not issue a licence to any individual that appears on 

either of the regulated activity barred lists – Activity with Children and Activity with Adults. 

 
7 Serious offences involving violence or resulting in death 

 

7.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line will be taken with those who 

have convictions for offences involving violence. Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted 

of a crime which resulted in the death of another person or was intended to cause the death or 

serious injury of another person they will not be licensed. 

 

7.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or connected with 

any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

7.3 Given the wide range of the offences that involve violence, consideration will be given to the nature 

and type of the conviction. 

 

7.4 A licence will not be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 

 

 Murder 

 Manslaughter 

 Any culpable homicide while driving 

 Terrorism offences 

 Arson 

 Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated 

 Grievous bodily harm with intent 

 Or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring any of 

the above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as serious 

as the above. 

Page 79



 

 

48 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.4 

should expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a 

licence until a minimum period of 10 years since convictions (or completion of sentence – whichever 

is longer) has elapsed.  

 

7.5 A licence will not be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence listed below and the 

conviction (or completion of sentence – whichever is longer) is less than 10 years prior to the date of 

application;  

 

 Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated.  

 Grievous bodily harm 

 Robbery. 

 Possession of a firearm. 

 Riot. 

 Assault of a Police Officer 

 Common assault which is racially aggravated 

 Violent disorder. 

 Resisting arrest. 

 Or any similar offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring 

any of the above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as 

serious as the above. 

 or any offence of attempting, committing, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or 

procuring any of the above offences or any offence that will replace the above or be 

considered as serious as the above. 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.5 

should expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a 

licence until a minimum period of 10 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) has 

elapsed. 

 

7.6 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence listed below 

and the conviction (or completion of sentence – whichever is longer) is less than 7 years prior to the 

date of application: 

 

 Racially-aggravated criminal damage.  

 Any other racially-aggravated offence.  

 Or any similar offence (including attempted or conspiring to commit), offences which replace 

the above.  

 or any offence of attempting, committing, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or 

procuring any of the above offences or any offence that will replace the above or be 

considered as serious as the above. 

 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.6 

should expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a 

licence until a minimum period of 10 years since conviction (or completion of sentence whichever is 

longer) has elapsed. 

Page 80



 

 

49 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

7.7 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence below and 

the conviction is less than 3 years prior to the date of application: 

 

 Common assault 

 Assault occasioning actual bodily harm  

 Affray 

 S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress) 

 S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence) 

 S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress) 

 Obstruction 

 Criminal damage 

 Or any similar offence (including attempting or conspiring to commit) offences which replace 

the above.  

 or any offence of attempting, committing, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or 

procuring any of the above offences or any offence that will replace the above or be 

considered as serious as the above. 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.7 

should expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a 

licence until a minimum period of 5 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer)  has 

elapsed. 

 

7.8 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction in the last 10 years 

for an offence of a violent nature. 

 

7.9 In the event of a licence being granted, a strict warning both verbally and in writing should be 

administered. 

 

7.10  Fixed Penalty Notices (Public Order Offence) – The Licensing Authority recognises that in some 

instance a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) may be issued for a public order offence rather the option of 

prosecution through the courts or acceptance of a caution.  A serious view will be taken of the 

existence of a FPN for a public order offence.  In certain circumstances where a FPN has been issued 

it may be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to issue a strong warning regarding future conduct 

rather than the refusal of a licence application or suspension/revocation of a licence.  The existence 

of more than one FPN will raise serious concerns regarding an individual’s suitability to act as a 

licensed driver. 

 
8. Possession of a weapon 

 

8.1 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon related 

offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of 

any sentence imposed. 

 

8.2 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of an offence involving a weapon(s) should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until 

a minimum period of 7 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) has elapsed. 

 

Page 81



 

 

50 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

9. Sexual and indecency offences and exploitation 

 

9.1 Licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, therefore applicants with 

convictions for sexual offences will normally be refused a licence. 

  

7.2 In particular, an application will be refused where the applicant has a conviction for sexual, indecency 

or exploitation offences listed below 

 

 Rape 

 Assault by penetration 

 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults 

 Sexual assault 

 Indecent assault 

 Exploitation of prostitution 

 Trafficking for sexual exploitation 

 Any offence involving child sexual exploitation and/or sexual exploitation of vulnerable adults 

 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc. 

 Any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of employment as a hackney 

carriage/private hire vehicle driver 

 Indecent exposure  

 Soliciting (kerb crawling)  

 Or any offence of attempting, committing, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or 

procuring any of the above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be 

considered as serious as the above. 

 

9.3 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of a sexual or indecency offence during the 

period of a licence should expect to have their licence revoked immediately.  They can expect not to 

be licensed again. 

 

9.4 In addition to the above the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who is currently 

on the Sex Offenders Register or on any Barred List. 

 

9.5 Exploitation – where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or 

has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective of 

whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed.  This includes slavery, 

child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not 

an exhaustive list. 

 

10. Discrimination 

 

10.1 Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any form, a licence 

will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 

imposed. 

 

10.2 A licence holder found guilty of a discrimination offence can expect to have their hackney carriage or 

private hire vehicle driver’s licence revoked immediately.  They can expect not to be licensed again 

until a period of at least seven years has elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

  

Page 82



 

 

51 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

11. Dishonesty 
 

11.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle drivers are expected to be persons of trust. The 

widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property, taking children to school and families on 

holiday, is indicative of the trust that people place in drivers. Moreover, it is comparatively easy for a 

dishonest driver to defraud the public by demanding more than the legal fare etc. Overseas visitors 

can be confused by the change in currency and become “fair game” for an unscrupulous driver. 

Similarly, any customer can be defrauded by a driver taking them by any other than the shortest route 

or by any lost property being kept by an unscrupulous driver. For these reasons a serious view should 

be taken of any conviction involving dishonesty.  

 

11.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a 

licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 

sentence imposed. 

  

11.3 A licensed hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of a dishonesty offence should 

expect to have their licence revoked and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a minimum 

period of 7 years after conviction (or completion of sentence if longer). 

 

  

Offences involving dishonesty include: 

 

 theft 

 burglary 

 fraud 

 benefit fraud 

 handling or receiving stolen goods 

 forgery 

 conspiracy to defraud 

 obtaining money or property by deception 

 other deception 

 taking a vehicle without consent 

 and any similar offences 

 Or any offences (including attempting, committing, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting 

or procuring such offence) or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as 

serious as the above. 

 

11.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a dishonesty 

offence. 

 
12.  Drugs 

 

12.1 A serious view will be taken of any drug related offence.  

 

12.2 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession with intent 

to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 

10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Page 83



 

 

52 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 Additional wording requested by the Sub-group:- 

 

 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical examination 

(in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required before an application is 

considered.  If the applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show evidence of 

at least 5 years free from drug taking after detoxification treatment. 

 

12.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession of drugs, a 

licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 

imposed.  In these circumstances, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period 

at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

 

12.4 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical examination 

(in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required before an application is 

considered.  If the applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show evidence of 

at least 5 years free from drug taking after detoxification treatment. 

 

12.5 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a drugs related 

offence. 

 

12.6 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of driving whilst under the influence of 

drugs, or found guilty of any drug-related offence should expect to have their drivers licence revoked 

immediately and be banned from holding such a licence with the Council for 10 years since conviction 

(or completion of sentence – whichever is longer). 

 
13. Driving offences involving the loss of life 

 

13.1 A very serious view will be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving offence that 

resulted in the loss of life. 

 

A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 

 

 Causing death by dangerous driving 

 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 

 Causing death driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers 

 or any similar offences 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences should expect to have 

their licence revoked immediately.  

 
14. Drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol 

 

14.1 In a motor vehicle - A serious view will be taken of convictions for driving or being in charge of a 

vehicle while under the influence of drink or drugs.  An isolated incident may not necessarily 

permanently bar an applicant but strict warnings should be given as to future behaviour. More than 

one conviction for such offences should give rise to serious doubts as to the applicant’s fitness to hold 

a licence.  

 

Page 84



 

 

53 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

14.2 At least 7 years should elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA driving licence) before an applicant is 

considered for a licence. If there is any suggestion that the applicant is alcohol dependent, a special 

medical examination should be arranged before the application is considered. If the applicant is found 

to be alcohol dependent, a period of 7 years should elapse after treatment is complete before an 

application/further licence application is considered. 

 

 A Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver found guilty of a drink-driving offence or found guilty of driving 

whilst under the influence of drugs should expect to have their drivers licence revoked immediately 

and not be considered for the grant of a licence until at least 7 years after restoration of the DVLA 

driving licence.  

 

14.3 With a licensed vehicle - A driver found guilty of a drink-driving offence or driving whilst under the 

influence of drugs whilst carrying passengers in a licensed vehicle should expect to have their driver’s 

licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a minimum period 

of 7 years after the restoration of the DVLA driving licence. 
 
15. Major Traffic Offences 

 

15.1 An isolated conviction for dangerous driving or driving without due care and attention or similar 

offences should normally merit a strong warning as to future driving and advice on the standard 

expected of hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers.  More than one conviction for this type of 

offence within the last two years should merit refusal and no further application should be considered 

until a period of 3 years free from convictions has elapsed.   

 

15.2 Similarly, a first conviction during the period of a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers licence 

will indicate that the driver may have ceased to be a fit and proper person and will lead to either a 

licence suspension or to a warning as to future conduct.  Where there are subsequent convictions 

revocation of the licence will be considered with no further application being considered until a period 

of 3 years from conviction has elapsed.    

 

15.3 Applicants/drivers who have been disqualified from driving due to major traffic offences (Not 

involving the loss of life) – Existing drivers can expect to have their licence revoked.  At least 3 

years should elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA Licence) before an individual is considered for 

a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver’s licence. 

 
16. Insurance offences (with a motor vehicle) 

  

16.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions for using, or causing or permitting the use of a motor 

vehicle without insurance.  An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily prevent a licence being 

granted provided the applicant has been free of conviction for at least 3 years.  However, a strict 

warning should be given as to future conduct.   

 

16.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for an insurance 

related offence.   

 

16.3 A licensed driver found guilty of driving passengers in a licensed vehicle without insurance should 

expect to have their hackney carriage or private hire vehicle driver licence revoked immediately and 

not be considered for another licence for at least 5 years. 

 

Page 85



 

 

54 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

16.4 An operator found guilty of causing or permitting the driving of passengers for hire and reward whilst 

without insurance will normally have his operator licence revoked and will not be considered for 

holding a licence for at least 5 years. 
 
17. Using a mobile phone whilst driving 

 

17.1 Applicants (and licence holders) should be aware of the serious risk posed by driving whilst using a 

mobile phone. There is a substantial body of which shows that drivers who use a mobile phone suffer 

physical and cognitive distraction which means they: 

 

• are much less aware of what's happening on the road around them 

• fail to see road signs 

• fail to maintain proper lane position and steady speed 

• are more likely to 'tailgate' the vehicle in front 

• react more slowly, take longer to brake and longer to stop 

• are more likely to enter unsafe gaps in traffic 

• feel more stressed and frustrated. 

 

17.2 There is evidence to show that drivers who use a mobile phone have slower reaction times than those 

who have consumed alcohol up to the legal limit.  In light of this a serious view should be taken of 

convictions for driving whilst using a mobile phone. 

 

17.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a hand-held mobile telephone or a hand-held device 

whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction 

or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the longer. 

 

17.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for an offence of 

driving whilst using a mobile phone and a licensed driver who is convicted can expect the suspension 

or revocation of their licence. 
 
18. Other Traffic Offences 
  

18.1 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 

carrying the public.  It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 

occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence.  However, applicants 

with multiple motoring offences may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a 

safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally. 
 

18.2 Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not take their 

professional responsibilities seriously.  However, it is accepted that offences can be committed 

unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not  necessitate the revocation 

of a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee 

remains a fit and proper person to retain a licence. 
  
 New Applicants 
 

18.3 Any conviction for other traffic offences, (e.g. obstruction, waiting in a restricted street, speeding etc) 

should not normally prevent a person from proceeding with an application.  However, the number, 

type and frequency of this kind of offence will be taken into account.  In certain instances it may be 

Page 86



 

 

55 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

appropriate to issue a licence together with a strong warning as to future driving standards. If a 

significant history of offences is disclosed, refusal of an application may result.  

 

18.4 New applicants who have received 9 or more DVLA penalty points (in respect of minor traffic 

offences) on their driving licence during the 12 months prior to the date of application may be refused.  

 

18.5 Applicants who have been disqualified from driving under the “totting-up” procedure will not normally 

be granted a licence unless they have held a licence for at least 2 years following the expiry period of 

the disqualification and can show a significant improvement in history of motoring offences during that 

period. 

 
 Existing Licence Holders 
 

18.6 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver receiving 6 or more penalty points during any 3 year 

period will be issued with a written warning as to future conduct. 
 

18.7 Any current driver disqualified from holding a DVLA licence under the “totting-up” procedure should 

expect to have their hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence revoked.  At least 3 years 

should then elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA licence) before they are  considered for a 

licence and then a licence should only be granted if they can show a significant improvement in a 

history of motoring offences during that period. 

 

18.8 In the case of an existing hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver where the “totting-up” 

disqualification of a DVLA licence is considered by the court, even if the court does not disqualify, the 

Council is likely to revoke the hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence.  At least 3 years 

should elapse either after the date of consideration by the court or restoration of the DVLA licence, 

whichever is the longer, before the individual is considered for a licence. 

 

18.9 In the case of an existing hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver, who show a pattern of driving 

endorsements, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to require such a driver to successfully 

undergo the Taxi and Private Hire Driving Assessment provided by the Lincolnshire Road Safety 

Partnership and attain a low risk assessment (or other assessment by a similar body approved by the 

Licensing Authority). 

 

18.10 Any driver who receives a short period disqualification can expect to receive a warning regarding 

future conduct and may also be required to attend the Taxi and Private Hire Driving Assessment 

provided by the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership and attain a low risk assessment (or other 

assessment by a similar body approved by the Licensing Authority).  In cases where the drivers 

licence is already endorsed with penalty points the driver can expect their licence to be suspended 

along with a requirement to attend an assessment course.  In cases where there is a pattern of 

offences the driver can expect their licence to be revoked and not be considered for another licence 

for at least 3 years. 

 
19. Drunkenness (Not in a Motor Vehicle) 

 

19.1 A single conviction for drunkenness need not debar an applicant from gaining a licence. However, a 

number of convictions for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem necessitating critical 

examination.   In some cases, a warning may be sufficient. 

 

Page 87



 

 

56 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

19.2 In cases of severe alcohol abuse, a period of 5 years after the last conviction must elapse before an 

application is considered and then only after examination by a consultant with a special interest in 

such cases with confirmation being provided of satisfactory liver enzyme tests and mean cell volume 

(MCV). 

 
20.  Licensing offences 

 

20.1  One of the main purposes of the licensing regime is to ensure the protection of the public.  For this 

reason a serious view is taken of convictions for offences, or a possible pattern of unlawful behaviour, 

under the hackney carriage and private hire licensing regime. 
 

20.2 Certain offences under hackney carriage legislation such as plying for hire without a hackney carriage 

licence, overcharging and refusing to carry disabled persons would normally  result in refusal to grant 

or renew a licence  until a period of at least 3 years has passed since conviction. A licensed driver 

with such a conviction can expect their licence to be revoked and not be considered for another 

licence for at least 3 years. 
 

20.3 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a licensing 

related offence, or in the case of an existing licence holder, suspension or revocation can be 

expected. 
 
21. Smokefree – Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles 

 

21.1 Any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver who receives a first fixed penalty notice or fine for 

smoking in a licensed vehicle will be issued with a warning as regards to future conduct. 
 

21.2 Any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver receiving two or more fixed penalty notices or fines 

during any three year period for smoking in a licensed vehicle will be reported to a sub-committee of 

the Regulatory & Appeals Committee who may consider suspension or revocation of their driver 

licence(s). 
 
22. Perverting or attempting to pervert or conspiring to pervert the Course of Justice 

 

22.1 At least 3 years should elapse since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) before an 

applicant is considered for a licence. 
 

22.2 A licence holder found guilty of such an offence should expect to have their licence revoked and not 

be re-considered for a licence until a minimum period of 5 years has elapsed since conviction (or 

completion of sentence if longer). 
 
23. Immigration Offences 
 

23.1 Where a licence holder has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an immigration 

offence, the licence will be revoked by this Authority. 
 

23.2 Similarly, any licence applicant who has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an 

immigration offence, is unlikely to be granted a licence by this Authority.  
 
 

Page 88



 

 

57 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

24. Outstanding charges or summonses 

 

24.1 If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their application can be 

processed, but the application will be reviewed at the conclusion of any outstanding proceedings. 

However, if the outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence then in the interests of 

public safety the application may be put on hold until proceedings are concluded or the licence may 

be refused.  

 
25. Non-conviction information 

 

25.1 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not convicted, for a 

serious offence which suggests they could be a danger to the public, consideration should be given to 

refusing the application.  

 

25.2 In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public shall be the paramount concern. 

 
26. Once a licence has been granted 

 

26.1 If a licence holder’s conduct is such that, were they to be applying for a new licence their application 

would normally be refused, they should expect consideration to be given as to the suspension or 

revocation of their licence. 

 

26.2 Unless otherwise stated, all of the preceding contents of this policy document apply equally to current 

hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers as they do to licence applicants  

 
27. Licences issued by other licensing authorities 

 

27.1 Applicants who already hold a licence with another licensing authority should not assume that a 

similar application will be granted by this Authority. Each case will be decided on its own merits.  

 

27.2 Licensees who are licensed by multiple Licensing Authorities are expected to inform each of them that 

they hold licences elsewhere and which Authorities have granted licences to them.  When applying for 

a licence or during the currency of a licence they should inform this Council if another Authority has 

refused, revoked or suspended a licence and advise each Authority of any changes in their 

circumstances; such licence holders should expect those Authorities to share information regarding 

their conduct and to take it into account as appropriate.  Any personal data collected in this way is 

shared with other Authorities for the purposes of the protection of the public and all licensees 

 consent to their data being used for that purpose. 
 
28. Conclusion 

 

28.1 To conclude, a criminal history in itself may not automatically result in refusal of a licence and a 

current conviction for a serious crime need not bar an applicant permanently from becoming licensed. 

As the preceding paragraphs indicate, in most cases, an applicant will be expected to remain free 

from conviction for between 3 to 10 years, according to circumstances, before an application can be 

considered.  However, there may be occasions when an application can be allowed before 3 years 

free from conviction have elapsed.   

 

Page 89



 

 

58 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

28.2 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, individually, would not 

prevent them from being licensed, the overall offending history will be considered when assessing an 

applicant’s suitability to be licensed. A series of offences over a period of time is more likely to give 

cause for concern than an isolated minor conviction. Obviously some discretion may be afforded if an 

offence is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is the 

protection of the public.  This consideration is vital because hackney carriage/private hire licence 

holders have unprecedented access to the public and are in a position to exercise control over 

individuals including children and vulnerable adults. 

 

28.3 The Council generally considers that offences committed by licensed hackney carriage/private hire 

vehicle drivers should be considered more seriously than offences committed by individuals who are 

not licensed. This is because current licensees have previously been judged as fit and proper and are 

aware of the standards required of them and are expected to maintain those high standards of 

personal conduct. 

 

28.4 Whilst officers and the committee will have regard to the guidelines contained in the policy, each case 

will be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, the 

committee/officer may depart from the guidelines. 

 
29. Review of Policy 

 

29.1 This Policy Statement will remain in existence until superseded and will be subject to review and 

further consultation before the end of 2027.  However, following consultation, the Council may make 

revisions to it as deemed necessary before the 2027 date. 

 

 

These policy guidelines were last revised and updated in March 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

59 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 APPENDIX H 

 

 

DRIVER KNOWLEDGE TEST 
 

 

Full details of the procedures of application for a driver licence are set out in Section 3 (Applications) earlier in 

this guide. This appendix is simply to set out in more detail what will be expected of applicants during the 

actual test. 
 

The test is in three parts as follows:- 
 

 

1. KNOWLEDGE OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE LEGISLATION AND BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL'S 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 This will consist of 6 written questions on the above legislation as it relates to Hackney Carriage work.  

The questions are set out below and are taken from information given in this Guide. 
 

 (a) What are your duties when passengers are entering or leaving your taxi? 
 

 (b) What are your duties when passengers are carrying luggage? 
 

 (c) When must you display your licensed driver’s badge? 
 

 (d) When hired and driving a passenger to a particular destination which route must you take? 
 

 (e) Whilst plying for hire in a Hackney Carriage licensed to carry 4 passengers, you are asked to 

carry 3 adults and 2 babies.  Does the law allow you to carry all the group? 
 

 (f) Whilst at a Hackney Carriage Stand when should you NOT take a fare? 
 

YOU MUST ANSWER ALL THE ABOVE QUESTIONS CORRECTLY. 
 

2. TOPOGRAPHICAL KNOWLEDGE OF THE AREA COVERED BY BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 The following 2 parts of the test will take the form of a written multiple choice questionnaire. 
 

 (a) The applicant will be required to demonstrate their knowledge of the shortest (not the fastest) 

practicable route between two points. 
 

  THE APPLICANT WILL BE ASKED TWO QUESTIONS IN THIS SECTION BOTH OF WHICH 

MUST BE ANSWERED CORRECTLY. 
 

  Both journeys will begin at one of the Taxi Ranks situate in the Borough. 

 

 (b) The applicant will be asked to locate 20 places in the Boston Borough Council area. 
 

  17 OR MORE OF THE PLACES MUST BE IDENTIFIED CORRECTLY. 
 

  Examples of the places applicants may be asked include the following: 

  Supermarkets Public Buildings 

Page 91



 

 

60 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

  Public Houses Schools 

  Social Clubs Places of Interest 

  Sports Centres Arts & Entertainment Centres 

  Residential Areas Hospitals and Health Centres 
 

 
 

APPLICANTS WILL BE ALLOWED NO MORE THAN 45 MINUTES TO COMPLETE THE WRITTEN 
SECTIONS OF THE TEST 
 

All new applicants must undertake the Council’s Basic English and Maths test for a Hackney Carriage or 

Private Hire Driver Licence. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 

 

61 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

       APPENDIX I 
      (Adopted 9 June 2015) 

 

CODE OF CONDUCT  

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers (referred to in this document as drivers) are in 
a position of trust in respect of the safety and welfare of their passengers. The Licensing 
Authority, through its licensing team and committee, has to ensure that all drivers are ‘fit 
and proper’ to undertake their work as drivers and that they also act as ambassadors for 
the district. It is essential that the council and drivers work together in order to ensure 
members of the public are treated with dignity and respect, including reporting any 
concerns. 
 
On occasions, drivers may become aware of, or have suspicions that, a passenger may 
be the victim of abuse, neglect or exploitation either sexual or otherwise, or at risk of 
becoming a victim.  In addition, drivers themselves may be accused of misconduct or 
inappropriate behaviour through the misinterpretation of the driver’s actions or 
conversation. 
 

Therefore, Boston Borough Council has introduced this Code of Conduct which is aimed 
at providing the best possible service by protecting both passengers and drivers. This 
code ensures that concerns, suspicions of abuse, neglect or exploitation can be reported 
appropriately and minimise the risk of misunderstandings.   
 
Drivers are expected to comply with this Code of Conduct. Failure to do so may result in 
the driver being referred to the Regulatory and Appeals Committee to explain the 
circumstances surrounding any incident.  In the event of a repeated and/or serious failure 
to comply, drivers can expect that consideration will be given to the suspension or 
revocation of their licence. 
 
It should be noted that the code does not over-ride any legislative requirements, licence 
conditions or contractual obligations, such as County Council contracts under the Green 
Badge scheme. 
 

Drivers should: 

 Act in a professional manner at all times 

 Treat passengers and other road users with respect 

 Keep relationships with passengers on an appropriate, professional basis 

 Respect all individuals – regardless of age, disability, gender, sexual orientation, 
gender reassignment, religion/belief, language spoken, race or ethnicity, 
pregnancy/maternity and marriage/civil partnership. 

 

And be aware of: 

 The safety and well-being of passengers being paramount 

 The importance of the use of appropriate language 

 The vulnerability of children and persons with special needs. 

 Any instruction given about the care or first aid requirements of a passenger 

 Possible caution required when dealing with passengers in distress  

Page 93



 

 

62 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 Personal beliefs and standards, including dress and religion 

 Passengers misreading situations 

 The use of social networking sites such as Facebook and Twitter. These are public 
websites and therefore passengers conveyed may access a driver’s site. Ensure 
you use the appropriate privacy settings to avoid passengers viewing your social 
media sites 

 

Drivers should never: 

 Become over-friendly or unprofessional in any way with passengers or engage in 
any form of inappropriate relationship, infatuation or show favouritism. 

 Make physical contact with a passenger, unless in an emergency situation, or if 
required to do so because of the additional needs of the passenger. 

 Administer medication unless a specific request has been made by the hirer. 

 Photograph or video passengers in your care unless used in compliance with data 
protection legislation and any relevant codes of practice issued by the Home Office 
or Information Commissioner’s Office. 

 Engage with passengers who are children or vulnerable adults through social 
networking sites (such as Facebook and Twitter), instant messengers or any other 
online communication software such as mobile phone applications or video games 

 Phone or send text messages to passengers other than directly concerning the 
hiring of your vehicle 

 Swear at/in front of passengers or make personal/humiliating comments at/in front 
of passengers or tell inappropriate jokes to passengers 

 Offer sweets, cigarettes or gifts of any sort. 

 Stop anywhere other than the specified pick up/drop off points unless requested by 
the hirer. 

 Show passengers inappropriate videos or pictures on your mobile phone or any 
other electronic device. 

 Make inappropriate comments about other drivers, proprietors or operators to other 
persons either verbally, on social media or otherwise. 

 

Safeguarding: 

If a driver has concerns or suspects abuse, neglect or exploitation of a passenger then 
these should not be ignored.  If there are any suspicions or concerns about the way 
someone is being treated it is important to report it to the appropriate authority. The 
safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults is everybody’s responsibility. Remember 
that your information could help a vulnerable child or adult. 
 
If a driver is working under a Lincolnshire County Council contract then those procedures 
set out in the Driver and Passenger Assistant Pack should be followed alongside any 
training received by the driver. 
 
Otherwise, the following procedures should be complied with in reporting any information 
or suspicions you may have of anyone being subject to abuse, neglect or exploitation: 
 

 

 

Page 94



 

 

63 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

Action to be taken if you have concerns: 

 If your concerns are of an urgent matter or you believe that a crime has been 

committed and there is an immediate risk of danger, telephone the police on 999 or 

112 

 

 If you are suspicious or are concerned that a child or an adult is suffering or is likely 
to suffer significant harm, including any form of mistreatment, abuse, neglect or 
exploitation but it is not of an urgent nature, please call the Lincolnshire 

Safeguarding Customer Service Centre on 01522 782111 for children or 01522 

782155 for adults 
 

 If you would prefer to speak to the police on a non-urgent matter then call them on 

101 and follow the directions for Lincolnshire Police 

 

 

 

Page 95



 

 

64 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX J 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 

CONDITIONS IN RESPECT OF DRIVING HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES 

 

1. Driver's Badge 

 

(a) When driving a Hackney Carriage Vehicle the driver is required to display the badge issued 

by the Council in such a position and manner to be plainly and distinctly visible to the 

passengers. 

 

(b) The badge (which remains the property of the Council) must be returned to the Council, either 

at the termination of this licence or when moving from the Borough and ceasing to be a 

Hackney Carriage Driver. 

 

(c) If a driver's badge and/or licence is misplaced or lost the driver must notify the Council 

immediately. 

 

2. Change of Address or Employer 

 

The driver must notify the Council in writing of any change of their address or employer during the 

period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. 

 

3. Conduct of Driver 

 

The driver shall at the request of any authorised Officer of the Council or any Constable produce for 

inspection their official driver's licence forthwith or; 

 

(a) In the case of a request by any authorised Officer, before the expiration of the period of five 

days beginning with the day following that on which the request was made at the above 

address; 

 

(b) In the case of a request by a Constable before the expiration of the period aforesaid at any 

Police Station which is within the Borough and is nominated by the driver when the request is 

made. 

 

4. Hackney Carriage Byelaws 

 

The driver shall comply at all times with the Byelaws made by the Council under Section 68 of the 

Town Police Clauses Act, 1847 and Section 171 of the Public Health Act, 1875, and on no occasion 

shall charge any fares in excess of those authorised by the Council.  The current fare scale is 

available for inspection at the Municipal Buildings and must be displayed in every Hackney Carriage. 

Page 96



 

 

65 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER - CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 

 

1. Change of Address or Employer 

 

The driver must notify the Council in writing of any change of their address or employer during the 

period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. 

 

2. Driver's Badge 

 

(a) When driving a Private Hire Vehicle the driver is required to attach the badge issued by the 

Council to their jacket or similar garment, in such position and manner to be plainly and 

distinctly visible to the passengers. 

 

(b) The badge (which remains the property of the Council) must be returned to the Council, either 

at the termination of this licence or when moving from the Borough and ceasing to be a 

Private Hire Driver. 

 

(c) If a driver's badge and/or licence is misplaced or lost the driver must notify the Council 

immediately. 

 

3. Conduct of Driver 

 

The driver shall:- 

 

(a) Afford all reasonable assistance with passengers' luggage. 

 

(b) At all times be clean and respectable in their dress and person and behave in a civil and 

orderly manner. 

 

(c) Take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or 

alighting from the vehicle driven by them. 

 

(d) Not without the express consent of the hirer, drink or eat in the vehicle. 

 

(e) Not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or sound reproducing instrument 

or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending or receiving messages in 

connection with the operation of the vehicle. 

 

(f) At no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously mentioned 

equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any 

person, whether inside or outside the vehicle. 

 

(g) Not to tout or solicit or cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit in any public place 

any person to hire or be carried for hire in any Private Hire Vehicle nor proceed along the 

highway for the purpose of plying for hire. 

 

(h) The driver shall at the request of any authorised Officer of the Council or any Constable 

produce for inspection their official driver's licence forthwith or; 

 

Page 97



 

 

66 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

(i) In the case of a request by an authorised Officer, before the expiration of the period 

of five days beginning with the day following that on which the request was made at 

the above address; 

 

(ii)  In the case of a request by a Constable before the expiration of the period aforesaid 

at any Police Station which is within the Borough and is nominated by the driver when the 

request is made. 

 

(i) The driver of a private hire vehicle shall not without reasonable cause unnecessarily 

 prolong in distance or in time, the journey for which the private hire vehicle has been 

 hired. 

 

4. Passengers 

 

(a) The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of 

persons than that indicated on the licence plate issued by the Council of any licensed vehicle 

being driven by them or in their charge. 

 

(b) The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or permit to be 

conveyed any other person in that vehicle. 

 

5. Lost Property 

 

(a) The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a Private Hire Vehicle or as 

soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 

been accidentally left there. 

 

(b) If any property accidentally left in a Private Hire Vehicle by any person who may have been 

conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, he shall take it as soon as possible and 

in any event within 24 hours to a convenient Police Station and leave it in the custody of the 

Officer in charge on their giving a receipt for it. 

 

6. Written Receipts 

 

The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle provide them with a written receipt 

for the fare paid. 

 

7. Guide, Hearing or Prescribed Assistance Dog and other Animals 

 

The driver shall not convey in a Private Hire Vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody of them 

or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle. 

 

If the private hire vehicle being driven by the driver has been hired: 

 

(a) by or for a disabled person with their guide, hearing or prescribed assistance dog; or 

 

(b) by a person who will be accompanied in the private hire vehicle by such a disabled person;  

 

they must: 

Page 98



 

 

67 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

(a) carry the disabled passenger’s dog and allow it to remain with the passenger; and 

 

(b) not make any additional charge for doing so. 

 

Any driver with a medical reason for not complying with this condition must obtain a medical certificate 

from their registered medical practitioner to exempt them from this condition and lodged the 

aforementioned certificate with the Council. Any payment for such a certificate will be paid by the 

licence holder. 

 

Any animal belonging to or in the custody of any passenger which in the driver's discretion may be 

conveyed in the vehicle shall only be conveyed in the rear of the vehicle.   

 

At the termination of any such hiring the driver will ensure that the seat occupied is cleared of all 

fur/hair before accepting another fare. 

 

8. Prompt Attendance 

 

The driver of a Private Hire Vehicle shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been hired to be in 

attendance at an appointed time and place or he has otherwise been instructed by the operator or 

proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance at an appointed time and place, punctually attend at that 

appointed time and place, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 

 

If for any reason whatsoever the driver is unable to attend at the appointed time and place, he shall 

take immediate steps to report their circumstances to the proprietor or operator of the vehicle to 

enable alternative arrangements to be made. 

 

9. Taximeter 

 

If a Private Hire Vehicle being driven by the driver is fitted with a taximeter, the driver shall not cause 

the fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable 

opportunity of examining it and has paid the fair (unless credit is to be given). 

 

10. Fare to be Demanded 

 

The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle a fare in excess of any previously 

agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and 

there has been no previous agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter. 

 

11. Convictions 

 

The driver shall notify the Council in writing of any conviction/cautions/fixed penalty tickets, imposed 

upon them during the period of the licence within seven days thereof including the date, the Court, the 

offence and the penalty. 

                                                                                                                                                                            

March 2009 
                    

Page 99



 

 

68 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX K 
 

CONDITIONS – HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCES 
 

1. The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall report to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable, or in 

any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of any accident to such Hackney Carriage causing damage 

materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the Hackney Carriage or the conduct or 

convenience of persons carried therein. 

 

2. Every Hackney Carriage (together with the taximeter therein) licensed by the Council must be inspected 

on at least two separate occasions in every 12 months.  The inspections will be carried out by a certified 

MOT garage within the Borough of Boston and the proprietor is responsible for the making of 

arrangements for such inspections.  The first inspection should be made in the fifth month following the 

date of the licence and the second immediately prior to the renewal of the licence.  On the introduction 

(under Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976) of a revised maximum 

Hackney Carriage fare structure the Council shall require all taxi meters which have been recalibrated to 

that fare structure, to be tested for accuracy and sealed by a suitably trained auto electrician. 

 

3. Upon the grant or renewal of a Hackney Carriage vehicle licence the applicant shall notify the local 

authority in writing of the fare structure to be adopted in respect of the vehicle and within 7 days of any 

change thereof, of the revised structure.  Provided always that any fare structure may not exceed the 

maximum fare structure determined by the Council pursuant to Section 65 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

4. The Hackney Carriage shall not be used before the identity plate, issued by the Council, has been affixed 

to the rear of the vehicle, in a conspicuous position, to the satisfaction of the Council. 

 

5. The proprietor of the Hackney Carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle any 

greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the plate affixed to the rear of the 

vehicle. 

 

6. The proprietor of the vehicle shall return the identity plate within seven days of the expiration, suspension 

or revocation of a Hackney Carriage Licence - failing which they shall be guilty of an offence and liable to 

a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale and to a daily fine not exceeding £10. 

 

7. A current list of fares approved by the Council must be exhibited in the Hackney Carriage in such a 

position as to be clearly readable by the passengers. 

 

8. The proprietor of the vehicle shall cause to be affixed to the roof of the vehicle, a roof sign which shall be 

capable of being illuminated and such sign shall be illuminated when the vehicle is plying or standing for 

hire, but not otherwise.  The roof sign must prominently display the word “TAXI” or “HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE” to the front of the vehicle and the lettering must be at least 4cm in size and be of a neat and 

consistent standard.  The minimum size of lettering will not relate to those vehicles which meet the 

metropolitan Conditions of Fitness. 

 

9. The Hackney Carriage hereby licensed shall display no advertisement unless its size, colour and subject 

matter and its position on the vehicle has first been approved in writing by the Council.  A draft copy of 

the advertisement must be firstly submitted for approval.  All advertisements on the exterior of the vehicle 

are restricted to being displayed on the side doors of the vehicle.  Any  

Page 100



 

 

69 
 

A Guide for Hackney Carriage Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

  advertising on the interior of the vehicle must not be easily visible from outside and any advertising on the 

vehicle windows is not permitted. 

  

  Advertisements and signage displayed in or on the vehicle must not discriminate against any person or 

group of persons on the grounds of age, gender, disability, race, religion or sexual orientation and should 

not cause offence to a reasonable member of the general public.  Advertisements or signage must not 

refer to tobacco, smoking materials or alcohol products unless as part of a health education or similar 

campaign.  Furthermore, any advertisement or signage should not contain anything of a political nature.  

Advertisements and signage must be of a neat and consistent standard and be of such a form as not to 

be easily soiled.  The proprietor shall ensure that any advertisement or signage carried on the vehicle is 

not disfigured or damaged and shall immediately remove any advertisement or signage that has become 

damaged or disfigured.  All advertisements should comply with the British Code of Advertising issued by 

the Advertising Standards Agency (ASA). 

 

10. A fire extinguisher in proper working order shall be securely fixed to the vehicle in such a position as to be 

readily available for use.  The extinguisher shall be indelibly and clearly marked with the vehicle plate 

number (issued in respect of the vehicle). 

 

11. The vehicle and all of its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is in use or available for 

hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition. 

 

12. The Byelaws for the time being in force in the District of Boston Borough Council with respect of Hackney 

Carriages and drivers shall apply to this licence and are incorporated as if they were set out in full as 

conditions of this licence.   

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 101



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS, 

PROPRIETORS & OPERATORS 

POLICY & GUIDANCE 

 

 

March 2022 v.5.0 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 102



                                                                                                                                  

                         

Page 103



                                                                                                                                  

                         

CONTENTS 

 
1. General Matters 
 1.1 Introduction 

 1.2 Correspondence, forms of application etc 

 1.3 Driver’s badge 

 1.4 Lost or stolen driver’s badge/vehicle licence 

 1.5 Lost or stolen vehicle plate 

 1.6 Boston Borough Council area 

 1.7 Whistleblowing 

 1.8 Multi-agency safeguarding hub 

 1.9 Policy review  

 
2. Applications 
 2.1 Fees & charges 

 2.2 Forms of application etc. 

 2.3 Licence renewal reminders 

 2.4 Identity of applicants 

 2.5 Production of UK/EU driving licences 

 2.6 Basic English and mathematics test 

 2.7 Hackney carriage knowledge test 

 2.8 Medical examinations 

 2.9 Private hire vehicle operator’s licence 

 2.10 Convictions 

 2.11 Code of conduct 

 2.12 Non-disclosure or misrepresentations 

 2.13 Referrals to the Disclosure & Barring Services and the Police 

 2.14 National Register of Refusals and Revocations (NR3) 

 2.15 HMRC Tax Conditionality 

 2.16 Appeals 

 
3. Instructions for Private Hire Operators, Drivers and Proprietors 
 3.1 The advance booking of private hire vehicles and illegal plying for hire 

 3.2 Operator licences 

 3.3 Annual Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check for Private Hire Operators 

 3.4 Suspension and revocation of operator licences 

 3.5 Responsibility for Hirings 

 3.6 Record keeping 

 3.7 Booking and Dispatch Staff 

 3.8 Policy on Employing Ex-Offenders 

 3.9 Use of Passenger Carrying Vehicles (PSV) Licensed Drivers 

 3.10 Operator Licence Renewal Application – DBS Check 

 3.11 Fare to be demanded 

 3.12 Charging separate fares 

 3.13 Drivers of licensed vehicles must be licensed 

 3.14 Driver badges 

Page 104



                                                                                                                                  

                         

 3.15 Driver licences 

 3.16 Production of licences 

 3.17 Obstruction of officers 

 3.18 Prolongation of journeys 

 3.19 Suspension and revocation of driver licences 

 3.20 Suspension and Revocation of Drivers Licences – Immigration Offences 

 3.21 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences – New evidence 

 3.22 Licensee self-reporting 

 3.23 Seatbelts – private hire drivers 

 3.24 Vehicle licences 

 3.25 Funerals and weddings 

 3.26 Accidents and damage to vehicles 

 3.27 Advertisements and signs on vehicles 

 3.28 Identification plates on vehicles 

 3.29 Vehicle insurance 

 3.30 Transfer of ownership of vehicles 

 3.31 Suspension and revocation of vehicle licences 

 3.32 Type of vehicles to be licensed 

 3.33 Testing of vehicles 

 3.34 Taximeters in private hire vehicles 

 3.35 Vehicle fitness spot checks 

 3.36 Rights of Appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

 
4. Regulatory & Appeals Committee 
 
APPENDIX A 

 
Dimensions and ability of vehicles to be licensed as private hire vehicles 

 
APPENDIX B 

 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Policy 

 
APPENDIX C 

 
Guidance for HC/PH Drivers and proprietors permitting authorised trailers 

 

APPENDIX D 

 
Vehicle Test Arrangements 

 
APPENDIX E 

 
Private hire vehicle test – requirements in addition to the MOT test for Class IV vehicles 

 

Page 105



                                                                                                                                  

                         

APPENDIX F 
 
Disclosure & Barring Service – applicants for hackney carriage and private hire vehicle driver licences 

  

APPENDIX G 
 

Policy & Guidelines relating to the Relevance of Convictions for Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers and 

Operators 

 

APPENDIX H 
 

Code of Conduct 

 

APPENDIX I 
 

Private Hire Operators Licence Conditions 

 

APPENDIX J 
 

Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions  

 

APPENDIX K 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence Conditions 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 106



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

6  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

1. GENERAL MATTERS 

 

1.1 Introduction 

 

In Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, as amended by Part II of 

Schedule 5 of the Transport Act, 1980, and the Transport Act, 1985, a HIRE CAR is defined as:- 

 

"a motor vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer than nine passengers, other than a Hackney 

Carriage or public service vehicle, which is provided for hire with the services of a driver for the purpose 

of carrying passengers." 
 

This guide is intended to advise and assist applicants and licence holders on the law relating to the 

operation of hire cars and to the administrative procedures involved in the application for a licence. The 

guide is not exhaustive and reference should also be made to the following legislation:- 
 

 Legislation       Abbreviation 

 Town Police Clauses Act, 1847     TPCA 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976   LG (MP) A 

 Transport Act, 1985       TA 

                                         

 N.B. Where relevant, in the guide, the source of the law is given in the above abbreviated form. 

              Copies of the conditions attached to licences are printed on the licences and in this guide. 
 

1.2 Correspondence, Forms of Application, etc. 

All correspondence should be addressed to - and all forms for an application are available from - the 

Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston. PE21 8QR. 
 

1.3 Drivers Badge 

Photographs for a driver’s badge must be a true likeness, in colour, showing the full face, with no hat, 

helmet or sunglasses and be taken against a light background. 
 

1.4 Lost or Stolen Driver's Badge/ Vehicle Licence 

 This should be reported immediately to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, 

 Boston. PE21 8QR.  Upon receipt of a fee a duplicate badge or Licence can be issued. 
 

1.5 Lost or Stolen Vehicle Plate 

 This should be reported immediately to the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, 

 Boston. PE21 8QR.  Upon receipt of a plate charge, a new plate will be issued. 
 

1.6 Boston Borough Council Area 

 The Boston Borough Council area consists of:- Algarkirk, Amber Hill, Benington, Bicker, Boston, 

 Brothertoft, Butterwick, Fishtoft, Fosdyke, Frampton, Freiston, Holland Fen, Kirton, Leverton, Old 

 Leake, Sutterton, Swineshead, Wigtoft, Wrangle and Wyberton. 

 
1.7 Whistleblowing 

This Council has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy and has internal procedures in place for licensing staff 

to raise concerns if they feel that licensing policies and requirements are not being correctly applied and 

implemented.  The Whistleblowing Policy applies to all employees and officers of the organisation.  Other 

individuals performing functions in relation to the organisation, such as secondees, external contractors 

and agency employees, whilst they are at the council, are also encouraged to use the policy. 

Page 107



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

7  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

This Authority recognises that if a worker is aware of, and has access to, effective internal procedures for 

raising concerns then whistleblowing is unlikely to be needed. 

 

Copies of the Council’s whistleblowing procedure is available on request by emailing: 

licensing@boston.gov.uk 

 

1.8 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

This Council has a range of statutory duties to carry out in relation to safeguarding and promoting the 

wellbeing of individuals and communities. The Safeguarding Policy and Procedures has been written to 

support the Council in protecting those who need safeguarding by providing a reference point and 

guidance for staff, elected members, volunteers, key contractors, consultants and directly commissioned 

providers acting on behalf of the Council. It seeks to provide practical guidance to ensure that the 

Council plays its full part in safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of individuals and communities at 

all times. The Policy and procedures are available on the Council’s internal Intranet. 

 

Copies of the Council’s Safeguarding policy and procedures are available on request by emailing: 

licensing@boston.gov.uk 

 
1.9 Policy Review 

This Policy will be reviewed every five years from the date of adoption.  However, following consultation, 

the Council may make revisions to it as deemed necessary. 

 

2. APPLICATIONS 

 
2.1 Fees and Charges 

All fees and charges are payable in advance.  Details of all current fees and charges are available from 

the Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR or via the council’s website at 

www.boston.gov.uk. Cheques and postal orders should be made payable to Boston Borough Council.  

Any licence issued on payment by a cheque, which is not honoured by the Bank will be invalid.  You are 

advised to obtain an official receipt for all monies paid. 
 

Where an applicant is refused a licence, the fee previously paid for the licence is refunded, unless the 

applicant appeals against refusal.  If any appeal succeeds the fee will be taken; if the appeal fails the fee 

will be refunded LESS any costs which have been awarded by the Court. (NB any fee paid in connection 

with a Medical Certificate or Criminal Record Disclosure is NOT refundable.) 

 
2.2 Forms of Application, etc. 

 All forms are available from the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston. 
 

2.3 Licence Renewal Reminders 

All licence holders will normally be sent a reminder and the necessary forms of renewal approximately 

two months in advance of the expiry of a licence.   

 
Please note, however, that the responsibility for renewal rests with the licence holder.  Reminders 
are sent purely as a courtesy. 

 

When submitting an application for renewal of a Private Hire Driver Licence, applicants should note that a 

new driver licence will not be issued until all the necessary checks have been completed.  The Council, 

Page 108

mailto:licensing@boston.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@boston.gov.uk
http://www.boston.gov.uk/


                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

8  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

therefore, recommends that all applicants submit renewals in respect of Drivers licences at least 21 

working days before the expiry of the current licence. 
 

2.4 Identity of Applicants 

The Council will make every effort to confirm the identity of all applicants.  Verification of identity, date of 

birth, address and any change of name will be obtained. A right to work check will be undertaken at the 

time a licence is applied for or on renewal application for existing drivers who have not previously had a 

right to work check. A further right to work check will be undertaken during the currency of a licence 

where the licensee has a time limited right to work in the UK.  A copy of the identification used to verify 

the right to work check will be taken and retained for the period that you are a licensed driver and for 2 

years afterwards.   

 
2.5 Production of UK/EU Driving Licences 

Applicants for a Private Hire Driver Licence should note that a FULL UK or EU driving licence with a 

minimum of over one year before expiry, (if an EU Licence, the licence together with the paper part 

issued by DVLA), or legal equivalent should be produced. However, it is recognised that in some 

circumstances this may not be possible.  As the Council require written proof of the holding of a licence, 

applicants in these circumstances should write or telephone DVLA at Swansea and request a letter 

confirming their licence details for production to the Council. If an E.U driving licence is produced 

applicants will have to make arrangements for the issuing authority to confirm in writing the details of 

their licence and is sent by the issuing authority directly to the Licensing Section, Boston Borough 

Council, Municipal Buildings, West Street, BOSTON, PE21 8QR, UK.  NB:   Any fee charged by the 
issuing authority is the responsibility of the applicant. 

 
2.6 Basic English and Mathematics Test 

A basic English test must be undertaken by all applicants for a Private Hire Driver Licence, other than 

applicants for renewal of a driver’s licence in force at the date of application. The test forms part of the 

process of ensuring that the applicant is "a fit and proper person".   Applicants should contact the 

Licensing Office to arrange an appointment for the test.  If the test is failed at the first attempt then a 

further test can be taken at a later date.  If the second test is failed subsequent test(s) may be taken but 

will incur a charge. 

 
2.7 Hackney Carriage Knowledge Test 

Private Hire drivers do not have to pass the knowledge test.  However, they may do so in order to gain a 

joint PH and Hackney Carriage Driver Licence. On passing the knowledge test (for which there is a 

charge), if a Private Hire badge and licence has been previously issued there will be a charge to transfer 

these to a Hackney Carriage Driver Licence and Badge. 
 

2.8 Medical Examinations  

All applicants making their first application must lodge a certified medical certificate.    A medical 

certificate will then be required every six years thereafter, unless an applicant’s condition warrants 

examination on a more regular basis.   

 

 An applicant aged 65 years or over must undergo the medical examination every year. 

 

As recommended by the Medical Commission on Accident Prevention the authority requires licence 

holders to attain DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard. 

 

 Any fee charged by the Doctor is payable by the applicant.   

 

Page 109



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

9  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

A Medical Practitioner who has full knowledge of the applicant’s medical history must carry out the 

examination.   

 

Where the Medical Practitioner cannot carry out the eye test this part of the medical form must be 

completed and the form signed by an optician prior to the medical being carried out. 

 

 Medical certificate forms and further information can be obtained from the Licensing Section.   

 

Any applicant who does not meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard can expect to have 

their application refused. 

 

Licensed drivers who no longer meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard either temporarily 

or permanently must notify the Licensing Authority forthwith.  In such cases the driver can expect to have 

their licence either suspended or revoked.  Guidance on the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence 

Standards is available from the Licensing Authority. 

 
The Council will not normally accept certified medical certificates submitted with an application, 
which is received more than 6 weeks after the Doctor has signed the report. 

 

2.9 Private Hire Vehicle Operators Licence 

 The Council issues Operators Licences on a five year basis.   

 

When submitting an application for an operator licence, applicants are required to declare any unspent 

conviction(s) they may have, 

 

Applicants for a private hire vehicle operator licence, who do not hold a hackney carriage/private hire 

driver licence with this authority, will be required to present, at their expense, the result of a current and 

up to date Basic Disclosure Check.  Disclosures that are more than 1 calendar month old at the time of 

application will not be accepted. 
 

Following the issue of an operator licence the licence holder is required to submit to this Authority an up-

to-date result of a Basic DBS Check on an annual basis.  

 

This means that a check must be obtained and supplied in respect of a sole individual or each individual, 

where the licence is held by multiple individuals, or each director of a limited company licence holder. 

 

DBS certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been issued no 

earlier than 1 month before the date on which the certificate is submitted to this Authority. 

 

This requirement will not relate to any individual holding a current private hire or hackney carriage driver’s 

licence issued by Boston Borough Council and that person has: 

 

 signed up to the DBS Update Service, and, 

 completed this Authority’s‘DBS Update Service authorisation form. 
 

2.10 Conviction(s) 

When submitting an application for a licence to drive a licensed vehicle, applicants are required to 

declare any conviction(s) or caution(s) they may have, including any they previously regarded as "spent" 

under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act, 1974.  The information applicants give will be treated in 

confidence and will only be taken into account in relation to their application. Applicants should be aware 

Page 110



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

10  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

that the Borough Council may require applicants to apply for a Criminal Records Disclosure from the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). The Disclosure will reveal the existence and content of any 

criminal record or relevant information held in the name of an applicant. Checks will also be made with 

the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA).  Information received from the DBS will be kept in strict 

confidence while the licensing process takes its course and will be retained on manual and computer 

record(s) for no longer than is necessary. Any information received may be used in Court proceedings. 
 

DBS checks for licensed drivers will be completed every six months by the Licensing Authority. This 

Authority requires all licensed drivers to subscribe to the DBS Update Service, to maintain the annual 

subscription and confirm to taxi licensing that they have signed up to the Update Service.  Licensed 

drivers will need to retain their DBS Certificate once they have subscribed as the Certificate will be linked 

to the Update Service.     

 

Any driver not signed up to the Update Service will be required to complete the DBS form and pay for at 

their own expense every six months. 
 

Exceptionally - the Council may request an additional Disclosure outside of the six months checks if: 

 

 i in any case if serious allegations are made against a driver; or 

 ii in any case where previously unrevealed information comes to light and the Licensing Officer 

  is satisfied that the information cannot be verified in any other way. 

 

The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will not debar an applicant from gaining a licence 

unless the authority considers that the conviction(s) renders them unsuitable. In making this decision the 

authority will consider the nature of the offence, how long ago and the age of the applicant when it was 

committed and any other factors which may be relevant. 

 

The Council has adopted guidelines relating to the relevance of conviction(s) and each case will be 

decided on its own merits.  The Council’s guidelines are set down in Appendix G.  

 

 Disclosures that are more than one calendar month old at the time of application will not be accepted. 

 

Applicants may contact the Licensing Section, in confidence, to discuss what effect a conviction(s) might 

have on their application. 

 
2.11 Code of Conduct 

Applicants will be asked to sign a declaration to confirm that they understand the Driver Code of Conduct 

forms part of the Licensing Authority’s Policy. See Appendix H. 
 

2.12 Non Disclosure or Misrepresentation 

Every applicant must be honest when producing information in connection with a licence application.  

Any applicant who provides false information or fails to provide information may find his application 

refused, or if a licence is granted that licence may be revoked or suspended.  The applicant may also be 

prosecuted. 
 
 
2.13 Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service & the Police 

Any decision to refuse or revoke a licence where the individual is thought to present a risk of harm to a 

child or vulnerable adult will be referred by this Authority to the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and 

the Data Protection Team of the Lincolnshire Police. 

Page 111



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

11  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
2.14 National Register of Refusals and Revocations – NR3 

Licensing Authorities are required to satisfy themselves that those holding hackney carriage and Private 

Hire Vehicle driver licences are “fit and proper” to do so.  This is done firstly during the determination of 

an application for a licence and then at any time during the currency of a licence.  If drivers do not 

disclose information about a previous revocation or refusal of a licence, there is often no way for the 

Licensing Authority to find this information out.  This means that vital intelligence about an applicant’s 

past behaviour is being missed and an individual might be able to get a licence in another area, despite 

having had their licence revoked or their application refused elsewhere.   

 

In response to this a national register of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle driver licence refusals 

and revocations which is called the “National Register of Refusals and Revocations” or NR3 has been 

created and Boston Borough Council has signed up to use this register.  The register allows the 

Licensing Authority to record details of where a hackney carriage or PHV drivers’ licence has been 

refused or revoked and allows the Licensing Authority to check new applicants against the register. 

 

2.15 HMRC Tax Conditionality 

With effect from the 4 April 2022 licensing authorities within England and Wales will be required to 

ensure that hackney carriage/private hire drivers and private hire operators are registered for tax.  A 

licence renewal will not be able to proceed until the check has been validated by licensing officers.  If an 

application is for a new driver application then advice on how to register with HMRC to pay tax will be 

passed onto the applicant and the applicant will be required to confirm that they have read the advice.   
 
2.16 Appeals 

Any applicant refused a driver's and/or Private Hire vehicle licence has a right of appeal to a Magistrates 

Court. 

 

3. INSTRUCTIONS FOR PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS, DRIVERS AND 

 PROPRIETORS 
 

3.1 The Advance Booking of Private Hire Vehicles and Illegal Plying For Hire 

Private Hire vehicles must not pick up passengers under any circumstances without a prior booking 

made by the hirer direct with the operator for which the vehicle works.  Failure to do otherwise is an 

offence and may invalidate your vehicle’s hire car insurance cover (Section 45, TPCA). 
 

Plying for hire with any vehicle which is not a Licensed Hackney Carriage (including a Private Hire 

Vehicle) is an offence (Section 45, TPCA) and it is open to the Council to institute proceedings in the 

Magistrates Courts against any operator or driver committing such an offence.  Furthermore, any person 

so convicted is liable to a fine not exceeding £2,500. Licence holders should also note that the Council 

may suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew a private hire operator’s and/or drivers licence on any 

reasonable grounds, which may include a conviction(s) for illegal plying for hire. 
 

‘Plying for Hire’ means being on view and inviting the public to use the vehicle (Rose v Welbeck Motors 

Limited, 1962).  This can be inferred by the appearance of the vehicle, and the place it is on view and its 

conduct.  Therefore, private hire vehicles must not wait near taxi ranks, without reasonable cause, 
as to do so may be construed as acting as a hackney carriage vehicle and plying for hire.  

Furthermore, any gathering of more than 2 private hire vehicles could be perceived as forming a rank 

and lead to prosecution for plying for hire.  The practice of passengers booking fares with the driver who 

relays the booking information to the operator over the vehicle’s radio constitutes plying for hire. The 

driver must not act as the “go-between” under any circumstances. 

Page 112



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

12  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

3.2 Operator Licences 

"Operate" means in the course of business to make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings 

for a hire vehicle (Section 80 LG (MP) A).  Every operator of private hire vehicles must be licensed by the 

Borough Council (Section 46 LG (MP) A). 

 

A Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licence may be applied for by a company or partnership.  Licensing 

Authorities should apply the “fit and proper” test to each of the directors or partners in that company or 

partnership.  For this to be effective Private Hire Vehicle Operators will be required to advise the local 

authority of any change in directors or partners. 

 

A Borough Council cannot grant a licence unless it is satisfied that the applicant is a "fit and proper 

person" (Section 55 LG (MP) A). A licence cannot be issued for a period exceeding five years.  
 

 Section 75 of LG (MP) A) provides that a private hire vehicle and driver licensed by a Borough  

Council will be authorised to act in a controlled area of any other District Council.  They are licensed by 

one District Council in order that they will be free to go through any other controlled district and to 

operate fully as a licensed private hire vehicle and driver. 

 
3.3 Annual Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check for Private Hire Operators 

Following the issue of an operator licence the licence holder is required to submit to this Authority an up 

to date result of a Basic DBS Check on an annual basis.  

 

This means that a check must be obtained and supplied in respect of a sole individual, or each individual 

where the licence is held by multiple individuals, or each director of a limited company licence holder. 

 

DBS certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been issued no 

earlier than one month before the date on which the certificate is submitted to this Authority. 

 

This requirement will not relate to any individual holding a current private hire or hackney carriage driver’s 

licence issued by Boston Borough Council and that person has: 

 

 signed up to the DBS Update Service, and, 

 completed this Authority’s DBS update service authorisation form. 
 

3.4 Suspension and Revocation of Operator Licences 

 The Council may suspend or revoke or refuse to renew a licence on the following grounds:- 

(a) the commission of an offence under the LG (MP) Act. 

(b) unfitting conduct of the operator. 

(c) any material change in the operator's circumstances. 

 (d) any other reasonable cause (Section 62 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.5 Responsibility for Hirings 

 Every hiring of a hire vehicle is deemed to have been made with the operator who accepted the 

 booking, whether or not they provided the vehicle (Section 56 LG (MP) A).  
 

Operators are therefore directly responsible for the actions or omissions of drivers or proprietors used by 

them and must, therefore, ensure that all vehicles and drivers are licensed and insured. Operators can 

be required to produce their booking and vehicle records on request to any authorised office of the 

Council for inspection. 

Page 113



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

13  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
3.6 Record keeping 

Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires private hire vehicle 

operators to keep records of the particulars of every booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the 

passenger or at the request of another operator. Licensing authorities should, as a minimum, require 

private hire vehicle operators to record the following information for each booking:  

 

 the name of the passenger;  

 the time of the request;  

 the pick-up point;  

 the destination;  

 the name of the driver;  

 the driver’s licence number;  

 the vehicle registration number of the vehicle;  

 the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;  

 the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.  

 

 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes necessary and should 

 improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is suggested that booking records should be 

 retained for a minimum of six months.  

 

Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the information they 

record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides comprehensive on-line guidance on registering 

as a data controller and how to meet their obligations.  

 
3.7 Booking and Dispatch Staff 

Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle users have with private 

hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person taking bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle 

dispatcher decides which driver to send to a user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to 

exploit children and vulnerable adults. It is therefore appropriate that staff who have contact with private 

hire vehicle users, and are responsible for the dispatching of vehicles, should not present an undue risk 

to the public or the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults.  

 

Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can demonstrate that all staff 

that have contact with the public and/or oversee the dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the 

public. Licensing authorities should, as a condition of granting an operator licence, require a register of all 

staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles is kept.  

 

Operators will be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS check on all individuals 

listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted 

on any individuals added to the register and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-

offenders. DBS certificates provided by the individual should be recently issued when viewed, 

alternatively the operator could use a ‘responsible organisation’ to request the check on their behalf. 

When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an operator they should be required, 

as part of their employment contract, to advise the operator of any convictions while they are employed in 

this role.  

 

The register should be a living document that maintains records of all those in these roles for the same 

duration as booking records are required to be kept, this will enable cross-referencing between the two 

Page 114



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

14  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

records. A record that the operator has had sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate 

itself should not be retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the 

register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic DBS 

certificate should be requested and sight of this recorded.  

 

Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot pass on the obligation to 

protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required to evidence that comparable 

protections are applied by the company to which they outsource these functions. 

 
3.8 Policy on Employing Ex-Offenders 

A licence holder employing Booking & Dispatch Staff must hold and maintain a Policy on Employing Ex-

Offenders. 

 

This Authority recommends that the policy indicates that those with a current (unspent) conviction for any 

of the offences listed below, would not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry a child or vulnerable 

adult unaccompanied in a licensed vehicle: 

 

 Crime resulting in death 

 Exploitation 

 Offence involving violence against the person 

 Possession of a weapon 

 Sexual offences 

 Dishonesty 

 Drugs 

 Discrimination 

 

3.9 Use of Passenger Carrying Vehicle (PCV) Licensed Drivers 
The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence and the use of a Public Service Vehicle (PSV) to undertake 

a private hire vehicle booking will not be permitted without the informed consent of the booker. 

 

In line with the requirement laid down in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, any 

operator licence granted or renewed by this Authority will be subject to the above licence condition. 

Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle is needed because more 

than eight passenger seats are required or to accommodate luggage, the booker should be informed that 

a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV licensed driver will be used who is subject to a different level of 

licensing checks and not required to have an Enhanced DBS check. 

 
3.10 Operator Licence Renewal Application - DBS Check 

Private Hire Operator Licence renewal applications must be accompanied by a Basic Disclosure 

Certificate, issued by the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) for each applicant. This means that a 

certificate must be obtained and supplied in respect of the sole individual applicant, or each individual 

applicant where the application is made by multiple individuals, or each director of a limited company 

applicant. Certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been 

issued no earlier than 1 month before the date on which the application was made. 
 

The requirement to provide a Basic Disclosure certificate will not apply to any applicant (or director) who 

holds a current private hire or hackney carriage driver’s licence issued by Boston Borough Council and 

the driver licence was granted or renewed by this Authority within six-months prior to the operator licence 

application. 

Page 115



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

15  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

These individuals have already been assessed for their fitness and propriety during their application for a 

driver licence, and as such no further checks of any criminal record history for that particular applicant, at 

the time of the renewal application, will be considered necessary.  

 

Applicants who are applying simultaneously for a driver’s licence (and have made an application, not 

simply requested a driver licence application pack) will also be exempted from the Basic Disclosure 

requirement, as they will be obtaining a higher level of disclosure certificate as part of that application. 

The operator’s licence application will not be determined until any such disclosure certificates (including 

enhanced certificates as part of a simultaneous driver’s licence application) have been received. 
 

3.11 Fare to be Demanded 

The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle a fare in excess of any previously 

agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator, or if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and 

there has been no previous agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter.  
 

3.12 Charging Separate Fares 

 The practice of "doubling up" of passengers and charging separately is legal only in the following 

 circumstances:- 

 

 (a) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journeys in advance;  

  and 

(b) Each of them consented, when booking their journey, to sharing the use of the vehicle on that 

occasion with others on the basis that a separate fare would be payable by each passenger for 

his own journey on that occasion (Section 11 TA).  
 

Note: that separate fare agreements must be made at the time of booking with the operator, NOT the 

driver, owner of the vehicle or anyone else. 
 

3.13 Drivers of Licensed Vehicles must be Licensed 

Once a vehicle is licensed as private hire, every driver of that vehicle, whether it be used for private hire, 

contract hire, or any other purpose including personal "non-hire" use by the driver or proprietor, must 

possess a current private hire driver licence (Section 46 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.14 Drivers' Badges 

All drivers must wear the badge provided when driving a private hire vehicle in a position so as to be 

plainly visible (Section 54 LG (MP) A).  The badge need not be worn if:- 

 

 (a) the vehicle is being used in connection with a wedding or funeral. 

 (b) the vehicle is carrying written permission by the Council that the plate need not be carried  

  (Section 75 LG (MP) A). 
 

On revocation or suspension of the driver licence, the badge must be returned to the Council on demand 

(Section 61, LG (MP) A).  The driver's badge remains the property of the Council and must be returned to 

the Licensing Section, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, either at the termination of the licence or 

when moving from the Borough and ceasing to be a licensed driver. 
 

3.15 Drivers' Licence 

 This authority will not grant a Private Hire Driver's Licence unless it is satisfied that the applicant:- 

 

 (a) is a "fit and proper person". 

Page 116



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

16  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 (b) is medically fit to drive a Private Hire Vehicle (Sections 51 and 57 LG (MP) A). 
 

The law requires any applicant for a private hire driver's licence to have held a full UK driving licence (or 

legal equivalent) for at least 12 months (Section 51, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 

1972.  The Council will not normally regard the applicant to be sufficiently experienced unless he has 

held a full licence for at least two years. 

 
 Any change in the driver's address or employer must be notified to the Licensing Section. 
 

3.16 Production of Licences 

Licence holders must produce the licenses to an authorised Officer or Police Constable if  requested to 

do so (Sections 50, 53 and 56 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.17 Obstruction of Officers - It is an offence to:- 

 (a) wilfully obstruct an authorised Officer or Police Constable. 

 (b) fail to comply with any reasonable requirement of an authorised Officer or Police Constable. 

(c) fail to give an authorised Officer or Police Constable any assistance or information he may 

reasonably require (Section 73 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.18 Prolongation of Journeys 

A driver must proceed by the shortest route, subject to the instructions of the hirer. No driver shall without 

reasonable cause, unnecessarily prolong, in distance or in time, the journey for which the private hire 

vehicle has been hired. (Section 69 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.19 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences 

 The Council may suspend or revoke or refuse to renew any licence on the following grounds:- 

 

 (a) the commission of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence. 

 (b) the commission of an offence under LG (MP) Act. 

 (c) any other reasonable cause (Section 61 LG (MP) A). 
 
3.20 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences – Immigration Offences 

Where a licence holder has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an immigration offence, 

the licence will be revoked by this Authority. 

 

Similarly, any licence applicant who has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an 

immigration offence, is unlikely to be granted a licence by this Authority. 

 
3.21 Suspension and Revocation of Driver Licences – New Evidence 

With regard to the suspension or revocation of driver licences - this Authority recognises that new 

evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the Court reaching a different decision 

to that reached by the Council. The Authority also recognises that an appeal may be settled by 

agreement between the Licensing Authority and the driver on terms which, in the light of new evidence, 

becomes the appropriate course of action. 

 

For example, if the allegations against a driver are subsequently, on the balance of probability, 

considered to be unfounded, a suspension can be lifted or, if the licence has been revoked, an expedited 

re-licensing process can be used. 

 

Page 117



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

17  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

In each case, approval to use a driver expedited re-licensing process will be considered by Council 

Licensing Officers in conjunction with the Council’s Legal Department and the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

This expedited re-licensing system is to be used only in exceptional and compelling circumstances.  
 
3.22 Licensee Self-reporting 

Licence holders will be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of an arrest and release, 

charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any 

motoring offence.  An arrest for any the offences within this scope should result in a review by the issuing 

authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so. This must not, however, be seen as a 

direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the licensing authority to consider what, if any, action 

in terms of the licence should be taken based on the balance of probabilities. A failure by a licence holder 

to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour 

that questions honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the 

initial allegation. 

 
3.23 Seatbelts - Private Hire Drivers - Periods when you do not have to wear a seatbelt 

Whilst all drivers are encouraged to wear seatbelts the driver of a Private Hire Vehicle may only claim 

exemption from wearing a seatbelt when a fare paying passenger is actually in the vehicle and not at 

any other time.  Passengers must wear a seatbelt if available. 
 

3.24 Vehicle Licences 

Every vehicle used for hire must be licensed by the District Council (Section 46, LG (MP) A).  You are 

strongly advised to contact the licensing section prior to purchasing the vehicle.  This will enable the 

licensing section to confirm whether or not the vehicle is suitable, thus avoiding purchase of an 

unsuitable vehicle which will not meet the criteria resulting in refusal of a licence. 
 

 A District Council cannot grant a licence unless it is satisfied the vehicle is:- 

 

 (a) suitable in type, size and design for such use. 

 (b) does not resemble or appear to be a Hackney Carriage. 

 (c) in a suitable mechanical condition. 

 (d) safe and comfortable. 

 (e) insured for hire car use (Section 48, LG (MP) A). 

 

 A vehicle licence shall be valid for a period of twelve months. 
 

NB The Road Safety Act 2006 has abolished the exemption for vehicles used for contract work 

(previously under Section 75 LG (MP) A), to require a Private Hire Vehicle Licence.  All vehicles 

previously used under this exemption are now required to be licensed. 
 

3.25 Funerals & Weddings 

Vehicles used wholly or mainly for funerals by a funeral director do not need to be licensed for Private 

Hire work.  Vehicles used solely for weddings need not be licensed as Private Hire Vehicles. 
 

3.26 Accidents and Damage to Vehicles 

Accidents causing damage to licensed vehicles, which materially affect the safety, performance or 

appearance of the vehicle must be reported to the Council within 72 hours (Section 50, LG (MP) A). 
 

3.27 Advertisements and Signs on Vehicles 

A Private Hire Vehicle shall not display any signs on or from the vehicle as to lead any person to believe 

that the vehicle is a Hackney Carriage.  A sign consisting of the words TAXI or CAB or FOR HIRE or 

Page 118



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

18  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE or similar words is prohibited.  Roof signs are prohibited on private hire vehicles 

by this Authority. 
 

3.28 Identification Plates on Vehicles 

 A licensed vehicle must display the plate issued by the Council at all times (Section 48 LG (MP) A).   

 

 The plate need not be displayed on a licensed hire vehicle if:- 

 

 (a) the vehicle is being used in connection with a funeral. 

 (b) the vehicle is being used in connection with a wedding. 

 (c) the vehicle is carrying written permission by the Council that the plate need not be carried  

  (Section 75 LG (MP) A). 
 

The plate remains the property of the Council.  On revocation, suspension or expiry of the vehicle icence, 

the plate must be returned to the Council within 7 days (Section 58, LG (MP) A). The loss or damage of a 

plate must be reported immediately to the Council, where upon the payment of a fee a new plate can be 

issued. 
 

3.29 Vehicle Insurance 

Before a vehicle licence can be issued a current certificate or cover note in the name of the proprietor for 

private hire car use (original, not a photocopy) must be produced (Section 48 LG(MP)A). 
 

A certificate or a cover note must be produced on demand to an authorised Officer (Section 50 LG (MP) 

A). 

 
3.30 Transfer of Ownership of Vehicles 

Where the ownership of a licensed vehicle is transferred the Council must be informed by the person 

listed as owner by the Council in writing of this within 14 days, stating the name and address of the new 

owner (Section 49, LG (MP) A). 
 

3.31 Suspension and Revocation of Vehicle Licences 

 The Council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence on the following grounds:- 

 

 (a) the vehicle is unfit. 

 (b) the commission of an offence under the LG (MP) Act or TPC Act. 

 (c) Any other reasonable cause (Section 60 LG (MP) A). 
 

A licence may be suspended by an authorised Officer or Police Constable if they consider the vehicle 

unfit (Section 68, LG (MP) A). 

 

On suspension, revocation or expiry of the licence, the plate must be returned to the Council within 7 

days (Section 58, LG (MP) A). 
 

3.32 Type of Vehicle 

All vehicles presented for a Private Hire Vehicle Licence, MUST meet the requirements set out in 

Appendix A (Section 47 LG (MP) A). 

 

This council does not licence left hand drive vehicles with the exception of imported stretched limousines 

only. Stretched limousines will not be licensed unless the V5 (logbook) states they have nine or less 

seats (eight passengers and one  driver). 
 

Page 119



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

19  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

3.33 Testing of Vehicles 

All vehicles (whatever their age) must be tested and inspected by a DVSA authorised MOT Testing 

Station based within the Boston Borough Council area before a licence can be issued to ensure that they 

are mechanically fit and of good appearance (Section 50 LG(MP)A).   

 

Every Private Hire Vehicle licensed by Boston Borough Council, MUST be inspected on at least two 

separate occasions in every twelve months. The proprietor is responsible for the making of an 

appointment for the inspection of a vehicle.  
 

An authorised Officer or Police Constable has power to inspect and test any licensed vehicle at any 

reasonable time (Section 68 LG (MP) A). 
 

3.34 Taximeters in Private Hire Vehicles 

A private hire vehicle is not required to have a taximeter fitted, but if such a meter is installed, it must be 

correctly calibrated, tested for accuracy and approved (Section 71, LG (MP) A) and shall not be operated 

until:- 

 

a) The taximeter has been set to display a fare not exceeding the maximum fare rate set by 

 Boston Borough Council; 

  

 and 

 

 b)   The taximeter has been previously tested for accuracy and sealed by the test garage and  a 

meter inspection report lodged with the Council. 

 

Any person who – 

 

a) Tampers with any seal on any taximeter: 
  

  or 
 

b) Alters any taximeter with intent to mislead, shall be guilty of an offence. 

 
3.35 Vehicle Fitness Spot Checks 

From time to time a licensed vehicle may be subject to a 'spot check' to determine its road  worthiness.  

This check will be carried out by an authorised Officer of the Council or by an authorised tester in the 

presence of an authorised Officer or by a Police Constable, usually by the roadside. 

 

(a) (i) If, as a result of a check, an immediate suspension notice is issued, then the vehicle must not be 

used under any circumstances as a licensed vehicle until it has been re-examined and the 

suspension lifted by an authorised Officer.  Re-examination is by a full test being carried out by 

the test garage.  This is booked in the normal way. 
 

      (ii) Your attention is drawn to the warnings at the foot of the suspension notice. 

 

(b) (i) If the suspension notice gives you a set number of days in which to rectify the defects, then a 

vehicle may continue to be used until the date given on the notice. 

 

(ii) If a vehicle has not been re-examined and the suspension notice lifted by an authorised Officer 

by the date given on the notice, then from that date, the licence is automatically suspended until 

Page 120



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

20  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

such time as the vehicle is re-examined and the suspension lifted by an authorised Officer.  Re-

examination is by a full test being carried out by the test garage. This is booked in the normal 

way. 

 

(iii) Your attention is drawn to the warnings at the foot of the suspension notice. 

 

(c)   The roadside check carried out on a vehicle, because of practical difficulties, is unable to cover 

all items normally examined at a full test.  The list of defects given to you only serves as 

justification for the issue of a suspension notice. 

 

 (d)  When a vehicle is re-examined at the test garage, a full, normal test will be carried out  

   

(e)   When a vehicle passes, the tester will issue an MOT certificate, this must be taken to the Council 

Licensing Office before the suspension can be lifted. 

 
3.36 Rights of Appeal to the Magistrates' Court 

There are rights of appeal against a Council's refusal to issue a licence and against conditions attached 

to the grant of a licence.  Rights of appeal also exist where a licence is suspended or revoked. An appeal 

must be lodged at a Magistrates' Court within 21 days from the notice of refusal, revocation or 

suspension of a licence. 

 

4.       REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 

 

4.1 An Authorised Officer is delegated by the Council to grant hackney carriage and private hire licences 

where the applicant fulfils the basic qualifications. However, should in their opinion, there be any doubt 

as to whether the applicant is a “fit and proper person”, an application will  not be granted under 

delegated powers.  That application may then be pursued to a sub-committee of the Regulatory & 

Appeals Committee. Generally speaking The Authorised Officer will not grant an application which 

contain a declaration of a conviction(s) involving dishonesty, indecency, violence or a disqualification 

from driving and which is not clearly covered by the Council guidelines relating to the relevance of 

conviction(s). 
 

 The general procedure for applications which are pursued to the Sub-Committee is as follows:- 
 

(a)  A Committee (consisting of elected members of the Council) will consider the application. The applicant 

or a representative of his choice may address the Committee in support of the application. Applicants 

should attend as the members of the Committee may wish to ask questions. 

 

(b)  A written report will be put before the Committee setting out the details of the application. The applicant 

will have an opportunity to read this before the interview. 

 

(c) If the Committee decide to grant a licence then this can be done immediately. 

 

(d)  Should the Committee decide to refuse to grant the application, then the applicant will be notified in 

writing setting out his rights in the matter.  Basically, on receipt of such notification the applicant may 

appeal to the Magistrates Court (within 21 days) against the decision of the Council. 

 
Because the Committee does not meet on a regular basis, there may necessarily be 
a delay between application and grant or refusal in such a case. 

Page 121



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

21  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDICES 
 

Page 122



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

22  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX A 

 

DIMENSIONS AND ABILITY OF VEHICLES TO BE LICENSED AS                           

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

 
Steering  With the exception of imported stretched limousines the steering   wheel must 

be on the offside. 

 
Doors    All doors must be capable of being opened from the inside.  

 

 Saloon cars must have four doors, being two on each side of the vehicle, a 

rear hatch/door not being accepted as one of the four doors. 

                                                             

 Minibuses/People Carriers/Converted van type vehicles without a nearside 

door are not acceptable. Furthermore multi-seater vehicles must have at least 

four doors; if the rear door is to be used for access and egress then access to 

this must be direct and not be blocked by a line of seats.  Doors should open 

to an angle of at least 80% to the body of the vehicle, except in the case of 

sliding doors. 

 
Engine Size  The acceleration and braking capabilities should match the engine and 

carrying capacity of the vehicle.   

 
Seat Width  The size requirement is 40cm" (approx.16”) per person.  The distance should 

be measured in a straight line lengthwise at the widest point of the front half of 

each seat.  The distance for 3 persons of 120cm"(approx.48”) should be taken 

between the arm rests as these can in some cases significantly reduce the 

width.  Further to this a height of 85cm" (approx.34”) between seat and roof 

and 18cm" (approx.7”) from back of front seat to front of rear seat (when front 

seat is fully pushed back), is to be recommended for passenger comfort. 

 
Seating Arrangements  
  

T The maximum number of passenger seats allowed is 8 and all should have 

direct access to a door without the need to climb over   the rear of any seat.  

Tip-up seats or seats which require the back to be lowered will only be 

permitted when giving access to the side doors of multi-seater vehicles (seats 

of this type giving access within saloon and estate vehicles will not be 

permitted).  Bench type seating will not be permitted.  
 

       With the exception of stretched limousines seats must not be sideways to the 

direction of travel.  All seat belts should comply with current seat belt 

regulations.  The minimum number of passengers that a vehicle should be 

capable of carrying whilst complying with the above seat width provision is 4. 

 
Luggage   
  

The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage (safe from 

inclement weather).  Luggage should be stored securely and not stored in 

such a way as to hinder access to a door. 

 
Vehicle Licence Requirements Where there are standard conditions annexed to vehicle licences relating to 

the condition and fitness or appearance of a licensed vehicle the vehicle must 

comply with these conditions. 

Page 123



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

23  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences will not be issued to vehicles being presented to be licensed to carry 
five or more passengers unless such vehicles are immediately wheelchair accessible (i.e. the vehicle 
must be capable of accommodating a disabled passenger whilst seated in their wheelchair).  The 
requirement to remove seats in order to accommodate a wheelchair will not be accepted; seats which 
fold to allow a wheelchair to be accommodated will be accepted. 
 

This Authority's minimum requirements with regard to a wheelchair accessible vehicle are:- 

 

(a) That it can accommodate a disabled passenger whilst seated in their wheelchair (there must be 

adequate headroom for the passenger).  For this purpose a “wheelchair” is a reference wheelchair as 

defined in The Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000. 

 

 The dimensions for a reference wheelchair are defined as having 

 

total length of 1200mm, including extra-long footplates 

total width of 700mm 

sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm 

height of footrest above floor of 150mm 

 

(b) That the rear/side door used for wheelchair access must be capable of opening as wide as the aperture. 

A single rear door must be open to a minimum of 90 degrees and for twin rear doors both must open to a 

minimum of 90 degrees. 

 

(c) The doorway should provide a minimum of 1220mm in its central third measured from the upper centre of 

the aperture to a point directly below on either the upper face of the fully raised lift platform or the upper 

face of the ramp fully deployed on ground level .  The door aperture must be wide enough to 

accommodate a reference wheelchair and have a minimum width of 740mm of unobstructed space. 

 

(d) There should be sufficient space within the vehicle to accommodate a reference wheelchair. The floor 

area required for the wheelchair should be at least 750mm x 1250mm with minimum headroom over the 

area of 1350mm.  There must be sufficient space, where applicable, to turn the wheelchair. 

 

(e) All wheelchair tracking must be fit for purpose and structurally sound. 

 

(f) A 3 point system for securing the occupant in the wheel chair and a system for effective anchoring of 

wheelchairs shall be provided within the vehicle in all spaces designated as wheelchair space.  

Wheelchair anchorage systems and devices must conform to European Directive 76/115 EEC (as 

amended). Additional hand-holds and a step should be provided 

 

(g) Either a purpose designed wheelchair access ramp or a purpose designed wheelchair lift must be 

provided. 

 

(h) Any purpose designed wheelchair access ramp that is carried must be lightweight and easy to deploy.  

The ramp shall have visible reference to a safe working load of at least 250kgs.  Ramps must be capable 

of being securely fitted when in use and securely installed in the designated storage area at all other 

Page 124



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

24  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

times. Ramps must be free from damage, deformity and sharp edges etc.  Ramps must be provided with 

an anti-slip covering. * Ramps shall be indelibly marked with the vehicle registration number. 

 

(i) Any purpose designed wheelchair lift shall conform to the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 

Regulations 1998 (LOLER).  A report, confirming that the lifting equipment is safe to use shall be 

presented at the time the annual and six monthly vehicle inspection certificate is provided to the council. 

Vehicles will require a certificate that is valid for a period of six months from the date of issue. The lift 

must be capable of being secured in a suitable and satisfactory position when the vehicle is in motion. 

 

(j) Vehicles shall comply in all respects, and at all times, with current road traffic legislation. 

 

(k) Vehicles shall comply with the European Community M1 type approval for passenger carrying vehicles. 

The definition of category M1 type approval is any motor vehicle with at least 4 wheels designed and 

constructed for the carriage of passengers. 

 

(l) Vehicles that have been originally classified as complying with M1 type approval but have undergone 

modifications or conversions since original manufacture will be considered suitable provided they are 

presented with the relevant National Small Series Type Approval (NSSTA) or Individual Vehicle Approval 

(IVA)) certificate or equivalent issued by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA). 

 

(m) Any wheelchair accessible vehicle originally given European Community N type approval will be 

considered unfit for the purpose and will not be considered suitable to be licensed.  The definition of a 

category N type approval is any motor vehicles with at least four wheels designed and constructed for the 

carriage of goods. 

 

Grandfather rights will apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles already licensed by the date on which this policy 

comes into effect.  They will be allowed to continue until the end of their useful life, subject to their compliance 

with all relevant test and inspection requirements. 

 

Once a vehicle licence has expired then Grandfather rights will no longer apply. Applicants wishing to re-licence 

that vehicle in the future will be required to adhere to the above Wheelchair Accessible Policy requirements. 

 

Vehicles which have been licensed for private hire and not identified as wheelchair accessible must adhere to the 

above Wheelchair Accessible Policy if they wish to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage Vehicle. 

*Grandfather rights do not apply with respect to requirement that ramps are indelibly marked with the vehicle 

registration number. 
 

(adopted 26 September 2022) 

 

Page 125



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

25  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX C 
 

 

No trailer of any description shall be attached to the licensed vehicle, except in accordance with a written 

authorisation issued by the Council.  Any trailer shall be provided and used in accordance with the Council’s 

Guidance for Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors. 

 
 

GUIDANCE FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE / PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS AND PROPRIETORS PERMITTING 
AUTHORISED TRAILERS 

 

1) Each trailer will be authorised for use with one nominated licensed vehicle only.  Any trailer must be 

presented for inspection by a certified MOT garage within the Borough of Boston prior to its first use and 

again at each inspection of the vehicle with which the trailer is authorised to be used. The trailer must be 

presented with the vehicle for which its use is authorised.  This will ensure that the vehicle, trailer and its 

attaching mechanism are fit, safe and suitable for use. 
  
2) The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to be carried and not for 

general use. This condition is to prevent proprietors/drivers using the trailer unnecessarily and causing 

greater congestion on the roads.  Licensed vehicles with  trailers are not permitted on the Hackney 

Carriage Rank at any time. 
 

3)    The trailer must be of a suitable size to carry excess baggage for the number of people the vehicle is 

authorised to carry and no larger. 
 

4) The trailer must comply with all aspects of current legislation and be of a type recommended by the 

vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the intended towing vehicle. This is to ensure that the vehicle 

with trailer remain fit, safe and suitable for purpose. 
 

5) The vehicle must be suitable for towing the intended trailer. This will ensure that the vehicle has an 

engine large enough to tow the trailer, the brakes are powerful enough to stop the vehicle and trailer 

safely and that the Gross Trailer Weight (GTW) does not exceed the Towing Capacity of the towing 

vehicle. 
 

6) The trailer must have affixed to it a manufacturer’s plate specifying the manufacturer’s name and 

address, the chassis and serial number, the number of axles, maximum weight per axle, nose weight of 

the coupling, maximum gross weight and the date of manufacture. From 1 January 1997 the Road 

Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, Regulation 71A, states that trailers with a maximum 

design weight not exceeding 750Kgs must be fitted with a plate displaying their year of manufacture in a 

clearly visible position.  
 

7) Unbraked trailers must not exceed 750kgs gross trailer weight or half the towing vehicle’s kerb 

 weight. This is to comply with the law in relation to vehicle, trailers and their weights. 
 

8) Unbraked trailers (manufactured from 1 January 1997) must have a secondary coupling that will provide 

some residual steering in the event of an unplanned uncoupling. This device should also prevent the ball 

coupling hitting the ground in similar circumstances. It must be connected to the towing vehicle when the 

trailer is being towed. This is to prevent any unnecessary accidents. 
 

9) Braked trailers must be fitted with a parking brake that operates on at least two road wheels on the same 

axle. At all times it must be capable of being maintained in operation by direct mechanical action without 

Page 126



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

26  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

use of hydraulics, electric or pneumatic systems i.e. push rod or cable action. The efficiency of the 

handbrake must comply with EEC Directive 71/320/EEC.  
 

10) An emergency breakaway cable must be fitted to the parking brake linkage and the other end clipped or 

fixed round a fixture on the towing vehicle so that, in the event of the trailer becoming detached from the 

towing vehicle, the cable applies the parking brake automatically before snapping itself.  
 

11) All tow bars fitted must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and fitted by an 

approved agent. This is to ensure that untested tow bars are not fitted to vehicles.  
 

12) Trailers must have on the rear, two red sidelights, two red stop lamps, an illuminated number plate and 

two triangular red reflectors plus indicators designed to flash between 60 and 120 times per minute.  All 

lights must be kept in working order. If more than 1.3 metres wide, they must also have at least one red 

fog lamp. This is to comply with the requirements of the Road Vehicle Lighting Regulations 1989.   
 

13) All trailers built after 30 September 1990 require front reflectors.  
 

14) No advertising will be permitted on any part of a trailer. This is to comply with current standards and 

conditions applicable to private hire and hackney carriage vehicle licensing. 
 

15) The trailer must be fitted with securely fastening covers, which can be hardtop or canvas  tarpaulin type. 

This is for safety reasons and drivers should ensure that any luggage is securely fastened so as not to 

present any danger to other road users, passengers or damage to the luggage. 
 

16) When the trailer is used with the licensed vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council, specifically for 

that trailer, shall be clearly displayed on the trailer. The details provided on this plate refer to the vehicle it 

is to be used with and not the trailer itself.  This is so that the vehicle can be identified from the rear and 

also to comply with legislation. The cost of the plate will be the same as that for vehicle plates. 

 

17) A spare wheel for the trailer must be carried whilst the trailer is in use so that in the event of a puncture 

the journey would not be delayed any longer than necessary. Space saver type spare wheels are not 

permitted. 
  
18) The vehicle must be insured to tow the trailer. 
  
19) A charge will be made payable for the inspection of the trailer which will be recouped from  the 

 proprietor of the vehicle.  
 

20) A licensed driver will be permitted to tow a trailer whilst driving a licensed vehicle provided  that: 

 

i) the driver holds the appropriate category on his DVLA licence; 

ii) it is the proprietor’s/vehicle licensee’s responsibility to ensure that the trailer towed by his vehicle 

complies with the legislation and the Licensing Conditions; 

iii) it is the proprietor’s/vehicle licensee’s responsibility to ensure that the driver towing the trailer 

holds the appropriate category DVLA licence. 

        

This policy is to ensure the driver and vehicle owner complies with the law and other legal requirements. 

 

Page 127



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

27  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX D 

 

VEHICLE TEST ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Tests 

Vehicle MOT tests, with the exception of stretched limousines, can be carried out at any MOT testing station 

provided it is within the Borough of Boston. Stretched limousines will undergo an MOT every 6 months at a 

testing station nominated by the council (currently the VOSA approved garage at Boston HGV Testing Station 

Ltd, Riverside Industrial Estate, Marsh Lane, Boston, PE21 7PJ.  Telephone 01205 351188).   
 

Private Hire Meter Tests 

A Private Hire vehicle is not required to fit a taximeter, but if such a meter is fitted it must be correctly calibrated 

and tested for accuracy. A certificate issued by an approved meter tester must be provided. 
 

Condition of Vehicle 

The vehicle must be presented for testing in a thoroughly clean condition inside and out. 
 

ALL vehicles for all tests must be fitted with an approved fire extinguisher securely fixed in such a position as to 

be readily available for use. 
 

In the case of RENEWAL of a licence or a SIX MONTH TEST they must also be fitted with the identification plate, 

issued by the Council, in the correct place. 
 

The tester may refuse to test a vehicle which in his opinion is unsafe or dangerous. A full list of items to be tested 

are available on request. 
 

Driver of Vehicle 

The driver must remain on the tester's premises whilst the test is being carried out and answer any questions. 

The driver is not allowed in the test bay without the express consent of the tester. 
 

Vehicle Fails the Test 

The driver will be informed of the reasons for failure.  A re-test will have to be subsequently carried out on the 

vehicle; this must be arranged through the Testing Centre.   

Page 128



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

28  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

APPENDIX E 

 

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE TEST - REQUIREMENTS IN ADDITION TO THE MOT TEST 

FOR CLASS IV VEHICLES 

 
All vehicles which apply for Private Hire Licence status in the Borough of Boston must adhere strictly to the 

following specification which is required in addition to the vehicle passing the twice yearly inspection to 

Department of Transport (MOT Test) standards. 
 

BODYWORK (Exterior) 

 

General Condition   All bodywork must be in good condition and have no visual signs of 

surface rust showing.  All bodywork panels must be free from dents and 

surface damage. 
 

Paintwork Condition   All paintwork must be in good condition and where there is a 

requirement to replace doors, boots, bonnets or any body panels these 

must be returned to the original colour of the vehicle before fitting prior 

to any inspection. 
 

The Vehicle must display the words ‘PRIVATE HIRE ONLY’ on the metal panel of both front doors of the vehicle 

when displaying the business telephone number and/or name of the operator. The words ‘PRIVATE HIRE ONLY’ 

must be in lettering at least 5cm (approx.2 inches) in size and be of a neat and consistent standard. 

 

Registration Plates   Registration plates must be complete, clean and free from any damage. 
 

Mirrors, Windows, Glass, etc  All lights, windscreens, windows, direction indicator lenses, reflectors 

and mirrors must be complete, serviceable, clean and free from any 

damage.  All windscreens and windows must comply with regulations 

concerning visual transmission of light and freedom from obstruction to 

vision and are to be kept clean.  Windscreen wipers and washers must 

be maintained in effective working order at all times. 

 

Blacked out windows will be permitted in the passenger compartment of 

limousines providing the level of tint complies with any regulations 

applicable regarding the visual transmission of light for these windows. 

BODYWORK (interior) 

Seats and Upholstery   All vehicle interiors including seats and upholstery must be in good 

condition, free from damage, well sprung and be smart in appearance. 

 

Floor Condition   The floor must be sound and covered by adequate carpets or mats.  

The floor covering should not be as badly worn as would be likely to 

cause danger to passengers. 
 

Seat Belts    All seat belts, anchorages, fastenings and adjusting devices must be 

maintained free from obvious defects and kept in good working order. 
 

Panel and Interior Lights  The speedometer should be in working order and be correctly 

illuminated.  All interior and passenger lights, where fitted, should be 

operative. 

Page 129



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

29  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

Doors and Locks   All doors should open and close easily both from the inside and outside. 

All doors when shut must be secure. The boot should open easily from 

the outside. 
 

Window Openings   All windows should open and close by the use of winders or otherwise 

where fitted. 
 

Tyres     All road wheels and tyres must be the same size except where different 

sized front and rear wheels and/or tyres are fitted to the vehicle by the 

manufacturer as standard. (This does not apply when using a space-

saver wheel in the circumstances detailed below). 

 

The use, in emergencies only, due to puncture, wheel damage or 

similar, of a space-saver wheel, run flat tyre(s) (when punctured) or 

puncture repair kits is permitted for vehicles that are manufactured and 

delivered with such tyres or kits as standard. 

 

In the event of a space-saver tyre, run flat tyre(s) (when punctured) or 

puncture repair kit being used, it is only to complete a fare and precise 

compliance with the manufacturer’s recommendations is required.  Any 

such space-saver tyre, run flat tyre (when punctured) or tyre that has 

been subject to use of a puncture repair kit must be replaced prior to 

taking another fare. 

 

In cases where a rear loading wheelchair accessible conversion or an 

LPG conversion where the tank occupies the usual site of the spare 

wheel is considered suitable to be licensed, the vehicle will be 

considered exempt from the requirement to carry a spare wheel 

matching those fitted to the vehicle.  This would be subject to the 

vehicle meeting the luggage criteria and being approved by specialist 

converters.  In these instances a space-saver tyre or puncture repair kit 

must be carried in the vehicle for use in the event of the above 

mentioned emergencies only and must be used precisely with the 

manufacturer’s recommendations. 

 

All other licensed vehicles must carry a spare wheel matching those 

fitted to the vehicle.  

 

Space-saver tyres and full size spare wheels must have a legal tread 

depth, be kept inflated to the correct pressure and be free from cuts, 

bulges and any defects.  An appropriate means of changing the wheel 

must also be carried. 
 

Fire Extinguisher   The vehicle must be fitted with a fire extinguisher (in proper working 

order) securely fixed in such a position as to be readily available for use. 
 

Exhaust System   The exhaust system must be complete, efficient and not produce any 

excess noise and smoke. 
 
 

Page 130



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

30  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

SIX MONTH TEST AND RENEWAL OF LICENCE 
 

Exterior Council Plate   The vehicle must be fitted with the identification plate issued by the 

Council.  The plate should be attached to the rear of the vehicle, below 

window level in a vertical plane (as near as possible) facing to the rear, 

with none of the plate concealed whatsoever. 
 

Fire Extinguisher   The fire extinguisher must be indelibly and clearly marked with the 

Council vehicle plate number (issued in respect of the vehicle). 
 

 

 

Page 131



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

31  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX F 

 

DISCLOSURE(S) FROM THE DISCLOSURE & BARRING SERVICE 
 

APPLICANTS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE 

DRIVERS’ LICENCES 
 

As Boston Borough Council meets the requirements in respect of exempted questions 
under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, all applicants for a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle drivers licence may be subject to a criminal record disclosure from 
the Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) before a licence is granted. This will include 
details of cautions, reprimands or final warnings, as well as convictions. 
 

SCOPE 

1. The legislation provides that local authorities with responsibilities under the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 may require applicants for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 

(PHV) drivers licence to apply for a Criminal Records Disclosure. 
 

DISCLOSURE & BARRING SERVICE (DBS) DISCLOSURE 

2. In all cases the DBS Disclosure will be made against Government Records and the national collection of 

criminal records maintained on the Police National Computer (PNC). A fee (for each individual enquiry) is 

payable to the DBS at the time the request for a Disclosure is made. 
 

LEAD COUNTER SIGNATORY 

3. An officer in the Council will take responsibility for use of the Disclosure Service. He or she will be 

responsible for:- 

 - Overseeing the operation of the disclosure procedure within the authority and act as the  

  principal point of contact with the DBS; 

- Ensuring that disclosure requests fall within the terms of the legislation; 

- Ensuring that requests are made at the right time; 

- Ensuring that the provisions of Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 are observed; 

- Ensuring that information received from the DBS is released only to those who need to  see it;  

- Ensuring that records are kept securely and for no longer than is necessary; 

- Specify additional counter-signatories to assist in the Disclosure application process. 
 

ROLES OF THE COUNTERSIGNATORY 

4. All counter-signatories will be required to: 

- Countersign applications and receive the Disclosures; 

- Control the use of, access to and security of disclosures; 

 - Confirm the details of the documentary evidence requested by the DBS, to establish the 

                identity of the applicant applying for the Disclosure; 

- Ensure compliance with the Code of Practice; and 

- Ensure the position is covered by the exceptions Order to the Rehabilitation of Offenders  Act 

1974 and the Disclosure requested is at the appropriate level 
 

 PROCEDURE 
 

5.  DBS Disclosures form an integral and important part of the licensing procedures. Other checks, however, 

to establish a person’s integrity and fitness to hold a licence to drive a hackney carriage or PHV will be 

carried out, and attempts may be made to account satisfactorily for any unexplained gaps in residential 

addresses. 

Page 132



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

32  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

6.   In considering applications from potential licence holders the Council are aware that applicants have to 

reveal offences which are spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, and these may be 

included in any record provided by the DBS. The Council reserves the right to act as a judicial authority in 

the case of spent conviction(s) involving serious offences (i.e. death by dangerous driving, drugs, 

violence, sexual offences or offences of a habitual nature). This means that, the Council may take these 

into account when they come to light. 
 

7. An applicant will be required to undertake a DBS Disclosure. They will be informed in writing when a 

Disclosure is required. 
 

The Boston Borough Council area is predominately a rural area with limited public transport options. 

Vulnerable adults and persons under 18 regularly use hackney carriage and PHVs as a means of 

transport. The logistics of the area are such that these journeys will often be in the early hours of the 

morning or late at night and be unsupervised. Licensed vehicles are regularly used by parents, 

guardians, schools and welfare organisations as a means of transporting persons under 18. Furthermore, 

legislation is such that when waiting on a taxi rank a hackney carriage driver is unable, without 

reasonable cause, to refuse a hiring from a person under 18.  When plying for hire hackney carriage 

drivers are therefore not in a position to decline hirings from young persons. The majority of hackney 

carriage and private hire hirings will be unsupervised, placing the driver in a position of trust. When 

entrusting young persons to the care of licensed drivers, the public expect those drivers to have been 

through rigorous checking procedures. They expect the licensing system to ensure a high level of 

protection. For these reasons the Council are of the opinion that a Level of DBS Disclosure is required. 
 

8. The Council will make every effort to confirm the identity of the applicant before the DBS are asked to 

process a Disclosure. Verification of identity, date of birth, address and any change of name will be 

obtained. Incomplete or incorrect identification details may invalidate the DBS Disclosure.  
 

Where an applicant claims to have changed their name by deed poll or any other mechanism (eg 

marriage, adoption, statutory declaration) they must produce documentary evidence of such a change. 
 

Photocopies of any documentation will not be acceptable. Original documents must be produced.  The 

Council may take copies of any photographic evidence and any birth certificates presented, but will not 

normally make photocopies of any address-related evidence. With regard to address-related evidence 

applicants will be assured that it is only the address section of the evidence that will be scrutinised by 

Officers. 
 

9.  When a DBS Disclosure is required, the Council using the official Disclosure Request Form will send the 

request to the DBS.  However the costs are the responsibility of the applicant. 
 

10. The DBS will reply to the applicant either indicating that there is no trace on DBS records of a record 

which matches the details provided, or that those details appear identical with the person whose record 

will be attached. The record will contain details of all convictions recorded nationally against that person. 
 

11. It should be noted that the DBS record will not include details of motoring conviction(s). Such information 

under separate arrangements will be obtained from the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency. This will be 

provided on receipt of a written request, which must include the subject’s driver number. The information 

given will include endorsement/disqualification details. 
 
12. Where the information provided by the DBS differs from that provided by the applicant, and is of 

significance, the nominated counter-signatory will discuss the discrepancy with the applicant before 

Page 133



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

33  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

reaching any final decision in which the nature of the information received is a factor. 
 

13. It is noted that applicants themselves may reveal certain minor convictions or cautions which are not 

recorded in the national collection of criminal records and, therefore, not included in the convictions 

provided by the DBS. In general, corroboration of such convictions or cautions will not be sought from the 

DBS. 
 

14. A person who believes the information provided by the DBS is incorrect and who wishes to make 

representations to the Council regarding the matter, may do so. Applicants should approach the DBS if 

they think a mistake has been made on a disclosure. 

 

15. Information as to how your personal information is handled can be found via the DBS Code of Practice 

at: 

  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

 file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf.   

 

 Hard copies can be provided on request from Taxi Licensing. 
 

CHECKS ON PERSONS ALREADY IN POSSESSION OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE/PHV DRIVERS’ LICENCES 

16. Checks will not normally be made on persons other than in connection with the Policy requirements. If, 

however, serious allegations are made against a driver, or previously unrevealed information comes to 

light and the Council is satisfied that the information cannot be verified in any other way, the licence 

holder may be asked to produce a current Disclosure. The Council will undertake to pay the cost of the 

Disclosure. The Disclosure cannot be undertaken without the knowledge of the individual concerned who 

will be given an opportunity to discuss the outcome of the same. 
 

The Council will not cover the cost of Disclosures in respect of first time and subsequent DBS checks in 

line with the Policy requirements. Should a licence holder refuse to co-operate with a request to produce 

a Disclosure, then the Council will take action accordingly, which could lead to the revocation or 

suspension of a licence. 
 

USE OF INFORMATION 

17. The fact that a person has a criminal record or is known to the police does not necessarily mean that he 

or she is unfit to hold a driver’s licence. The Council will make a balanced judgement about a person’s 

suitability taking into account only those offences, which are  considered relevant to the person’s 

suitability to hold a licence. A person’s suitability will be looked at as a whole in the light of all the 

information available. 
 

18.   In deciding the relevance of conviction(s), the Council will bear in mind that offences, which took place 

many years in the past, may often have less relevance than recent offences. Similarly, a series of 

offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated minor 

conviction(s). In any event the importance of rehabilitation will be weighed against the need to protect the 

public. 
 

19.    In order to ensure consistent and fair treatment when determining whether or not criminal convictions 

render an applicant unsuitable to hold a licence, the Council have drawn up detailed policy guidelines 

containing general criteria against which applications may be considered. 
 

20. Where it is discovered that a driver, licensed prior to implementation of the Criminal Records Bureau 

(now DBS), had failed to disclose past conviction(s), the Council will consider carefully whether they 

should now refuse to re-grant the driver licence. In most cases, if those convictions are such that they 

Page 134

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474742/Code_of_Practice_for_Disclosure_and_Barring_Service_Nov_15.pdf


                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

34  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

would now lead to the refusal of a licence, refusal will be considered. If, however, previously unrevealed 

convictions are discovered which would not now disqualify the individual from holding a license, 

consideration may be given to granting it. 
 

APPEALS 

21. Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s decision to refuse a driver’s licence may appeal to a 

Magistrates’ Court. 
 

STORAGE AND DESTRUCTION OF RECORDS 

22. Any information the DBS supply will be of a sensitive and personal nature. It will be used only in 

connection with the application which gave rise to the request for a Disclosure to be made. The Lead 

Counter-signatory must ensure it is kept securely while the licensing process takes its course and that 

the information is not kept for longer than is necessary. An indication on the Council’s own record that a 

DBS disclosure has been carried out may be made but this will not refer to specific offences. 
 

CHECKS ON APPLICANTS FROM OVERSEAS 

23. The council will expect persons who have lived overseas for more than three months to provide a 

certificate of conduct or equivalent from the country of residence. 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PHV DRIVERS UNDERTAKING CONTRACT HIRE WORK 

24. Applicants who intend to undertake Contract Hire work may be required to undertake a further DBS 

Disclosure by the hirer. Lincolnshire County Council, for example, require hackney carriage and PHV 

drivers to undertake a Disclosure before undertaking contract work involving the transport of school 

children or vulnerable adults.   

 
MONITORING 

25. Where possible the Council will collate the following information in respect of DBS Disclosures: 

•  Number of DBS disclosures requested in respect of taxi applicants; 

•  Time taken to receive disclosures, and 

•  Any apparent difficulties with these arrangements, including the resource implications; 

 

Page 135



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

35  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX G 
 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
APPLICATION POLICY AND GUIDELINES RELATING TO THE RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS AND PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS 

 
1. Introduction 

 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance on the criteria which are taken into account by the 

council (Licensing Authority) when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing licence holder 

is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private hire driver licence.  The policy also 

relates to applicants for a private hire vehicle operator licence and holders of a current private hire 

operator licence. 

 

1.2 In drafting and adopting these guidelines the Licensing Authority took into consideration the Department 

for Transport’s Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued in July 2020. 

 

1.3 The purpose of setting guidelines and standards is to protect children and vulnerable adults, and by 

extension the wider public, when using hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

 

1.4 The overriding aim of the licensing authority is to protect the safety of the public. The licensing authority 

is concerned to ensure: 

 

 That a person is a fit and proper person. 

 That the person does not pose a threat to the public. 

 That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons. 

 The safeguarding of children, young persons and vulnerable adults. 

 That the policy ensures fair access, eliminates unlawful discrimination and promotes equality in 

line with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the 'protected characteristics' - age, disability, 

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and 

belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

1.5 This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in public and private hire licensing. In 

particular, but not exclusively: 

 

 Applicants for driver and operator licences 

 Existing licensed drivers and operators whose licences are being reviewed or renewed. 

 Licensing officers 

 Members of the Regulatory & Appeals Committee 

 Magistrates hearing appeals against local authority decisions 

 

1.6 Where licensing officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will utilise these guidelines when 

making a decision whether or not to grant a licence. Should there be any doubt, in the Officer’s opinion, 

as to whether the applicant is a “fit and proper” person, then the application will not be granted under 

delegated power.  Such applications will be referred to the Council’s Regulatory & Appeals Committee, or 

a sub-committee of that committee. The Regulatory & Appeals Committee is made up of elected 

members (councillors).  Whilst officers and the committee will have regard to the guidelines contained in 

the policy, each case will be considered on its individual merits where the circumstances warrant, the 

Page 136



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

36  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

committee or officer may depart from the guidelines.  The reasons for departing from the guidelines must 

be recorded in the decision. 

 
2. General Policy 
 

2.1 There may be occasions where it is appropriate to depart from the guidelines, for example, where the 

offence is a one-off occasion or there are mitigating circumstances or alternatively where there are many 

or continuous offences which may show a pattern of offending and unfitness.  However, the overriding 

consideration should always be the protection of the public. 

 

2.2 A person with a relevant conviction need not be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, but would 

be expected to show adequate evidence that he or she is a fit and proper person to hold a licence (the 

onus is on the applicant to produce such evidence).  Simply remaining free of conviction may not 

generally be regarded as adequate evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

 

2.3 A series of offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated, minor 

conviction.  A serious view will be taken when an applicant shows a pattern of offending and/or unfitness. 

 

2.4 Where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority cannot review the 

merits of the conviction [Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed Farooq (1998)] or determine that the 

applicant should never have been convicted. 

 

2.5 A person with a conviction(s) for sexual offences or connected with illegal sexual activity or any other 

serious crime will not normally be issued with a licence. 

 

2.6 The Council generally considers that, on some occasions, offence(s) committed by a licensed hackney 

carriage/private hire driver may need to be considered more seriously than an offence(s) committed by 

individuals who are not.  This is because current licensees have previously been judged as fit and proper 

and are aware of the standards required of them and are expected to maintain those high standards of 

personal conduct. 

 

2.7 Cautions – Adult cautions are not regarded as convictions, but being admissions of guilt, may be taken 

into consideration by the Licensing Authority. 

 

2.8 Private Hire Operators – In view of the significant responsibility held by private hire vehicle operators in 

terms of setting standards of their company, recruiting drivers and dealing with members of the public, 

the operator must be a fit and proper person and an example to those whom they employ.  Therefore the 

view of the Licensing Authority is that applicants for a private hire operator’s licence (and the holders of a 

private hire operator’s licence) must at least fulfil the same requirements as applicants for private hire 

driver licences in terms of being free from serious convictions or a pattern of unlawful behaviour. 
 
3. Pre-requisites to making an application 

 

3.1 It is the policy of the licensing authority that every application for a licence, including applications from 

existing licence holders, to drive a Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire Vehicle and be accompanied by 

satisfactory evidence of the following matters (and that applications that are incomplete will not be 

deemed to have been made until such time as they are completed) -    

 

 That the applicant has the right to live and work in the country.  (All applicants). 

 

Page 137



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

37  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 An up-to-date Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Services criminal record check and evidence 

that they are not on a child and/or vulnerable adult barring list. Applicants who have lived 

overseas for three continuous months or more refer to paragraphs 3.2 & 3.3. (All applicants).   

 

 A certificate of their current medical fitness to DVLA Group 2 standard. (See paragraph 3.4)  

 

 A  FULL UK or EU driving licence or legal equivalent (if an EU Licence a paper counterpart 

issued by DVLA must be obtained and produced with the application). (All applicants) 

 

 That the applicant is authorised to drive a vehicle of the same classification as that which the 

licence will allow them to drive. (All applicants) 

 

 That the applicant has a minimum of two year’s post qualification driving experience.  (Not 

required for licence renewals) 

 

 The applicant must have satisfactorily completed the Licensing Authority’s comprehension test.  

(Not required for licence renewals) 

 

 In the case of applications for hackney carriage drivers, they have passed the Licensing 

Authority’s knowledge test. (Not required for licence renewals). 

 

 That the applicant has completed the Licensing Authority’s safeguarding awareness training. 

(New applicants and existing applicants prior to their next renewal). 

 

 The applicant has signed a declaration to confirm that they understand the Driver Code of 

Conduct forms part of the Licensing Authority’s Policy. (All applicants) 

 

3.2 It is the policy of the Licensing Authority that every applicant for a licence to drive a hackney carriage 

and/or private hire vehicle must produce evidence of a current and up to date Enhanced Disclosure and 

Barring Service (DBS) Check and evidence that they are not on a child and/or vulnerable adult barring 

list.  Applicants for a private hire vehicle operator licence, who do not hold a hackney carriage/private hire 

driver licence with this authority, will be required to present, at their expense, the result of a current and 

up to date Basic Disclosure & Barring Service Check.  Any enhanced or basic disclosure that is more 

than 1 month old will not be accepted (except for enhanced disclosures when used in conjunction with 

the update service and the disclosure was less than 1 month old when first presented for the purpose of 

obtaining a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence). 

 

3.3 Before an application can be made, if an applicant has spent three continuous months or more overseas 

the licensing authority will expect to see evidence of a criminal record check, certificate of good conduct 

or equivalent, obtained for the purpose of applying for a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle Driver 

or Operator Licence with this council, from the country/countries covering the relevant period.   

 

 Such criminal record checks/certificates of good conduct must be provided in accordance with the Home 

Office Document “Application processes for Foreign National Criminality Information”.  Any criminal 

record check must be translated into English by a recognised translation service provider that has been 

agreed by the Licensing Authority. 

 

3.4 All applicants making their first application must lodge a certified medical certificate. A medical certificate 

will then be required every six years thereafter, unless an applicant’s condition warrants examination on 

Page 138



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

38  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

a more regular basis.   

 

 An applicant aged 65 years or over must undergo the medical examination every year. 

 

 As recommended by the Medical Commission on Accident Prevention the authority requires licence 

holders to attain DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard. 

 

 Any fee charged by the Doctor is payable by the applicant.   

 

 A Medical Practitioner who has full knowledge of the applicant’s medical history must carry out the 

examination.   

 

Where the Medical Practitioner cannot carry out the eye test this part of the medical form must be 

completed and the form signed by an optician prior to the medical being carried out. 

 

 Medical certificate forms and further information can be obtained from the Licensing Section.   

 

 Any applicant who does not meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard can expect to have 

their application refused. 

 

 Licensed drivers who no longer meet the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence Standard, either temporarily 

or permanently, must notify the Licensing Authority forthwith.  In such cases the driver can expect to have 

their licence either suspended or revoked.  Guidance on the DVLA Group 2 Vocational Licence 

Standards is available from the Licensing Authority. 

  

The Council will not normally accept a certified medical certificate submitted with an application, which is 

received more than 6 weeks after the Doctor has signed the report. 

 
4. Appeals 

 

4.1 Any applicant refused a driver’s licence has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the 

notice of refusal [Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976, s 77 (1)].  

 

4.2 Any applicant refused an operator licence on the grounds that the licensing authority is not satisfied they 

are a fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 

days of the notice of refusal. 

 

4.3 Any licensee whose licence is suspended or revoked has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the notice of suspension or revocation.  Where suspension or revocation is immediate, 

on the grounds of public safety, the driver cannot continue to drive a hackney carriage or private hire 

vehicle during the period of appeal. 

 
5. Powers – Suspension, Revocation or Refusal to Renew a Licence. 

 

5.1 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the Licensing Authority 

to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a hackney carriage /private hire driver licence if the 

applicant/licence holder has been convicted of: 

 

 An offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; or 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847; or 

Page 139



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

39  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

The Licensing Authority may also suspend, revoke or refuse to renew on the grounds of any other 

reasonable cause 

 

Where it is in the interests of public safety to suspend or revoke a licence that suspension or revocation 

can be with immediate effect provided that there are justifiable grounds to do so.  The driver will be given 

a notice of the suspension or revocation which will include a statement that the determination takes 

immediate effect along with an explanation as to why that is the case. 

 

5.2 Section 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the Licensing Authority 

to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licence if the applicant/licence 

holder had been convicted of failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  The Licensing Authority may also act on any of the following 

grounds: 

 

 Conduct which appears to render them unfit to hold a licence;  

 Any material change in the circumstances of the operator; or 

 Any other reasonable cause. 

 

5.3 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, allows the licensing 

authority to take into account all convictions recorded against an applicant or the holder of a hackney 

carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence, whether spent or not. Therefore the licensing authority may 

have regard to all relevant convictions (as defined in this policy), particularly where there is a long history 

of offending or a pattern of repeat offending. However, before having regard to such a spent conviction 

the Licensing Authority will first consider whether the conviction is relevant to the licence application. 

 

5.4 In this policy the term “disqualification” refers to the period served, to take account of the fact that a 

period of disqualification from driving may be reduced upon the successful completion of a relevant driver 

rehabilitation course.  An applicant must provide the Licensing Authority with sufficient evidence to prove 

that the period of disqualifications was so reduced. 

 
6. Consideration of disclosed criminal history 

 

6.1 Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 

the licensing authority is required to ensure that an applicant for the grant or renewal of a licence to drive 

a hackney carriage and/or a private hire vehicle and/or a private hire vehicle operator’s licence is a ‘fit 

and proper’ person to hold such a licence. The Authority must not grant a licence unless it is satisfied that 

the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold it. 

 

 All conviction(s), criminal findings of guilt (including fixed penalty ticket(s)), caution(s) and warning(s), 

whether for motoring or other offences and County Court Judgment(s)/Order(s) (where the judgment or 

order relates to a debt or charge to another Hackney Carriage/Private Hire driver, owner or operator) may 

potentially be taken into account when deciding whether to grant a licence or on a review after the issue 

of a licence.  During the currency of a licence the licensee must immediately after the date of arrest, 

convictions, criminal findings of guilt (including fixed penalty notice(s)), caution(s) and/or warnings, advise 

the Licensing Authority of this information in writing. 

 

 The Licensing Authority will consider: 

Page 140



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

40  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

  

 How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for (or licence being reviewed). 

 The seriousness of the offence(s). 

 When the offence(s) were committed. 

 The date of conviction. 

 Circumstances of the individual concerned 

 Sentence imposed by the court. 

 The applicant’s age at the time of conviction. 

 Whether they form part of a pattern of offending. 

 Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references). 

 Any other factors that might be relevant. 

 

6.2 Applicants for a first time licence can discuss what effect a caution/conviction or other sanction may have 

on any licence application by contacting the licensing office in confidence for advice. 

 

6.3 The licensing authority requires enhanced disclosures from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

from any applicant for a driver licence. The licensing authority follows the DBS’s Code of Practice on the 

fair use of disclosure information and abides by the DBS’s Policy on the secure storage, handling, use, 

retention and disposal of disclosure information. Both of these documents are available on request. 

 

6.4 Applicants applying for the grant or a renewal of a drivers’ licence and/or operator licence will be required 

to obtain an enhanced disclosure at their own expense.   

 

6.5 The licensing authority encourages applicants and licence holders to register for the DBS’s update 

service and to nominate the licensing authority to receive updates. Drivers that do not subscribe to the 

Update Service will be subject to a DBS check every six months. 

 

6.6 DBS certificates obtained for a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver Licence cannot be used for the 

purpose of obtaining a Lincolnshire County Council School Transport Badge (“Green Badge”) and vice 

versa.  DBS certificates obtained for any other purpose, including a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver 

Licence with another Licensing Authority, cannot be used for the purpose of obtaining a licence with this 

Licensing Authority. A separate check is required for each authorisation.  However, applicants can 

register both/all checks with the DBS update service for a single fee.   

 

6.7 The licensing authority is also entitled to use other records and information that may be available to it in 

determining applications or an entitlement to continue holding a licence.  This may include information 

held by the licensing authority or other licensing authorities, and information disclosed by the police.   

 

6.8 It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false declaration or to deliberately omit 

any relevant material in submitting information required by the application for a licence. Where an 

applicant has made a false statement or a false declaration on their application for the grant or renewal 

of a licence, the licence may be refused or revoked. 

 

6.9 In the interests of public safety this Authority will not issue a licence to any individual that appears on 

either of the regulated activity barred lists – Activity with Children and Activity with Adults. 

 
 
 
 

Page 141



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

41  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

7 Serious offences involving violence or resulting in death 

 

7.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line will be taken with those who have 

convictions for offences involving violence. Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime 

which resulted in the death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of 

another person they will not be licensed. 

 

7.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or connected with any 

offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

7.3 Given the wide range of the offences that involve violence, consideration will be given to the nature and 

type of the conviction. 

 

7.4 A licence will not be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 

 

 Murder 

 Manslaughter 

 Any culpable homicide while driving 

 Terrorism offences 

 Arson 

 Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated 

 Grievous bodily harm with intent 

 Or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring any of the 

above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as serious as the 

above. 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.4 should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately. 

 

7.5 A licence will not be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence below (or similar 

offence) which replace the below offences) or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and 

abetting or procuring such offence and the conviction (or completion of sentence – whichever is longer) is 

less than 10 years prior to the date of application;  

 

 Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated.  

 Grievous bodily harm 

 Robbery. 

 Possession of a firearm. 

 Riot. 

 Assault of a Police Officer 

 Common assault which is racially aggravated 

 Violent disorder. 

 Resisting arrest. 

 Or any similar offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring any 

of the above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as serious 

as the above. 

 

Page 142



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

42  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.5 should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a 

minimum period of 10 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) has elapsed. 

 

7.6 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence below (or 

similar offence(s) which replace the below offences) or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, 

aiding and abetting or procuring such offence and the conviction (or completion of sentence – whichever 

is longer) is less than 7 years prior to the date of application 

 

 Racially-aggravated criminal damage.  

 Any other racially-aggravated offence.  

 Or any similar offence (including attempted or conspiring to commit), offences which replace the 

above.  

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.6 should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a 

minimum period of 10 years since conviction (or completion of sentence whichever is longer) has 

elapsed. 

 

7.7 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence below (or 

similar offence(s) which replace the below offences) or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, 

aiding and abetting or procuring such offence and the conviction is less than 3 years prior to the date of 

application: 

 

 Common assault 

 Assault occasioning actual bodily harm  

 Affray 

 S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress) 

 S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence) 

 S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress) 

 Obstruction 

 Criminal damage 

 Or any similar offence (including attempting or conspiring to commit) offences which replace the 

above.  

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences at paragraph 7.7 should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a 

minimum period of 5 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer)  has elapsed. 

 

7.8 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction in the last 10 years for 

an offence of a violent nature. 

 

7.9 In the event of a licence being granted, a strict warning both verbally and in writing should be 

administered. 

 

7.10  Fixed Penalty Notices (Public Order Offence) – The Licensing Authority recognises that in some 

instance a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) may be issued for a public order offence rather the option of 

prosecution through the courts or acceptance of a caution.  A serious view will be taken of the existence 

of a FPN for a public order offence.  In certain circumstances where a FPN has been issued it may be 

Page 143



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

43  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

appropriate for the Licensing Authority to issue a strong warning regarding future conduct rather than the 

refusal of a licence application or suspension/revocation of a licence.  The existence of more than one 

FPN will raise serious concerns regarding an individual’s suitability to act as a licensed driver. 

 
8. Possession of a weapon 

 

8.1 If an applicant has been convicted of possession of a weapon or any other weapon related offence, this 

will give rise to serious concern as to whether the person is fit to carry the public. Where an applicant has 

a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon related offence, a licence will not be 

granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

8.2 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of an offence involving a weapon(s) should 

expect to have their licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a 

minimum period of 7 years since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) has elapsed. 

 
9. Sexual and indecency offences and exploitation 

 

9.1 Licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, therefore applicants with 

convictions for sexual offences will normally be refused a licence. 

  

9.2 In particular, an application will be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence of 

attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring such offences such as: 

 

 Rape 

 Assault by penetration 

 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults 

 Sexual assault 

 Indecent assault 

 Exploitation of prostitution 

 Trafficking for sexual exploitation 

 Any offence involving child sexual exploitation and/or sexual exploitation of vulnerable adults 

 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc. 

 Any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of employment as a hackney 

carriage/private hire vehicle driver 

 Indecent exposure  

 Soliciting (kerb crawling)  

 Or any offence of attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring any of the 

above offences or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as serious as the 

above. 

 

9.3 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of a sexual or indecency offence during the 

period of a licence should expect to have their licence revoked immediately. They can expect not to be 

licensed again. 

 

9.4 In addition to the above the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who is currently on 

the Sex Offenders Register or on any Barred List. 

 

9.5 Exploitation – where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has 

any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective of whether the 

Page 144



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

44  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual 

abuse, exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive 

list. 

 

10. Discrimination 

 

10.1 Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination is any form, a licence will 

not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

10.2 A licence holder found guilty of a discrimination offence can expect to have their hackney carriage or 

private hire vehicle driver’s licence revoked immediately.  It is unlikely that anyone in this situation will 

ever be licensed again until a period of at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 

sentence imposed. 

  
11. Dishonesty 
 

11.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle drivers are expected to be persons of trust. The widespread 

practice of delivering unaccompanied property, taking children to school and families on holiday, is 

indicative of the trust that people place in drivers. Moreover, it is comparatively easy for a dishonest 

driver to defraud the public by demanding more than the legal fare etc. Overseas visitors can be 

confused by the change in currency and become “fair game” for an unscrupulous driver. Similarly, any 

customer can be defrauded by a driver taking them by any other than the shortest route or by any lost 

property being kept by an unscrupulous driver. For these reasons a serious view should be taken of any 

conviction involving dishonesty.  

 

11.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a 

licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 

imposed. 

  

 Offences involving dishonesty include: 

 

 theft 

 burglary 

 fraud 

 benefit fraud 

 handling or receiving stolen goods 

 forgery 

 conspiracy to defraud 

 obtaining money or property by deception 

 other deception 

 taking a vehicle without consent 

 and any similar offences 

 Or any offences (including attempting, conspiring to commit, aiding and abetting or procuring 

such offence) or any offence which may replace the above or be considered as serious as the 

above. 

 

A licensed hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of a dishonesty offence should expect 

to have their licence revoked and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a minimum period of  7 

years after conviction (or completion of sentence if longer). 

Page 145



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

45  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

11.3 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a dishonesty 

offence. 

 
12.  Drugs 

 

12.1 A serious view will be taken of any drug related offence.  

 

12.2 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession with intent to 

supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 

years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

12.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession of drugs, a 

licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 

imposed.  In these circumstances, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at 

their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

 

 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical examination (in 

accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required before an application is considered. 

If the applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show evidence of at least 5 years 

free from drug taking after detoxification treatment. 

 

12.4 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical examination (in 

accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required before an application is considered. 

 If the applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show evidence of at least 5 years 

free from drug taking after detoxification treatment. 

 

12.5 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a drugs related 

offence. 

 

12.6 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver found guilty of driving whilst under the influence of drugs, 

or found guilty of any drug-related offence should expect to have their drivers licence revoked 

immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a minimum period of 10 years since 

conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) has elapsed. 

 
13. Driving offences involving the loss of life 

 

13.1 A very serious view will be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving offence that 

resulted in the loss of life. 

 

A licence will not be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 

 

 Causing death by dangerous driving 

 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 

 Causing death driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers 

 or any similar offences 

 

A hackney carriage/private hire driver found guilty of any of the above offences should expect to have 

their licence revoked immediately.  

Page 146



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

46  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 
14. Drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol 

 

14.1 In a motor vehicle - A serious view will be taken of convictions for driving or being in charge of a vehicle 

while under the influence of drink or drugs.  An isolated incident may not necessarily permanently bar an 

applicant but strict warnings should be given as to future behaviour. More than one conviction for such 

offences should give rise to serious doubts as to the applicant’s fitness to hold a licence.  

 

14.2 At least 7 years should elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA driving licence) before an applicant is 

considered for a licence. If there is any suggestion that the applicant is alcohol dependent, a special 

medical examination should be arranged before the application is considered. If the applicant is found to 

be alcohol dependent, a period of 7 years should elapse after treatment is complete before an 

application/further licence application is considered. 

 

 A Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver found guilty of a drink-driving offence or found guilty of driving 

whilst under the influence of drugs should expect to have their drivers licence revoked immediately and 

not be considered for the grant of a licence until at least 7 years after restoration of the DVLA driving 

licence.  

 

14.3 With a licensed vehicle - A driver found guilty of a drink-driving offence or driving whilst under the 

influence of drugs whilst carrying passengers in a licensed vehicle should expect to have their driver’s 

licence revoked immediately and not be considered for the grant of a licence until a minimum period of 7 

years after the restoration of the DVLA driving licence. 
 
15. Major Traffic Offences 

 

15.1 An isolated conviction for dangerous driving or driving without due care and attention or similar offences 

should normally merit a strong warning as to future driving and advice on the standard expected of 

hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers.  More than one conviction for this type of offence within the 

last two years should merit refusal and no further application should be considered until a period of 3 

years free from convictions has elapsed.   

 

15.2 Similarly, a first conviction during the period of a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers licence will 

indicate that the driver may have ceased to be a fit and proper person and will lead to either a licence 

suspension or to a warning as to future conduct.  Where there are subsequent convictions revocation of 

the licence will be considered with no further application being considered until a period of 3 years from 

conviction has elapsed.    

 

15.3 Applicants/drivers who have been disqualified from driving due to major traffic offences (Not 

involving the loss of life) – Existing drivers can expect to have their licence revoked.  At least 3 years 

should elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA Licence) before an individual is considered for a hackney 

carriage/private hire vehicle driver’s licence. 

 
16. Insurance offences (with a motor vehicle) 

  

16.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions for using, or causing or permitting the use of a motor vehicle 

without insurance.  An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily prevent a licence being granted 

provided the applicant has been free of conviction for at least 3 years.  However, a strict warning should 

be given as to future conduct.   

 

Page 147



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

47  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

16.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for an insurance 

related offence.   

 

16.3 A licensed driver found guilty of driving passengers in a licensed vehicle without insurance should expect 

to have their hackney carriage or private hire vehicle driver licence revoked immediately and not be 

considered for another licence for at least 5 years. 

 

16.4 An operator found guilty of causing or permitting the driving of passengers for hire and reward whilst 

without insurance will normally have his operator licence revoked and will not be considered for holding a 

licence for at least 5 years. 
 
17. Using a mobile phone whilst driving 

 

17.1 Applicants (and licence holders) should be aware of the serious risk posed by driving whilst using a 

mobile phone. There is a substantial body of which shows that drivers who use a mobile phone suffer 

physical and cognitive distraction which means they: 

 

• are much less aware of what's happening on the road around them 

• fail to see road signs 

• fail to maintain proper lane position and steady speed 

• are more likely to 'tailgate' the vehicle in front 

• react more slowly, take longer to brake and longer to stop 

• are more likely to enter unsafe gaps in traffic 

• feel more stressed and frustrated. 

 

17.2 There is evidence to show that drivers who use a mobile phone have slower reaction times than those 

who have consumed alcohol up to the legal limit.  In light of this a serious view should be taken of 

convictions for driving whilst using a mobile phone. 

 

17.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a hand-held mobile telephone or a hand-held device whilst 

driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or 

completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 

 

17.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for an offence of 

driving whilst using a mobile phone and a licensed driver who is convicted can expect the suspension or 

revocation of their licence. 
 
18. Other Traffic Offences 
  

18.1 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 

carrying the public.  It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 

occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence.  However, applicants 

with multiple motoring offences may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a  safe 

road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally. 
 

Page 148



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

48  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

18.2 Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not take their 

professional responsibilities seriously.  However, it is accepted that offences can be committed 

unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not  necessitate the revocation of a 

taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee remains a fit 

and proper person to retain a licence. 
  
 New Applicants 
 

18.3 Any conviction for other traffic offences, (e.g. obstruction, waiting in a restricted street, speeding etc) 

should not normally prevent a person from proceeding with an application.  However, the number, type 

and frequency of this kind of offence will be taken into account.  In certain instances it may be 

appropriate to issue a licence together with a strong warning as to future driving standards. If a significant 

history of offences is disclosed, refusal of an application may result.  

 

18.4 New applicants who have received 9 or more DVLA penalty points (in respect of minor traffic offences) 

on their driving licence during the 12 months prior to the date of application may be refused.  

 

18.5 Applicants who have been disqualified from driving under the “totting-up” procedure will not normally be 

granted a licence unless they have held a licence for at least 2 years following the expiry period of the 

disqualification and can show a significant improvement in history of motoring offences during that period. 

 
 Existing Licence Holders 
 

18.6 A hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver receiving 6 or more penalty points during any 3 year period 

will be issued with a written warning as to future conduct. 
 

18.7 Any current driver disqualified from holding a DVLA licence under the “totting-up” procedure should 

expect to have their hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence revoked.  At least 3 years should 

then elapse (after the restoration of the DVLA licence) before they are considered for a licence and then 

a licence should only be granted if they can show a significant improvement in a history of motoring 

offences during that period. 

 

18.8 In the case of an existing hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver where the “totting-up” 

disqualification of a DVLA licence is considered by the court, even if the court does not disqualify, the 

Council is likely to revoke the hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver licence.  At least 3 years should 

elapse either after the date of consideration by the court or restoration of the DVLA licence, whichever is 

the longer, before the individual is considered for a licence. 

 

18.9 In the case of an existing hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver, who show a pattern of driving 

endorsements, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to require such a driver to successfully undergo 

the Taxi and Private Hire Driving Assessment provided by the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership and 

attain a low risk assessment (or other assessment by a similar body approved by the Licensing 

Authority). 

 

18.10 Any driver who receives a short period disqualification can expect to receive a warning regarding future 

conduct and may also be required to attend the Taxi and Private Hire Driving Assessment provided by 

the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership and attain a low risk assessment (or other assessment by a 

similar body approved by the Licensing Authority).  In cases where the drivers licence is already 

endorsed with penalty points the driver can expect their licence to be suspended along with a 

Page 149



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

49  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

requirement to attend an assessment course.  In cases where there is a pattern of offences the driver 

can expect their licence to be revoked and not be considered for another licence for at least 3 years. 

 
19. Drunkenness (Not in a Motor Vehicle) 

 

19.1 A single conviction for drunkenness need not debar an applicant from gaining a licence. However, a 

number of convictions for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem necessitating critical 

examination.   In some cases, a warning may be sufficient. 

 

19.2 In cases of severe alcohol abuse, a period of 5 years after the last conviction must elapse before an 

application is considered and then only after examination by a consultant with a special interest in such 

cases with confirmation being provided of satisfactory liver enzyme tests and mean cell volume (MCV). 

 
20. Licensing offences 

 

20.1 One of the main purposes of the licensing regime is to ensure the protection of the public.  For this 

reason a serious view is taken of convictions for offences, or a possible pattern of unlawful behaviour, 

under the hackney carriage and private hire licensing regime. 
 

20.2 Certain offences under hackney carriage legislation such as plying for hire without a hackney carriage 

licence, overcharging and refusing to carry disabled persons would normally  result in refusal to grant or 

renew a licence  until a period of at least 3 years has passed since conviction. A licensed driver with such 

a conviction can expect their licence to be revoked and not be considered for another licence for at least 

3 years. 
 

20.3 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for a licensing related 

offence, or in the case of an existing licence holder, suspension or revocation can be expected. 
 
21. Smokefree –  Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles 

 

21.1 Any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver who receives a first fixed penalty notice or fine for 

smoking in a licensed vehicle will be issued with a warning as regards to future conduct. 
 

21.2 Any hackney carriage/private hire vehicle driver receiving two or more fixed penalty notices or fines 

during any three year period for smoking in a licensed vehicle will be reported to a sub-committee of the 

Regulatory & Appeals Committee who may consider suspension or revocation of their driver licence(s). 
 
22. Perverting or attempting to pervert or conspiring to pervert the Course of Justice 

 

22.1 At least 3 years should elapse since conviction (or completion of sentence if longer) before an applicant 

is considered for a licence. 
 

22.2 A licence holder found guilty of such an offence should expect to have their licence revoked and not be 

re-considered for a licence until a minimum period of 5 years has elapsed since conviction (or completion 

of sentence if longer). 
 
23. Immigration Offences 
 

23.1 Where a licence holder has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an immigration offence, 

the licence will be revoked by this Authority. 

Page 150



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

50  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

23.2 Similarly, any licence applicant who has been served an immigration penalty, or convicted of an 

immigration offence, is unlikely to be granted a licence by this Authority.  
 
24. Outstanding charges or summonses 

 

24.1 If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their application can be processed, 

but the application will be reviewed at the conclusion of any outstanding proceedings. However, if the 

outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence then in the interests of public safety the 

application may be put on hold until proceedings are concluded or the licence may be refused.  

 
25. Non-conviction information 

 

25.1 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not convicted, for a 

serious offence which suggests they could be a danger to the public, consideration should be given to 

refusing the application.  

 

25.2 In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public shall be the paramount concern. 

 
26. Once a licence has been granted 

 

26.1 If a licence holder’s conduct is such that, were they to be applying for a new licence their application 

would normally be refused, they should expect consideration to be given as to the suspension or 

revocation of their licence. 

 

26.2 Unless otherwise stated, all of the preceding contents of this policy document apply equally to current 

hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers as they do to licence applicants  

 
27. Licences issued by other licensing authorities 

 

27.1 Applicants who already hold a licence with another licensing authority should not assume that a similar 

application will be granted by this Authority. Each case will be decided on its own merits.  

 

27.2 Licensees who are licensed by multiple Licensing Authorities are expected to inform each of them that 

they hold licences elsewhere and which Authorities have granted licences to them.  When applying for a 

licence or during the currency of a licence they should inform this Council if another Authority has 

refused, revoked or suspended a licence and advise each Authority of any changes in their 

circumstances; such licence holders should expect those  Authorities to share information regarding their 

conduct and to take it into account as appropriate.  Any personal data collected in this way is shared with 

other Authorities for the purposes of the protection of the public and all licensees  consent to their data 

being used for that purpose. 
 
28. Conclusion 

 

28.1 To conclude, a criminal history in itself may not automatically result in refusal of a licence and a current 

conviction for a serious crime need not bar an applicant permanently from becoming licensed. As the 

preceding paragraphs indicate, in most cases, an applicant will be expected to remain free from 

conviction for between 3 to 10 years, according to circumstances, before an application can be 

considered.  However, there may be occasions when an application can be allowed before 3 years free 

from conviction have elapsed.   

Page 151



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

51  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

28.2 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, individually, would not 

prevent them from being licensed, the overall offending history will be considered when assessing an 

applicant’s suitability to be licensed. A series of offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause 

for concern than an isolated minor conviction. Obviously some discretion may be afforded if an offence is 

isolated and there are mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is the protection of the 

public.  This consideration is vital because hackney carriage/private hire licence holders have 

unprecedented access to the public and are in a position to exercise control over individuals including 

children and vulnerable adults. 

 

28.3 The Council generally considers that offences committed by licensed hackney carriage/private hire 

vehicle drivers should be considered more seriously than offences committed by individuals who are not 

licensed. This is because current licensees have previously been judged as fit and proper and are aware 

of the standards required of them and are expected to maintain those high standards of personal 

conduct. 

 

28.4 Whilst officers and the committee will have regard to the guidelines contained in the policy, each case will 

be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, the committee/officer may 

depart from the guidelines. 

 
29. Review of Policy 

 

29.1 This Policy Statement will remain in existence until superseded and will be subject to review and further 

consultation before the end of 2027.  However, following consultation, the Council may make revisions to 

it as deemed necessary before the 2027 date. 

 

 

These policy guidelines were last revised and updated in March 2022. 

 

Page 152



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

52  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX H 

        
CODE OF CONDUCT  
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers (referred to in this document as drivers) are in a position 
of trust in respect of the safety and welfare of their passengers. The Licensing Authority, through its 
licensing team and committee, has to ensure that all drivers are ‘fit and proper’ to undertake their 
work as drivers and that they also act as ambassadors for the district. It is essential that the council 
and drivers work together in order to ensure members of the public are treated with dignity and 
respect, including reporting any concerns. 
 
On occasions, drivers may become aware of, or have suspicions that, a passenger may be the victim 
of abuse, neglect or exploitation either sexual or otherwise, or at risk of becoming a victim.  In 
addition, drivers themselves may be accused of misconduct or inappropriate behaviour through the 
misinterpretation of the driver’s actions or conversation. 
 
Therefore, Boston Borough Council has introduced this Code of Conduct which is aimed at providing 
the best possible service by protecting both passengers and drivers. This code ensures that concerns, 
suspicions of abuse, neglect or exploitation can be reported appropriately and minimise the risk of 
misunderstandings.   
 
Drivers are expected to comply with this Code of Conduct. Failure to do so may result in the 
driver being referred to the Regulatory and Appeals Committee to explain the circumstances 
surrounding any incident.  In the event of a repeated and/or serious failure to comply, drivers can 
expect that consideration will be given to the suspension or revocation of their licence. 
 
It should be noted that the code does not over-ride any legislative requirements, licence conditions 
or contractual obligations, such as County Council contracts under the Green Badge scheme. 
 
Drivers should: 

 Act in a professional manner at all times 

 Treat passengers and other road users with respect 

 Keep relationships with passengers on an appropriate, professional basis 

 Respect all individuals – regardless of age, disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, religion/belief, language spoken, race or ethnicity, pregnancy/maternity and 
marriage/civil partnership. 

 
And be aware of: 

 The safety and well-being of passengers being paramount 

 The importance of the use of appropriate language 

 The vulnerability of children and persons with special needs. 

 Any instruction given about the care or first aid requirements of a passenger 

 Possible caution required when dealing with passengers in distress  

 Personal beliefs and standards, including dress and religion 

 Passengers misreading situations 

Page 153



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

53  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 The use of social networking sites such as Facebook and Twitter. These are public websites 
and therefore passengers conveyed may access a driver’s site. Ensure you use the 
appropriate privacy settings to avoid passengers viewing your social media sites 

 
Drivers should never: 

 Become over-friendly or unprofessional in any way with passengers or engage in any form of 
inappropriate relationship, infatuation or show favouritism. 

 Make physical contact with a passenger, unless in an emergency situation, or if required to 
do so because of the additional needs of the passenger. 

 Administer medication unless a specific request has been made by the hirer. 

 Photograph or video passengers in your care unless used in compliance with data protection 
legislation and any relevant codes of practice issued by the Home Office or Information 
Commissioner’s Office. 

 Engage with passengers who are children or vulnerable adults through social networking sites 
(such as Facebook and Twitter), instant messengers or any other online communication 
software such as mobile phone applications or video games 

 Phone or send text messages to passengers other than directly concerning the hiring of your 
vehicle 

 Swear at/in front of passengers or make personal/humiliating comments at/in front of 
passengers or tell inappropriate jokes to passengers 

 Offer sweets, cigarettes or gifts of any sort. 

 Stop anywhere other than the specified pick up/drop off points unless requested by the 
hirer. 

 Show passengers inappropriate videos or pictures on your mobile phone or any other 
electronic device. 

 Make inappropriate comments about other drivers, proprietors or operators to other 
persons either verbally, on social media or otherwise. 

 
Safeguarding: 

If a driver has concerns or suspects abuse, neglect or exploitation of a passenger then these should 
not be ignored.  If there are any suspicions or concerns about the way someone is being treated it is 
important to report it to the appropriate authority. The safeguarding of children and vulnerable 
adults is everybody’s responsibility. Remember that your information could help a vulnerable child 
or adult. 
 
If a driver is working under a Lincolnshire County Council contract then those procedures set out in 
the Driver and Passenger Assistant Pack should be followed alongside any training received by the 
driver. 
 
Otherwise, the following procedures should be complied with in reporting any information or 
suspicions you may have of anyone being subject to abuse, neglect or exploitation: 
 
Action to be taken if you have concerns: 

 If your concerns are of an urgent matter or you believe that a crime has been committed and 
there is an immediate risk of danger, telephone the police on 999 or 112 

 

Page 154



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

54  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 If you are suspicious or are concerned that a child or an adult is suffering or is likely to suffer 
significant harm, including any form of mistreatment, abuse, neglect or exploitation but it is 
not of an urgent nature, please call the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Customer Service Centre on 
01522  782111 for children or 01522 782155 for adults 

 

 If you would prefer to speak to the police on a non-urgent matter then call them on 101 and 
follow the directions for Lincolnshire Police. 

 
 
(Adopted 9 June 2015) 
 

Page 155



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

55  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX I 
 

 

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE OPERATOR – LICENCE CONDITIONS 

 

1. Every person to whom a licence under Section 55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act, 1976, has been granted by this Council shall keep a record of the following particulars of every 

booking of a Private Hire Vehicle invited or accepted by them, whether by accepting the same from the 

hirer or by undertaking it at the request of another licensed operator and shall produce such records on 

request to any authorised Officer of the Council or any Constable for inspection:- 
 

(a) The name of the passenger 

(b) The date and time of the request 

(c) The pick-up point 

(d) The destination 

(e) The name of the driver 

(f) The driver’s badge number 

(g) The vehicle registration number of the vehicle 

(h) The name of the individual that responded to the booking request 

(i) The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle 

 

 All booking records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than six months 

following the date of the last entry.  If a computer system is used, the operator must be able to provide a 

print-out of all required booking details. 
 

2. The operator shall keep records of the particulars of all private hire vehicles operated by them, which 

particulars shall include details of the owners, registration numbers and drivers of such vehicles, together 

with the details of the private hire vehicle licence including number issue and expiry dates. All vehicle 

records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than six months following the date 

of the last entry. If a computer system is used, the operator must be able to provide a print-out of all 

required details. 
 

3. No person shall operate a Private Hire Vehicle without:- 

(i) The vehicle is licensed under Section 55 of the Act; 

(ii) The driver has a current licence under Section 51 of the Act. 
 

4. No Private Hire Vehicle shall ply for hire in the Borough.  Every contract for the hire of a Private Hire 

Vehicle licensed under Section 56 of the Act shall be deemed to be made with the Operator who 

accepted the booking for that vehicle whether or not they accepted the booking. 

 
 

5. The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at all 

reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:- 

 

(a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at an appointed time 

and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, punctually attend at 

that appointed time and place. 
 

 

(b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator provides and 

to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking or waiting. 

Page 156



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

56  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

(c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating facilities. 
 

6.     The operator is not required to fit a taximeter to a private hire vehicle, but any vehicle so equipped shall 

NOT be operated until the taximeter has been previously tested and sealed by the Council’s testing 

station and a meter inspection report lodged with the Council. 
 

7. (a) The operator may charge whatever fare has been agreed between them and the hirer before the 

commencement of the journey.  However, they shall inform the Council of the basic scale of 

fares intended to be charged and give the Council at least one calendar month's notice of any 

changes proposed thereto. 
 

(b) The operator shall display visibly inside a private hire vehicle a current list of their basic scale of 

charges for inspection by passengers. 
 

8. Where any complaint is made against a private hire vehicle driver, then the complainant shall be 

requested to put that complaint in writing immediately and submit it to the Council or the Operator who 

shall in turn within 48 hours of receipt of the complaint notify the Licensing Authority. 
 

9. The operator shall notify the Council in writing of any change of their address (including any address from 

which they operate or otherwise conducts their business as an operator) during the period of the licence, 

within seven days of such change taking place. 

 

10. The operator shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of any conviction(s) 

imposed on them (or if the operator is a company or partnership, on any of the Directors or Partners) 

during the period of the licence. 
 

11. The operator shall ensure that any driver employed by the operator or working from the operator's 

premises holds a current Private Hire Driver's Licence issued by Boston Borough Council. 
 

12. The operator shall at all times operate their private hire business in compliance with the terms of Part II of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, and failure so to do may result in the 

licence being suspended or revoked. 
 

13. Private hire vehicles may not refuse to carry a guide, hearing or prescribed assistance dog belonging to a 

passenger, unless the driver has a proven medical condition that would preclude such action. No 

additional charge must be made to carry a guide, hearing or other prescribed assistance dog belonging 

to a passenger.      

 

14. Following the issue of an operator licence the licence holder is required to submit to this Authority an up-

to-date result of a Basic DBS Check on an annual basis.     

 

 Guidance regarding the licence condition: this means that a check must be obtained and supplied in 

respect of a sole individual, or each individual where the licence is held by multiple individuals, or each 

director of a limited company licence holder. 

 

 DBS certificates must be issued in the full name of the relevant individual, and must have been issued no 

earlier than 1 month before the date on which the certificate is submitted to this Authority. 

 

 This requirement will not relate to any individual holding a current private hire or hackney carriage driver’s 

licence issued by Boston Borough Council and that person has: 

Page 157



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

57  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

 Signed up to the DBS Update Service; and 

 

 Completed this Authority’s “DBS Update Service Authorisation form” 

 

15.  Booking and Dispatch Staff - where the holder of this licence employs a person or persons to take 

vehicle bookings (be it by phone or in person) and/or a vehicle dispatcher or dispatchers (who decide 

which driver to  send to a user), then the following shall apply: 

 

 The licence holder shall maintain a register detailing all staff that will take bookings or dispatch  

vehicles. 

 

 The licence holder shall ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on all current individuals 

on the register and any individuals added to the register and that the DBS  certificate provided by 

the individual has been recently issued when viewed. 

 

 The licence holder shall be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS check 

on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff. 

 

Guidance regarding Licence Conditions: some private hire vehicle operators will be employing persons to 

take vehicle bookings (be it by phone or in person) and vehicle dispatchers who decide which driver to 

send to a user. 

 

In line with the requirement laid down in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, issued by 

the Department of Transport, any operator licence granted or renewed by this Authority is subject to the 

above licence condition requiring the licence holder to maintain a register of all staff that will take bookings 

or dispatch vehicles. 

 

In addition, the licence condition will require the operator to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic 

DBS check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff. The condition requires 

the operator to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the register and 

that the certificate provided by the individual has been recently issued when viewed. 

 
In order to undertake the above requirement operators will need to adopt a written policy on employing ex-

offenders. 

 

When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an operator they should be required, 

as part of their employment contract, to advise the operator/employer of any convictions while they are 

employed in this role. 

 

The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for the same 

duration as the hire booking records are kept - this will enable cross-referencing between the two records.  

 

A record that the operator has had sight of a Basic DBS Certificate (although the certificate itself should 

not be retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the register. Should an 

employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new Basic DBS Certificate should be 

requested and sight of this recorded. 

                               

16.  Employing Ex-offenders - a licence holder employing Booking & Dispatch Staff must hold and maintain a 

Page 158



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

58  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

Policy on Employing Ex-Offenders. 

 

Guidance regarding Licence Condition: This Authority recommends that the policy indicates that those with 

a current (unspent) conviction for any of the offences listed below, would not be suitable to decide who is 

sent to carry a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a licensed vehicle: 

 

 Crime resulting in death 

 Exploitation 

 Offence involving violence against the person 

 Possession of a weapon 

 Sexual offences 

 Dishonesty 

 Drugs 

 Discrimination 

 

17.   Use of Passenger Carrying Vehicle (PCV) Licensed Drivers - the use of a driver who holds a PCV licence 

and the use of a Public Service Vehicle (PSV) to undertake a private hire vehicle booking will not be 

permitted without the informed consent of the booker. 

 

Guidance regarding Licence Conditions: in line with the requirement laid down in the Statutory Taxi and 

Private Hire Vehicle Standards, any operator licence granted or renewed by this Authority will be subject to 

the above licence condition. Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle 

is needed because more than eight passenger seats are required or to accommodate luggage, the booker 

should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV licensed driver will be used who is subject to 

a different level of licensing checks and not required to have an Enhanced DBS check. 
 

NOTES: 

 

Appeal – Applicants aggrieved by any of the conditions attached to this licence, including both these standard 

conditions and any further conditions imposed in respect to specific issues, may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court 

within 21 days of the service of the licence, in accordance with Sections 55 and 77 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

Data Protection: Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the 

information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides comprehensive on-line guidance on 

registering as a data controller and how to meet their obligations. 
 

https://ico.org.uk/ 

 

Page 159

https://ico.org.uk/


                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

59  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX J 
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER – LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 

1. Change of Address or Employer 

The driver must notify the Council in writing of any change of their address or employer during the period 

of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. 

 

2. Driver's Badge 

(a) When driving a Private Hire Vehicle the driver is required to attach the badge issued by the 

Council to their jacket or similar garment, in such position and manner to be plainly and distinctly 

visible to the passengers. 

(b) The badge (which remains the property of the Council) must be returned to the Council, either at 

the termination of this licence or when moving from the Borough and ceasing to be a Private Hire 

Driver. 

(c) If a driver's badge and/or licence is misplaced or lost the driver must notify the Council 

immediately. 
 

3. Conduct of Driver 

The driver shall:- 

 

(a) Afford all reasonable assistance with passengers' luggage. 

(b) At all times be clean and respectable in their dress and person and behave in a civil and orderly 

manner. 

(c) Take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or alighting 

from the vehicle driven by them. 

(d) Not without the express consent of the hirer, drink, eat or play any radio or sound reproducing 

instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending or receiving 

messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle. 

(e) At no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously mentioned 

equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any 

person, whether inside or outside the vehicle. 

(f) Not to tout or solicit or cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit in any public place any 

person to hire or be carried for hire in any Private Hire Vehicle nor proceed along the highway for 

the purpose of plying for hire. 

(g) The driver shall at the request of any authorised Officer of the Council or any Constable produce 

for inspection their official driver's licence forthwith or; 

(h) In the case of a request by an authorised Officer, before the expiration of the period of five days 

beginning with the day following that on which the request was made at the above address; 

              (i) In the case of a request by a Constable before the expiration of the period stated by                     

     the Officer at any Police Station which is within the Borough and is nominated by the                    

      driver when the request is made. 

  (j) The driver of a private hire vehicle shall not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in 

distance or in time, the journey for which the private hire vehicle has been hired. 
 

4. Passengers 

(a) The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons 

than that indicated on the licence plate issued by the Council of any licensed vehicle being 

driven by them or in his charge. 

(b) The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or permit to be conveyed 

any other person in that vehicle. 

Page 160



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

60  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

 

5. Lost Property 

(a) The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a Private Hire Vehicle or as 

soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have been 

accidentally left there. 

(b) If any property accidentally left in a Private Hire Vehicle by any person who may have been 

conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, he shall take it as soon as possible and in 

any event within 24 hours to a convenient Police Station and leave it in the custody of the Officer 

in charge on their giving a receipt for it. (Or take it to the Council’s Licensing Office). 
 

6. Written Receipts 

The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle provide them with a written receipt for 

the fare paid. 
 

7 Guide, Hearing or Prescribed Assistance Dog and other Animals 

The driver shall not convey in a Private Hire Vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody of them or 

the proprietor or operator of the vehicle. 
 

If the private hire vehicle being driven by the driver has been hired: 

(a) by or for a disabled person with their guide, hearing or prescribed assistance dog; or 

(b) by a person who will be accompanied in the private hire vehicle by such a disabled person;  

they must: 

(a) carry the disabled passenger’s dog and allow it to remain with the passenger; and 

(b) not make any additional charge for doing so. 

 

Any driver with a medical reason for not complying with this condition must obtain a medical certificate 

from their registered medical practitioner to exempt them from this condition and lodge the 

aforementioned certificate with the Council. Any payment of such a certificate will be paid by the licence 

holder. 

 

Any other animal belonging to or in the custody of any passenger which in the driver's discretion may be 

conveyed in the vehicle shall only be conveyed in the rear of the vehicle.   

At the termination of any such hiring the driver will ensure that the seat occupied is cleared of all fur/hair 

before accepting another fare. 
 

8. Prompt Attendance 

The driver of a Private Hire Vehicle shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been hired to be in 

attendance at an appointed time and place or he has otherwise been instructed by the operator or 

proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance at an appointed time and place, punctually attend at that 

appointed time and place, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause.  If for any reason whatsoever 

the driver is unable to attend at the appointed time and place, he shall take immediate steps to report his 

circumstances to the proprietor or operator of the vehicle to enable alternative arrangements to be made. 
 

9. Taximeter 

If a Private Hire Vehicle being driven by the driver is fitted with a taximeter, the driver shall not cause the 

fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of 

examining it and has paid the fare (unless credit is to be given). 
 

10. Fare to be Demanded 

The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a Private Hire Vehicle a fare in excess of any previously 

agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and 

Page 161



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

61  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

there has been no previous agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter. 
 

11. Licensee Self-reporting 

 Licence holders will be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of an arrest and release, 

charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any 

motoring offence.  An arrest for any of the offences within this scope should result in a review by the 

issuing authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so.  This must not, however, be 

seen as a direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the licensing authority to consider what, if 

any, action in terms of the licence should be taken based on the balance of probabilities.  A failure by a 

licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as 

behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the 

outcome of the initial allegation. 

 

 

Page 162



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

62  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

APPENDIX K 

 

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE – LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 

1. The proprietor of a Private Hire Vehicle shall report to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable, or 

in any case within 72 hours, of the occurrence of any accident to such vehicle causing damage materially 

affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or convenience of persons 

carried therein. 
 

2. Every Private Hire Vehicle (together with any taximeter therein) licensed by the Council must be 

inspected on at least two separate occasions in every 12 months.  The inspection will be carried out at 

the Council's garage, and the proprietor is responsible for the making of arrangements for such 

inspections.  The first inspection must be made in the fifth month following the date of the licence and the 

second immediately prior to the renewal of the licence. 
 

3. A Private Hire Vehicle shall not be used before the identity plate issued by the Council has been affixed 

to the rear of the vehicle, in a conspicuous position, to the satisfaction of the Council. 
 

4. The proprietor of the vehicle shall return the identity plate within seven days of the expiration, suspension 

or revocation of a Private Hire Vehicle Licence. 
 

5. The vehicle must not carry a greater number of persons than that indicated on the vehicle licence plate 

issued by the Council. 
 

6. A Private Hire Vehicle shall NOT be used to ply for hire within the Borough. 
 

7. A Private Hire Vehicle shall not display any signs on or from the vehicle as to lead any person to believe 

that the vehicle is a Hackney Carriage. 
 

No sign shall be permitted to be displayed on the vehicle other than:- 

 

(i) Signs which must be displayed by law or under the licence conditions; 

(ii) The business telephone number of the vehicle operator. 

(iii) The name of the operator or their firm PROVIDED that no name shall be permitted to be 

displayed which incorporates the terms "taxi(s)", "cab", "hackney carriage" or any other term 

which might lead a member of the public to believe that the vehicle is a Hackney Carriage. 

(iv) When displaying the business telephone number and/or the name of the operator the vehicle 

MUST display the words "PRIVATE HIRE ONLY" on the metal panel of both front doors of the 

vehicle.  The lettering must be at least 5cm (2”) in size and be of a neat and consistent standard. 
 

8. The vehicle shall NOT be fitted with a roof sign. 
 

9. There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in use or available for hire a 

fire extinguisher which shall be securely fixed to the vehicle in such a position as to be readily available 

for use.  The extinguisher shall be indelibly and clearly marked with the vehicle plate number (issued in 

respect of the vehicle). 
 

10. The vehicle and all of its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is in use or available 

for hire, be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition. 
 

11. The operator is not required to fit a taximeter to a private hire vehicle, but any vehicle so equipped shall 

NOT be operated unless the taximeter has been previously tested and sealed by the Council’s testing 

Page 163



                                                                                                                                  

 

 

 

63  

A Guide for Private Hire Drivers and Proprietors March 2022 

station and a meter inspection report lodged with the Council. 
 

12. (a) The operator may charge whatever fare has been agreed between them and the hirer before the 

commencement of the journey.  However, they shall inform the Council of the basic scale of 

fares intended to be charged and give the Council at least one calendar month's notice of any 

changes proposed thereto. 

 

(b) The operator shall display visibly inside the vehicle a current list of their basic scale of charges 

for inspection by passengers. 
 

13. The operator shall notify the Council in writing of any change of their address during the period of the 

licence within 7 days of such change taking place. 
 

14. The operator shall at all times operate the vehicle in compliance with the terms of Part II of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, and failure to do so may result in the vehicle licence 

being suspended or revoked. 
 

15. The private hire vehicle must carry a guide, hearing or prescribed assistance dog belonging to a 

passenger, unless the driver has a proven medical condition that would preclude such action. No 

additional charge must be made to carry a guide, hearing or other prescribed assistance dog belonging 

to a passenger. 

 

 

 

 

 
                                                                                                            

Page 164



     
 

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences will not be issued to vehicles being presented to be licensed 
to carry 5 or more passengers unless such vehicles are immediately wheelchair accessible (i.e. 
the vehicle must be capable of accommodating a disabled passenger whilst seated in his/her 
wheelchair).  The requirement to remove seats in order to accommodate a wheelchair will not be 
accepted; seats which fold to allow a wheelchair to be accommodated will be accepted. 
 

This Authority's minimum requirements with regard to a wheelchair accessible vehicle are:- 
 
(a) That it can accommodate a disabled passenger whilst seated in his/her wheelchair (there must 

be adequate headroom for the passenger).  For this purpose a “wheelchair” is a reference 
wheelchair as defined in The Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000. 

 
 The dimensions for a reference wheelchair are defined as having 
 

 total length of 1200mm, including extra-long footplates 

 total width of 700mm 

 sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm 

 height of footrest above floor of 150mm 
 

(b) That the rear/side door used for wheelchair access must be capable of opening as wide as the 
aperture. A single rear door must be open to a minimum of 90 degrees and for twin rear doors 
both must open to a minimum of 90 degrees. 

 
(c) The doorway should provide a minimum of 1220mm in its central third measured from the 

upper centre of the aperture to a point directly below on either the upper face of the fully raised 
lift platform or the upper face of the ramp fully deployed on ground level .  The door aperture 
must be wide enough to accommodate a reference wheelchair and have a minimum width of 
740mm of unobstructed space. 

 
(d)  There should be sufficient space within the vehicle to accommodate a reference wheelchair. 

The floor area required for the wheelchair should be at least 750mm x 1250mm with minimum 
headroom over the area of 1350mm.  There must be sufficient space, where applicable, to turn 
the wheelchair. 

 
(e)  All wheelchair tracking must be fit for purpose and structurally sound. 
 
(f)  A system for securing the occupant in the wheel chair and a system for effective anchoring of 

wheelchairs shall be provided within the vehicle in all spaces designated as wheelchair space.  
Wheelchair anchorage systems and devices must conform to European Directive 76/115 EEC 
(as amended). Additional hand-holds and a step should be provided 

 
(g)  Either a purpose designed wheelchair access ramp or a purpose designed wheelchair lift must 

be provided. 
 
(h)  Any purpose designed wheelchair access ramp that is carried must be lightweight and easy to 

Page 165



deploy.  The ramp shall have visible reference to a safe working load of at least 250kgs and 
reference that it is certified to BS 6109.  Ramps must be capable of being securely fitted when 
in use and securely installed in the designated storage area at all other times. Ramps must be 
free from damage, deformity and sharp edges etc.  Ramps must be provided with an anti-slip 
covering. 

 
(i) Any purpose designed wheelchair lift shall conform to the Lifting Operations and Lifting 

Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER).  A report, confirming that the lifting equipment is safe to 
use shall be presented at the time the annual and 6 monthly vehicle inspection certificate is 
provided to the council.  Vehicles will require a certificate that is valid for a period of 6 months 
from the date of issue. The lift must be capable of being secured in a suitable and satisfactory 
position when the vehicle is in motion. 

 
(j) Vehicles shall comply in all respects, and at all times, with current road traffic legislation. 
 
(k) Vehicles shall comply with the European Community M1 type approval for passenger carrying 

vehicles.  The definition of category M1 type approval is any motor vehicle with at least 4 
wheels designed and constructed for the carriage of passengers. 

 
(l) Vehicles that have been originally classified as complying with M1 type approval but have 

undergone modifications or conversions since original manufacture will be considered suitable 
provided they are presented with the relevant Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) or Single 
Vehicle Approval (SVA) certificate or equivalent issued by the Driver and Vehicle Standards 
Agency (DVSA). 

 
(m) Any wheelchair accessible vehicle originally given European Community N type approval will 

be considered unfit for the purpose and will not be considered suitable to be licensed.  The 
definition of a category N type approval is any motor vehicles with at least four wheels 
designed and constructed for the carriage of goods. 

 
Grandfather rights will apply to vehicles already licensed by the date on which this policy comes into 
effect.  They will be allowed to continue until the end of their useful life, subject to their compliance with 
all relevant test and inspection requirements. 
 
Once a vehicle licence has expired then Grandfather rights will no longer apply.  Applicants wishing to 
re-licence that vehicle in the future will be required to adhere to the above Wheelchair Accessible Policy 
requirements. 
 
Vehicles which have been licensed for private hire and not identified as wheelchair accessible must 
adhere to the above Wheelchair Accessible Policy if they wish to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle. 
 
*Grandfather rights do not apply with respect to requirement that ramps are indelibly marked with the 
vehicle registration number. 
 

Page 166



 

 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: Boston: 26th September 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Performance Report 
 

Six monthly update on Partnership performance 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Paul Skinner, Leader of the Council 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

Suzanne Rolfe, Insights & Transformation Manager 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the further progress of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

since the last update on 11th April 2022. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

• To note the progress of Phase 2 of the Partnership (section 2) 

• To note the peer review update (section 3) 

• To note the Annual Delivery Plan (ADP) update (section 4) 

• To note the updates from the Priority Partnerships (section 5) 

• To note the update on the joint Scrutiny work (section 6) 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To monitor and report on the progress of the ‘Accelerate’ stage of the Partnership as previously 

agreed 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None as this is the approach previously agreed in the Partnership Business Case. 

 
Page 167

Agenda Item 4



1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey 

District Council and South Holland District Council) launched on 1st October 2021. 

1.2 The Business Case for the Partnership identified and established four stages for building the 

Partnership, namely: 

0. Setting the Foundations. 

1. Set-Up. 

2. Accelerate; and  

3. Embed. 

 

1.3 This report sets out the progress of Phase 2 – Accelerate. 

 
2. PHASE 2: ACCELERATE 

2.1 The progress of the Accelerate stage is set out in Table 1 below: - 

Table 1 

Phase 2 – 2022/23 Progress to date 

Transformation Plan –  
service reviews 

- A programme of service reviews was agreed in the Annual 
Delivery Plan for 22/23. 

- Annual Delivery Plan update (section 4) 

Targeted service growth 
into areas of priority 

- Member have already considered a number of areas of targeted 
growth via the budgeting setting process.  

New ways for working 
with partner 
organisations 

- Priority Partnerships (see section 5) 

- Partnership website launched (https://selcp.co.uk/) 

- Partnership promotional videos for recruitment and induction 
launched 

- Winning the Local Government Chronicle (LGC) Award in the 
Public/Public Partnership category for the formation and early 
success of the Partnership.  

Developed shared 
service policy through 
shared Member working 

- Portfolio Holders working collaboratively across the Partnership 
where joint work is taking place. 

- Joint Scrutiny work underway and planned (section 6) 

Explore opportunities for 
constitutional alignment 

- This is an ongoing and medium-term piece of work but 
consideration is being given to opportunities to align key areas of 
the constitution and these will be for future Council 
consideration. 

 
2.2 Council is being asked to note the progress of Phase 2 of the Partnership. 

 

  

Page 168

https://selcp.co.uk/


3. PEER REVIEW UPDATE 

3.1 The LGA Peer Review will take place from 10th to 14th October 2022. 

3.2 This will provide the opportunity to seek an external view from the Association’s Peers on 

the progress the Partnership has made since its formation in October 2021 and to help 

identify further opportunities to advance its ambitions.   

3.3 The key themes are: 

• Priorities and outcomes 

• Organisational and place leadership 

• Governance and culture 

• Financial planning and management 

• Capacity for improvement 

3.4 The Peers’ findings and feedback will be reported to Council and will be fed into the 

Partnership’s development plans for 23/24 and beyond. 

3.5 Council is being asked to note the Peer Review update. 

4. ANNUAL DELIVERY PLAN (ADP) UPDATE 

4.1 Progress of Annual Delivery Plan activity is being monitored by Assistant Directors to 

support the Partnership in delivering on its priorities, as well as sovereign Council 

ambitions. 

4.2 Three priorities from the Strategic Programme (Top Ten) are complete and embedded 

(green status) and the remaining seven are in progress (amber status). 

 

4.3 Of the 208 activities in the ADP for the year, 27% are already completed and embedded and 

66% are underway. 

4.4 Council is being asked to note the Annual Delivery Plan (ADP) update. 

 

  

Page 169



5. PRIORITY PARTNERSHIPS UPDATE 

5.1 A number of key Partnerships are established, or are to be established (as reported to 

Council previously), as mechanisms for delivering the strategic priorities of the Partnership 

are set out in Table 2 below:  

Table 2 

Priority 
Partnership 

Subject areas Potential Sub-regional partners Initial priorities DCX lead 

Growth and 
Prosperity 
Priority 
Partnership 

Skills, 
Training/Education, 
Business Support 
Employment, Utilities, 
Economic 
Development, 
Transport 
Infrastructure, Flood 
Risk  

Deputy Chief Executive (Growth), 
Education providers, Lincolnshire 
County Council, Utility companies, 
Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce, 
Greater Lincolnshire Enterprise 
Partnership, Department for Work 
and Pensions, Environment Agency. 

• Transport 
infrastructure 

• Skills 
Development 

• Inward 
investment 

DCX - 
Growth 

Healthy Lives 
Priority 
Partnership 

Leisure, Culture, 
Wellbeing, Housing 
and Homelessness, 
Access to Health 
Services, Health 
Inequalities. 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Communities), Lincolnshire CCG, 
NHS, Mental Health Services, Leisure 
providers, Housing providers. 

• Access to 
health 
services 

• Obesity 
 

DCX - 
Communities 

Safer 
Communities 
Priority 
Partnership 

Crime and Disorder, 
Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Licensing 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Communities), Lincolnshire Police, 
Probation Service. 

• Fear of crime 

• Anti-social 
behaviour 

• Domestic 
abuse 

DCX - 
Communities 

Enhancing 
the Living 
Environment 
Priority 
Partnership 

Climate Change, 
Biodiversity, Air 
Quality, Open Spaces, 
Waste and Recycling, 
Environmental Crime 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Communities), Natural England, 
Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust, 
Lincolnshire County Council, 
Environment Agency. 

• Environmental 
Bill 

• Climate 
Change 
Agenda  

DCX - 
Communities 

 

5.2 Growth and Prosperity Priority Partnership: 

5.2.1 The Growth Directorate is engaged in a series of multi-agency boards and 

partnerships that are actively delivering on the themes of Growth and Prosperity. 

This includes the well-established Town Deal board for Boston, the Connected Coast 

Board that brings together partners involved in shaping and delivering the Skegness 

and Mablethorpe Towns Deals, and the Town Centre Improvement Plan Steering 

Groups for both Spalding and Holbeach. 

5.2.2 The S&ELCP has senior representation on and direct involvement in three LCC-led 

Transport Boards linked to transport and associated infrastructure, and has created 

a partnership-wide scrutiny committee to shape matters relating to public transport 

across the S&ELCP area. 

5.2.3 Furthermore, a series of partnerships are developing around the UK Shared 

Prosperity Fund (UKSPF). Multi-agency partnership groups are starting to form and 

will take forward both the delivery of the UKSPF investment plans for the SELCP area 

and the individual projects stemming from them. 

Page 170



5.2.4 Outside of formal board structures and partnerships, continued engagement is 

ongoing with other strategic partners including: infrastructure providers (including 

power and water), the education and skills sector, DLUHC and DCMS, Destination 

Lincolnshire (as the DMO for the county), Arts Council England (including the 

submission of two major funding bids supported by a new Cultural Strategy for 

Boston and East Lindsey), Historic England (and their Historic Places Panel), 

Highways England, Midlands Connect and the Midlands Engine, and stakeholders 

such as Environment Agency – all of which is part of various projects across the sub-

region including power/energy projects, levelling-up fund applications, towns 

fund/development projects, inward investment activity and coastal strategy work. 

5.2.5 The Directorate also continue to support and raise the profile of established and 

emerging businesses across the sub-region; participate in a number of emerging 

Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSiP) proposals; and promote our 

places with a collective focus through tourism, culture and heritage with a view to 

future funding and other opportunities. 

5.2.6 The Growth and Prosperity Priority Partnership is due to launch imminently. 

5.3 Healthy Lives Priority Partnership: 

5.3.1 The terms of reference and detail regarding the establishment of the South and East 

Lincolnshire Healthy Living Board (HLB) has been agreed across all three councils.  

Relevant reports went to Boston Borough Council’s Cabinet on 4th July 2022, East 

Lindsey District Council on 6th July 2022 and South Holland District Council on 19th 

July 2022. 

5.3.2 The executive group comprising of officers from across relevant health, culture, arts 

and leisure agencies that is supporting the establishment of the HLB has met twice.  

The first meeting of the Healthy Living Board has taken place on 10th August 2022. 

5.3.3 The agenda provided a focus on the health challenges facing the sub-region, 

considered the development of a Healthy Living Action Plan to seek to help deliver 

better health outcomes and featured presentations from Active Lincolnshire and the 

Assistant Director of Leisure and Culture who considered the current leisure and 

culture offer in the sub-region whilst consulting the Board on our ambition in this 

regard for the future. 

5.3.4 The next meeting of the HLB will include feedback on work to deliver an improved 

leisure and culture offer across the sub-region. 

5.4 Safer Communities Priority Partnership 

5.4.1 The South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership met on 20th July and 

considered the development of a new Community Safety Strategy for the sub-region 

covering the period 2022-2025. 

5.4.2 The emerging community safety priorities are Safer Streets and Night Time 

Economy, Hate Crime, Vulnerability and Safeguarding, the Safety of Women and 

Girls and the cross cutting theme of Anti-Social Behaviour. 

5.4.3 This autumn the draft Community Safety Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire 

will be considered by Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet/Executive Boards across all 

Page 171



three Councils before proceeding to their respective Full Councils.  An action plan 

detailing activity against each community safety priority for the sub-region is also 

being developed along with the pursuance of funding opportunities that include a 

successful £400K Home Office bid to support work towards ensuring safer streets 

and addressing priority work that focusses on the safety of women and girls. 

5.5 Enhancing the Living Environment Priority Partnership 

5.5.1 Following agreement across all three councils to establish the South and East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN), the inaugural SELCAN meeting was 

hosted by Cllr Graham Marsh at the Boston United Football Ground on 12th July 

2022. 

5.5.2 Over 20 representatives from public, private and third/community sector 

organisations attended including Greater Lincolnshire LEP, University of Lincoln, 

National Farmers Union, Environment Agency, The Freshlinc Group and Lincolnshire 

Chamber of Commerce. Delegates appointed a Chair/Vice Chair, agreed Terms of 

Reference and established 8 sub-groups to develop a Strategic Action Plan. 

5.5.3 The next meeting is in October and the agreed priorities for the next 12 months are; 

awareness raising – web presence/social media, delivery plan development and 

monitoring and communications/marketing plan. 

5.6 Council is being asked to note the updates from the Priority Partnerships. 

 

6. JOINT SCRUTINY 

6.1 It was agreed to establish a joint scrutiny function to consider matters where there was a 

common strategic interest across the Partnership. 

6.2 At an initial meeting between the Chairs of the councils’ scrutiny committees, a list of 

potential scrutiny items was considered. There was general support for an initial Joint Task 

and Finish Group to consider Transport. The scope for this has been agreed by all three 

Councils and the scrutiny has commenced. 

6.3 In addition, the following two Joint Scrutiny Task Groups are soon to commence: 

a)  Annual scrutiny of the Partnership  

b) ICT and Digital Strategy 

The scope, lines of enquiry and membership for both have been agreed by each council and 

will commence shortly. 

6.4 Council is being asked to note the update of the joint Scrutiny work 

 

7. CONCLUSION 

7.1 Significant progress continues to be made by the South & East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership. This report sets out this progress to date as part of the agreed six-monthly 

cycle of reporting. 

 
Page 172



EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

This report supports the aims and ambitions of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
which are contained in the main body of the report. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH & EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

This report focusses on Phase 2 – the ‘Accelerate’ stage of the Partnership. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The formation of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership supports the corporate 

priorities of the sovereign Councils. This is reflected in the agreed Annual Delivery Plans and 

performance measures. 

STAFFING 

No implications specific to staffing in this report. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The constitutional and legal arrangements for the successful implementation of Partnership have 

been approved by all three partner Councils. 

DATA PROTECTION 

No implications specific to data protection in this report. 

FINANCIAL 

No implications specific to finances in this report. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

No implications specific to risk in this report. 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation has been undertaken with Senior Leadership Team, Stakeholder Group and Joint 

Strategy Board. 

REPUTATION 

The South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership has established a positive reputation through 

the progress it has achieved to date as contained in the main body of the report. In particular this 

has been recognised in winning the LGC Award under the Public/Public Partnership category 

(paragraph 2.1, table 1) 

CONTRACTS 

No implications specific to contracts in this report. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Measures relating to crime and disorder will be included in the development of a Community 

Strategy for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework once they are agreed.  

Section 5.4 of this report sets out details of the Safer Communities Priority Partnership. 

Page 173



EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

No implications specific to this report. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Measures relating to health and wellbeing will be included in the development of a Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework once they are 

agreed.  

Section 5.3 of this report sets out details of the Healthy Lives Priority Partnership. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Measures relating to climate change and the environment will be set out in the Climate Change 

Strategy currently being developed for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework 

once they are agreed.  

Section 5.5 of this report sets out details of the Enhancing the Living Environment Priority 

Partnership. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

The Performance Framework provides the mechanism for the Partnership to identify and report on 

measures relating to the 12 missions as set out below: - 

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of 
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap 
between the top performing and other areas closing. 

Research and 
Development 

By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside 
the Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third 
over the Spending Review period, with that additional government funding 
seeking to leverage at least twice as much private sector investment over 
the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be 
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services, 
simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

Digital 
Connectivity 

By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G 
coverage, with 5G coverage for the majority of the population. 

Education By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In 
England, this will mean 90% of children will achieve the expected standard, 
and the percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the worst 
performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In 
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing 
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people 
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Page 174



MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Housing By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of 
first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is 
for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with 
the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal 
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a 
simplified, long-term funding settlement. 

 

ACRONYMS 

• DCMS: Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 

• DLUHC: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

• DMO: Destination Management Organisation 

• HLB: Healthy Living Board 

• LEP: Local Enterprise Partnership 

• LGA: Local Government Association 

• LGC: Local Government Chronicle 

• NSiP: Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project 

• SELCAN: South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 

• S&ELCP: South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• SLT: Senior Leadership Team 

• UKSPF: UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

 

APPENDICES 

None 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Business Case 

Where the 

document can be 

viewed 

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s12785/Appendix%20A%20-

%20Business%20Case%20including%20proposed%20structure%20for%20co

nsultation.pdf  

 
Page 175

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s12785/Appendix%20A%20-%20Business%20Case%20including%20proposed%20structure%20for%20consultation.pdf
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s12785/Appendix%20A%20-%20Business%20Case%20including%20proposed%20structure%20for%20consultation.pdf
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s12785/Appendix%20A%20-%20Business%20Case%20including%20proposed%20structure%20for%20consultation.pdf


CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. This is being 

reported directly to Council to engage all Members. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe, Insights & Transformation Manager 

Suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: James Gilbert, Assistant Director – Corporate 

James.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner, Leader of the Council 

 

Page 176

mailto:Suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:James.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk


1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 27th July 2022 

SUBJECT: General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 

KEY DECISION: 

  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

N/A 

 

Councillor Jonathan Noble 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Chris Ayriss (Strategic Finance Manager PSPS) and Peter Davy 

(Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client) PSPS) 

N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the draft financial position for Boston Borough Council for 2021/22.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
That Cabinet: 

1 Notes the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved budget and 
resulting effect on the Council's balances and reserves as shown in Appendix A.   

2 
 
  

Recommends to Council to transfer £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund 
the 2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but 
required in 2022/23. 

3 Notes and approved the use of reserves in Table 3 at Appendix A 

4 Recommends to Council to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve 
which is the Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates 
received in 2021/22.  

5 Recommends to Council that the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) 
be transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise 
future revenue savings and service improvements.  

Page 177

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 6. Cabinet notes the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4 and agrees the changes 
required to the Capital Programme for 2022/23.  

7 Recommend to Council the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6 
of Appendix A. 

  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure the Council’s provisional financial position for 2021/22 is considered and related 

decisions approved. It is important that cabinet are aware of the financial position of the 

General Fund to ensure that they can make informed decisions that are affordable and 

financially sustainable for the Council 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To not approve the reserve movements outlined. 

 

REPORT 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The 2021/22 year has seen the country move out of the pandemic response into a recovery 

phase. The Council is still seeing the effects of the pandemic on its finances which have 
been both positive and negative. This combined with the squeeze on household finances 
which has been seen in the latter part of the financial year, has meant it has been more 
difficult than usual to budget and forecast the financial position of the Authority. The draft 
underspend for the year is mainly as a result of increased one off government support and 
the review of its provisions. The details of the outturn are attached at Appendix A and show 
the full financial position of the Council which includes revenue, capital, treasury and 
collection fund. 

 
2. Quarter 3 to Quarter 4 
 
2.1 Throughout the year, quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end outturn against the budget.  This report provides a summary on the provisional full 
year outturn at 31st March 2022, as illustrated in the Appendix, for the following areas: 

 

• The General Fund Revenue Budget, 

• The General Fund Reserves Position, 

• The Capital Outturn for 2021/22, and 

• High level Treasury Management Performance for the year. 
 
2.2 Members will recall that in the report to Cabinet at Quarter 3 a release of the covid Loss of 

Income Contingency took place of £729,000, offsetting losses in income across a variety of 
headings. It was also recommended that £256,000 be draw down from the Transformation 
Reserve that had been agreed for service improvement over the two years of initial 
investment. It should be noted that if these one-off funds had not been available the 

Page 178



3 
 

position at the year end would have been £1.198m worse off. Covid income grant of 
£469,000 was also received in year which has significantly assisted the revenue account. In 
the Quarter 3 report the forecast deficit was £299,000. 

 
2.3 The changes since then, which due to the uncertainty of this period could have been a 

worsening or an improvement in a variety of areas, have been overall a further 
improvement although some service areas also saw reductions in income: 

 

• Improvement in investment income from that expected due to rate rises; 

• Underachievement of car parking income from that anticipated; 

• Reductions in income – Bereavement; 

• Salary savings due to vacancies in certain areas; 

• The impact of year end adjustments – a review of bad debt provision levels 

• Planning services income was higher than anticipated and staffing vacancies have 
contributed to an improvement of £176k. 

 
2.4 In total, these further adjustments and as stated above the overall favourable position is 

mainly due to the receipt and use of one-off grants and reserves to smooth covid impacts. 
 
2.5 It is proposed (at recommendation 5) to transfer the proposed Revenue Surplus to the 

Transformation Reserve to fund future revenue projects. This will assist in making 
investment into services to facilitate change in a post-pandemic landscape and to fund 
‘Invest to Save’ initiatives which will ultimately realise savings. This will help to meet the 
Council’s savings targets and to ensure it has more resilience to deal with the further 
budgetary challenges we are already facing.  

 
2.6 Other reserves are also available, such as the Capital Reserves (£5.6m), Funding Volatility 

(£4.99m) and Covid-19 reserve (£0.851m) to assist as needed during the year depending 
upon the pressure or type of investment required. 

 
2.7 In the attached Appendix A, specific detail is provided in respect of the following areas: 
 

General Fund Provisional Outturn 
 

The forecast outturn position by Assistant Director is detailed at Table 1 together with an 
analysis of service variations. Net spend by Assistant Directors for 2021/22 was reported to 
be £7,423k which is £524k below the budgeted figure. The variances are explained in Table 
1. 

 
Reserves  

 
General Fund Specific Reserves have seen a reduction in balances of £2.067m. Further 
specific details are set out in Appendix A – Table 3 with associated narrative and members 
are requested to note and approve the use of reserves detailed in that section. 
 
The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.000m. 

 
As previously featured in the 2020/21 outturn, government grant is received and applied in 
different financial years and as a result it is proposed at recommendation 2 to transfer 

Page 179



4 
 

£1,830,999 to the Business Rates Volatility Reserve in order to fund the 2022/23 revenue 
budget. This is a section 31 grant in order to fund discounts to Non-Domestic rates bills to 
businesses. Due to the way the income is accounted for in the Collection Fund the loss of 
income will impact on the Council’s revenue budget in 2022/23 and therefore the monies 
received in 2021/22 are required to fund this shortfall. 

 
Capital – General Fund 

 
The total revised General Fund Capital programme for 2021/22 is £5.593m, detailed in in 
Table 4 of Appendix A. 

 
The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the GF Capital Programme is £3.550m as 
detailed in Table 6 which is recommended for approval. This is mainly due to Towns Fund 
Projects which are now being reprofiled in line with latest expectations for spend. 

 
Treasury Management 

 
Section 2.4 provides details of the Council’s Treasury Investments, investment income 
earned at the end of March 2022 was £775k.  

 
The Council has external loans held with Public Works Loans Board totalling £20m. Interest 
costs on this external borrowing was £382k for 2021/22. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
To ensure that the end of year position is scrutinised, year end transactions are approved and the 

budget underspend is set aside for future service initiatives. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
As contained in Appendix A 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

Page 180



5 
 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Outturn Report 2021-22 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Q3 Performance Report Cabinet 30th March 2022 Agenda 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Chris Ayriss, Strategic Finance Manager, PSPS and 

Peter Davy, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client), 

PSPS 

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director Finance 

Approved for publication: Councillor Noble Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

 

CONSULTATION 

None 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Boston Borough Council – Q4 Finance Report 2021/22 
 
Finance Summary 

• The revenue outturn shows a surplus position of £165k 

• Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £18.612m at 31 March 2022. 

• Capital spend at the end of Quarter 4 was £2.047m against a full year budget of £5.593m 

• After funding the 2021/22 Capital Programme the capital resources are: 
o Capital Reserve - £5.626m 
o Capital Receipts - £0.695m 

• The Council held investments of £24.7m as at 31 March 2022. 

Section 2 – Finance 

Section 2.1 Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 
Section 2.2 Revenue Budget 
Section 2.3 Capital Budget 
Section 2.4 Treasury Update 
Section 2.5 Insurance 
Section 2.6 Debt Collection 
Section 2.7 Business Rates and Council Tax Collection 
  

 

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 

• On 7th January, HM Treasury issued a press release to announce new grant funding for business affected by 

the pandemic. The £700m will be delivered to affected businesses by local councils, with hospitality, leisure 

and accommodation businesses able to apply for one-off cash grants of up to £6,000.  

• On 15th February, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release 

announcing £125m for councils to provide support services for domestic abuse victims during 2022/23. This 

funding is to go towards healthcare, social workers and benefits, interpreters, immigration advice and other 

specialist services. The funding will be issued as a non-ringfenced grant to councils, who will then be 

responsible for making decisions on how the funding is spent to benefit those in need. 

• On 20th March, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities published a collection of 

documents regarding the Traveller Site Fund 2022/23. The fund is £10m of capital funding to support local 

authorities in building new transit and permanent traveller sites, to refurbish existing permanent traveller 

and transit sites and provide temporary stopping places and facilities for travellers. 

• On 23rd March the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities published a prospectus providing 

guidance on submitting bids for local areas. The £4.8 billion fund will support town centre and high street 

regeneration, local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets. 

 

 
Inflation 

January (%) February (%) March (%) 

CPI 5.5 6.2 7.0 

RPI 7.8 8.2 9.0 

 

 

 

 

Page 183



APPENDIX A 
 

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget 

Table 1 details the outturn by Assistant Director.  This shows an underspend position of £165k.  

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

Corporate 1,505 1,890 385 

Restructuring of budgets in line with 
PSPS contract costs which finance 
service improvements £344k these 
have been factored into the MTFS for 
2022/23 onwards.  

Economic Growth 119 247 128 
Economic Development Expenditure 
Funded from Reserves £142k. Staffing 
changes £30k. 

Finance 1,296 1,170 (126) 

Covid 19 grants from the government 
£(404)k and sales, fees and charges 
claim £(104)k for quarter one, less 
costs £186k. Restructuring of budgets 
in line with PSPS contract costs which 
finance service improvements saving 
£274k, these have been factored into 
the MTFS for 2022/23 onwards 

Governance 
796 608 (188) 

Election Costs Lower than expected 
£(42)k and savings on democratic 
services service £(99)k 

General Fund Assets (971) (825) 146 

Reduction in Car Parking Income and 
Income at PRSA. These have been 
partially offset by Covid Reserve 
Release. Release of grant funding held 
in reserve £142k. 

Leisure and Culture 761 761 - 

Reduction in Leisure Income which is 
not yet at pre-covid levels which is 
being regularly monitored. These have 
been offset by Covid Reserve Release 

Neighbourhoods 1,368 1,657 289 
Increased Recycling & Refuse costs 
£202k due to increased number of 
rounds.  

Planning & Strategic 
Infrastructure 

194 (133) (327) 

£(264)k additional income across the 
service area coupled with reduced 
costs. £176k of income has been 
transferred to reserves.   

Regulatory 507 (76) (583) 
Green Homes Grants and COVID 
funding received in year not fully 
expended, transferred to reserves. 

Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership 

1,656 1,487 (169) 

Housing Reserve Adjustments. 
Restructuring of budgets which has 
seen PSPS Contract Service 
improvements, these have been 
factored into the MTFS for 2022/23 
onwards 

Page 184



APPENDIX A 

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

BTAC 716 637 (79) 
The £79k underspend transferred to 
the BTAC Reserve, this is not part of 
the Council Reserves. 

Sub Total – Assistant 
Director – net costs 

7,948 7,423 (524)  

Internal Drainage 
Boards/Parish Precepts 

2,468 2,482 14 
Precepts £459k were shown in External 
Financing in Q3. 

Impairment Allowance 0 (193) (193) 
Reassessment of levels of bad debt 
provision required 

DRF 1,088 832 (256) 
This reflects capital programme activity 
and is offset by reserves. 

MRP 15 30 15 
The increase of MRP is as a result of 
valuations at 31st March 2022 and is 
funded from revenue resources. 

Interest Payments 
Received / Return on 
Property Funds 

(326) (475) (149) 

Budget reduced £196k in year to more 
accurately reflect investment predicted 
returns, investment income has 
increased in quarter four due to 
interest rate rises. 

Reserves (1,499) (1,987) (488) 

Use of reserves includes the following: 

• capital programme expenditure 

• release of previously received 
section 31 grant to cover the 
business rates deficit shown below 

• Release to offset income pressures 
due to Covid 

Transfer to reserves includes: 

• Housing Reserve Adjustment 

• Additional planning income  
£79k underspend on BTAC has been 
transferred to the BTAC Reserve, this is 
separate from the Council Reserves 

Non Service 
Expenditure 

1,745 689 (1,057)  

Total Expenditure 9,694 8,112 (1,582)  

Council Tax (5,042) (5,042) - 
Parish Precepts were shown here in Q3 
now moved above to non-service 
expenditure. 

Business Rates (1,327) 538 1,865 
This shortfall is covered by section 31 
grant received in 2020/21 and released 
from reserves above. 

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

(3,325) (3,773) (448) 
Section 31 grant received in 2020/21 
budgeted for here but released from 
reserves above 

Total Funding (9,694) (8,277) 1,417  

Total Budget -  
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 (165) (165)  

 

 

 Page 185



APPENDIX A 

Recommendation: 
1 Notes the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved budget and resulting effect on 

the Council's balances and reserves as shown in Appendix A. 

 

Additional revenue budget notes 

Income 

The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided. 

Table 2 – Trading Income Budgets 

Income Area 
Revised 

Budget to 31 
March 2022 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Income to 
31 March 

2022 
 

£’000 

 
 

Variance 
(above)/ 

below 
budget 

 
£’000 

Comments 

GF - Car Parking, 
Bereavement, and Property  

(1,926) (1,655) 271 Income has suffered in Parking 
requiring £225k smoothing from the 
Covid Reserve, reduced income in 
bereavement £47k which improved 
on the Q3 position. 

Leisure Pool, and Markets 

(1,002) (638) 364 

Leisure Pool has seen a £352k 
shortfall of income, with Markets 
experiencing a £14k shortfall due to 
Covid 

Neighbourhoods – Office 
Cleaning, Recycling 

(959) (1,044) (85)  

Additional resources for DWP, 
Garden Waste income above budget 
£16k. Cleaner Income up £57k 

Development Management 
(566) (690) (124)  

Application income has exceeded 
full year budget expectation. 

Regulatory – Land Charges, 
Licences 

(391) (373) 18 

Vacant Post, reduced Income, 
Tranche 1 of land charges income 
due before 31.03.2022 

Bed & Breakfast (54) (68) (14)  Increase in Income 

Total (4,898) (4,468) 430  

Page 186



APPENDIX A 
Reserves 

At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £16.612m, after a net transfer from reserves of £2.067m to 

cover revenue and capital expenditure.  Table 3 reflects the outturn position. 

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance 

Reserve 
Balances at 1 April 

2021 
£’000 

Contributions into 
Reserves 

£’000 

Use of Reserves 
 

£’000 

Balances at 31 
March 2022 

£’000 

Capital Funding 5,339 995 (708) 5,626 

Transformation 1,745 769 (1,058) 1,457 

Repairs and 
Renewals 

725 54 (82) 697 

ICT 276 - (188) 88 

Housing 1,247 297 (31) 1,513 

Controlling 
Migration 

14 - - 14 

Insurance 274 - (14) 260 

Property Fund 
Returns Risk 
Mitigation 

1,116 - - 1,116 

Funding Volatility 6,521 1,831 (3,361) 4,991 

Covid 19 1,422 197 (768) 851 

Specific Reserves 
Total 

18,679 4,143 (6,210) 16,612 

General Fund 2,000 - - 2,000 

Total 20,679 4,143 (6,210) 18,612 

 

Please note the following reserve movements that have taken place in 2021/22: 

• Capital Funding 

o Additions to – New Homes Bonus, property fund interest, investment payback and revenue payback 

for previous purchases. 

o Use of reserve – for the capital projects: vehicle replacements, noise monitoring equipment, 

resurfacing and footpaths, recycling bin purchases and ICT upgrades. 

• Transformation 

o Additions to – cover costs of future council elections and planning fees 

o Use of reserve – Community Champion funding, Sport England and refuse rounds review. 

• Repair and Renewals 

o Additions to – CCTV contributions from other local authorities 

o Use of reserve – Town centre heritage ongoing capital project 

• ICT 

o Use of reserve – ICT infrastructure refresh 

• Housing 

o Additions to – Homelessness funding, rough sleeper initiative and funding from partners for Healthy 

and Accessible Homes Lincs 

o Use of reserve – DASH funding and housing strategy capital project.  

• Insurance 

o Use of reserve – to cover insurance claims made in year 

 

• Funding Volatility  

o Additions to – additional Section 31 grant above budgeted level and CARF funding to be utilised in 

future years. Page 187



APPENDIX A 
o Use of Reserve – to fund business rates deficit and Economic Development Expenditure. 

• Covid 19 

o Additions to – New Burdens funding 

o Use of Reserve – Test and Trace, and to fund income pressures during the year. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
2 
 
 
 
3  

Recommends to Council to transfer £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 
2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but required in 
2022/23. 
 
Notes and approved the use of reserves in table 3 at Appendix A.  

4 Recommends to Council to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve which is the 
Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates received in 2021/22.  

5 Recommends to Council that the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be 
transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise future 
revenue savings and service improvements.  

  

 

Section 2.3 – Capital Budget 

This section covers: 

• Revisions to the Capital Programme 

• Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn 

• Financing of the Capital Programme 

  

Page 188



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 949 778 (171) 778     778 

Housing Strategy 56 - (56)      - 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

10 10 -    10  10 

Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

82 
12 (70)    12  12 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

1,397 154 (1,243) 92  62   154 

Multi Use Games Area 23 6 (17) 6     6 

Information Technology 
Refresh 

200 187 (13)   187   187 

ICT Finance Upgrade via 
PSPS 

634 362 (272)    362  362 

Ford Transit Tipper Van 
2.0 TDCi x 2 

22 - (22)      - 

Refuse Vehicle 170 172 2    172  172 

Ransomes Mower 20 - (20)      - 

Ford Vans x 2 23 - (23)      - 

Recycling Bin Purchase 24 28 4    28  28 

Total Non-Towns Fund 
Schemes 

3,610 1,709 (1,901) 876 - 249 584 - 1,709 

          

Boston Town Deal – 
Accelerated Funding 

400 
148 (252) 148     148 

Towns Fund – Leisure - 86 86 86     86 

Towns Fund – Mayflower 108 6 (102) 6     6 

Towns Fund – St 
Botolph’s Library 

228 
6 (222) 6     6 

P
age 189



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Towns Fund – Centre for 
Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 

401 
18 (383) 18     18 

Towns Fund – Blenkin 
Memorial Hall 

808 
62 (746) 62     62 

Towns Fund – Healing the 
High Street 

35 
6 (29) 6     6 

Towns Fund – Boston 
Station 

3 
6 3 6     6 

Total Towns Fund 
Schemes 

1,983 338 (1,645) 338 - - - - 338 

          

Total 5,593 2,047 (3,546) 1,214 - 249 584 - 2,047 

 

  

P
age 190



APPENDIX A 
 

Table 4 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery  

Scheme Comments 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants 

2021/22 grant allocation fully delivered, slippage required of prior year 
grant. 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

Scheme fully delivered. 

Resurfacing and 
Footpath 
Improvements 

Continuation of previous scheme across various sites although 
predominantly around Boston Cemetery and Crematorium. Slippage 
required into 2022/23. 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

Delivery of projects continuing, slippage required into 2022/23. 

ICT Finance Upgrade 
via PSPS 

Project to be finalised in July 2022, slippage of remaining budget 
required. 

Fleet Replacement 
Order placed, vehicles expected to be received in year. Long lead times 
for vehicle orders which are subject to delays. Slippage required into 
2022/23. 

Recycling Bin Purchase Year’s quota of bins delivered. 

Towns Fund 
Business Cases were signed off in March 2022 leading to slippage of 
various schemes. 

 

Capital Receipts 

None to report this period. 

Capital Financing 

The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy. 

Table 5 indicates the forecast capital resources available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.  The estimated 

position for the following two years is also provided. 

Table 5 – Capital Resources 

 
2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
2022/23 

£’000 
Capital Resources* available at start of each year 5,822 5,578 6,320 

Capital Investment (estimate in future years) (3,436) (2,047) (6,862) 

Additional Sources of Finance    

- New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years) - 456 - 

- Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing 193 249 170 

- External Grants 1,449 1,214 4,974 

- Revenue Contributions - - - 

- External borrowing - - - 

- Budgeted contributions to capital reserve 1,565 995 333 

- Minimum Revenue Provision (15) (15) (15) 

- Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects - (110) (100) 

Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year 5,578 6,320 4,820 

* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts 

As a result of the variances shown in Table 4 and Table 5, changes are required to the 2022/23 Capital Programme. 

These are reflected in the revised Capital Programme shown in Table 6. The slippage of expenditure into 2022/23 

will be funded in line with the approval already obtained for the relevant project.  

 

 
Page 191



APPENDIX A 

Table 6 – Revised Capital Programme 2022/23 

Scheme 

Approved Budget (as 
per Council) 

 
£’000 

Changes to 
approved 

budget 
 

£’000 

Revised Capital 
Programme  

 
 

£’000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 280 171 451 

Housing Strategy - 56 56 

Resurfacing and Footpath Improvements - 70 70 

Vehicle Replacement Programme 215 63 278 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme 42 1,243 1,285 

Multi Use Games Area - 17 17 

Information Technology Refresh 170 13 183 

ICT Finance Upgrade via PSPS - 272 272 

NON TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 707 1,905 2,612 

Boston Town Deal – Accelerated Funding - 252 252 

Leisure 2,935 (86) 2,849 

Mayflower 720 102 822 

St Botolph’s Library - 222 222 

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 453 

383 836 

Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 746 845 

Healing the High Street 283 29 312 

Boston Station 1,565 (3) 1,562 

TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 6,055 1,645 7,700 

GRAND TOTAL 6,762 3,550 10,312 

 

Recommendation: 
6 
 
7 

That Cabinet notes the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4 and agrees the changes required to the 
Capital Programme for 2022/23. 
That Cabinet Recommend to Council the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6. 

 

Section 2.4 – Treasury Management 

Investments at 31 March 2022 

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 

Detailed in Table 7 are the investments held by the Council at 31st March 2022 excluding accrued interest.  Note this 

represents the position at this one point in time.  The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily basis.  

Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates (e.g. Council 

Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value of Boston’s 

own resources. 

Table 7 – Investments as at 31 March 2022 

Financial Institution Amount (£) Maturity Date Yield 

HSBC Bank  10,740,000 Instant Access  0.01% 

CCLA Money Market Fund  3,000,000 Instant Access   0.58% 

Barclays Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.95% 

Lloyds Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.10% 

Santander 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.55% 

Bank of Scotland  2,000,000 175-day notice 0.11% 

TOTAL 24,740,000   

 Page 192



APPENDIX A 
 

Maturity Structure at 31 March 2022 

Duration Amount (£) Percentage of Total 

Less than one week 13,740,000 30% 

Less than one month -   0% 

One to three months -   0% 

Three to six months 11,000,000 24% 

Six to nine months - 0% 

Nine to twelve months - 0% 

More than twelve months 20,989,786 46% 

 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the table below provides a breakdown in relation to the purchase 

of these units: 

Fund Date of 
Purchase 

Net Asset 
Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 

£ 

Black Rock UK Property 
Fund  

 

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 

TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real Estate 
Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 

TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle Property 
Unit Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 

TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments UK 
Property Fund 

 
14/09/18 

 
3,911,980 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
4,000,000 

AEW UK Core Property 
Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL  20,516,953 472,813 2.30 20,989,766 

Page 193



APPENDIX A 

Property Fund Investments as at 31st March 2022 

 

The Projected Annualised Distribution Yield is the projected yield for the year based on dividends already received during the current financial year.  

The 2021/22 Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss is the projected gain/loss in the capital value of the fund since the start of the financial year calculated by 

reference to the change in the Net Asset Value from 31 March 2021 to the period end. 

The estimated combined return is the total of the Projected Dividend Distribution Yield and the Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss. 
Please note that this is the position as at 31 March 2022 and the capital values will fluctuate year on year. 

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 
(£) 

Estimates 
Revenue 
Received 

2021/22 (£) 

Projected 
Annualised 
Distribution 

Yield 
2021/22 

 

Net  Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 
Purchase (£) 

2021/22 
Annual 
Gain/ 
(Loss) 

(£) 

2021/22 
Annualised 

Fund Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 1/4/21 

2021/22 
Estimated 
Combined 

Return 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  4,500,006 127,996 2.95% Estimate 5,191,286 691,280 787,809 14.81% 17.76% 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  4,250,006 132,465 3.22% Estimate 4,903,231 653,225 648,380 15.23% 18.45% 

Threadneedle Property Unit 
Trust 

4,239,754 163,473 3.96% Estimate 4,476,361 236,607 
646,040 

 
16.87% 20.83% 

M&G Investments 

UK Property Fund 
4,000,000 131,012 2.49% Estimate 3,699,460 (300,540) 221,662 6.37% 8.86% 

AEW UK Core Property Fund  4,000,000 155,301 3.49% Estimate 4,065,606 65,606 539,619 15.30% 18.79% 

         

TOTAL 20,989,766 710,247  22,335,944 1,346,178 2,843,510   

P
age 194



APPENDIX A 

An analysis of dividend distributions received and borrowing costs incurred since the purchase of the property funds to 31 March 2022 can be found in the 

table below: 

 

Financial Institution Actual   Dividend 
Distributions 
Received Pre 

2021/22 

Budgeted 
Distribution  
for 2021/22 

Estimated 
Dividend 

Distributions 
Received 2021/22 

Total 
Distributions 

Received Since 
Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  400,232 159,997 135,025 535,257 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  336,300 159,998 142,395 478,695 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 467,273 178,005 169,123 636,396 

M&G Investments UK Property Fund  342,569 120,000 115,993 458,562 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 441,967 144,000 181,001 622,968 

Total Revenue 1,988,341 762,000 743,537 2,731,878 

Borrowing Costs   (903,772) (382,389) (382,389) (1,286,161) 

Net Revenue Position 1,084,569 379,611 361,148 1,445,717 

P
age 195



APPENDIX A 
Return on Investments 

The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £820k. At the end of March 2022 investment income earned 

was approximately £775k which was £45k below the profiled budget. 

Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.133% compared to the benchmark average 3-month SONIA rate 

of 0.087%. 

Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an estimated average rate of 3.542%. 

The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 1.74%. 

Borrowing 

The Council has £15.449m of external PWLB borrowing as per the table below. 

 

Entity Amount (£) Start Date Maturity Date Rate 

Public Works Loan Board 10,000,000 10/12/2018 10/12/2068 2.54% 

Public Works Loan Board   4,000,000 13/12/2018 13/12/2068 2.42% 

Public Works Loan Board 
 

  1,449,000 27/03/2019 27/03/2069 2.18% 

TOTAL 15,449,000   2.475% 

Average 

 

Interest costs for 2021/22 on this borrowing are £382,388. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 196



APPENDIX A 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 

PWLB borrowing rates have risen in March in line with the Bank of England Base rate rise to 0.75% on 17th March. 

There was a fall in PWLB rates in the days leading up to Financial Year End and as at 31st March 2022 the 50 year 

PWLB certainty rate was 2.05%. The PWLB increase since December 2021 reflects the inflationary pressures in the 

economy due to the Ukraine war, utility price increases and wage growth pressure. The temporary fall in PWLB rates 

w/c 28th March most likely relates to Year End and funding needs as at 31st March. 

 

Summary 

Interest rates rose but remained historically low during March 2022.  The Bank of England Base Rate rose from 
0.50% to 0.75% in March. Market expectations are for further rate hikes during 2022/23 and at the time of writing 
this report it had already increased to 1.25%. With the economy growing post pandemic, focus for the MPC will 
firmly be on tackling inflationary pressures. Retail Prices Index inflation was at 7% at the end of the financial year and 
at the time of writing this report had increased to 11.7% for May 22 with the added pressure on utilities and grain 
from the war in Ukraine.  
 
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 1.20% for one-month 
deposits through to 2.75% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have risen sharply, reflecting the Base rate 
rise to 1.25% and the market sentiment that rates will continue to rise to fight inflation. 
 
PWLB borrowing rates have risen during March. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, have risen due to 
inflationary concerns. The energy/oil price rises combined with the wage growth pressure in the UK economy are 
having a large impact on inflation indexes. The PWLB Rates dropped at the end of March but these have 
subsequently increased in the first quarter of the 2022/23 financial year and currently stands at 3.37% for a 50 year 
maturity loan. 
 
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues 
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial 
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of 
action to be taken. 
 

Page 197



APPENDIX A 
Section 2.5 – Insurance 

2021/22 Claims Statistics 

Table 8 details the number of formal insurance claims for Quarter 4 of 2021/22 (figures in brackets are comparable 

figures for 2020/21). 

 

Table 8 – Insurance Claims 

 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

Public Liability 0(1) 1(1) 1(2) 2(0) 4(4) 

Employers Liability 0(1) 0(0) 1(0) 1(0) 2(1) 

Motor 1(1) 2(1) 2(2) 5(1) 10(5) 

Property 0(0) 0(0) 0(1) 0(0) 0(1) 

Officers Indemnity 0(0) 0(0) 0(2) 0(1) 0(3) 

Total 1(3) 3(2) 4(7) 8(2) 16(14) 

 

Insurance Reserves 

The Council maintains an insurance reserve for smaller value insurance claims where the losses are below the 

principal deductible of £25,000.   

At the end of 2021/22 the balance on the reserve was £260k, and this balance is monitored on a regular basis to 

ensure that the value of the reserve is sufficient to meet future liabilities. 

 

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection 

An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 31 March 2022 is show in Table 9. 

Table 9 – Sundry Debt Analysis 

0-30 days 
 

£ 

31-60 days 
 

£ 

61-90 days 
 

£ 

91-120 
days 

 
£ 

121-183 
days 

£ 

184-365 
days 

£ 

Over 365 
days 

£ 

Total 
 

£ 

279,518 68,596 19,808 13,093 86,712 95,195 210,234 773,156 

 

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£656,138) that are not yet due 

 

Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates 

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) 

Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous 

year, allowing for national up-ratings.  This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda 

to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of 

pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.  

Quarter 4 collection rate remains lower than pre-covid.  The Council Tax Support caseload is now lower than pre-

covid levels. There remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact on collection and recovery as a result of 

covid.  In recognition, we continue to remain prudent in setting the bad debt provision in this area. 

Page 198



APPENDIX A 
Council Tax – Quarter 4 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £38m with a collection rate of 94.01% achieved at 31 March 2022 (94.23% at 

31 March 2021). 

 

Business Rates 

Table 10 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention 

 

Base Estimate 
included in 

2021/22 budget 
£ 

Forecast position 
at 31 March 2022 

 
£ 

(Surplus)/Deficit 
in 2021/22 – will 

impact next year’s 
budget 

£ 

Non Domestic rating income for the year (20,507,213) (16,080,480) 4,426,733 

Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22) 2,050,721 1,608,048 (442,673) 

Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22) 10,253,607 8,040,240 (2,213,367) 

Boston Borough Council’s income (excluding 
renewables) (40% for 21/22) 

(8,202,885) (6,432,192) 1,770,693 

 

The position in Table 10 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount 

offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount is reimbursed 

by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received in 2021/22 

but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this £1.8m of 

additional income was received in 2021/22 and this has been transferred into reserves at the end of the financial 

year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due to a reduction 

in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored. 

 

Business Rates Appeals 

Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list. 

As at 31 March 2022 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple appeals 

for the same property) was £2.1m, relating to 8 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 94% of this value 

comes from just 1 property and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit should 

these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision (£1.660m) is 

considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals. 

Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £17.3m with a collection rate of 94.08% achieved at 31 March 2022 (95.82% at 

31 March 2021).  Due to the continued application of some COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the 

collectable debit remains lower than usual.  This makes comparison to pre-covid collection rates less meaningful. 

 

The Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) scheme will provide rate relief support against 2021/22 financial year for 

businesses impacted by covid but who have not been supported through other relief schemes.  This relief will be 

awarded in June 2022. 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 201

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	1 Review of the Members Allowance Scheme
	Appendix A - Report of the IRP

	2 Audit & Governance Committee Minutes
	A&G Minutes - 28 March 2022

	3 Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policies
	APPENDIX 1

	4 Partnership Performance
	5 Outturn 2021/22
	Appendix A - Outturn Report 2021-22

	7 Dispensation for Non-Attendance



